ESS System and Procedure Manual: Employer Reference Manual

2023

Table of Contents

ACCESSING THE EMPLOYER SELF SERVICE (ESS) PORTAL	5
MFA – MULTI FACTOR AUTHENTICATION	8
What do I do if my verification code does not work?	11
REQUESTING TO BE A PSERS EMPLOYER REPORTING SYSTEM USER	11
Forgot Username	13
Reset Password	16
PAGES ON ESS AND WHAT INFORMATION IS FOUND ON EACH PAGE	19
HOME PAGE	19
Help Center Action Button	20
USERS Profile Action button	21
HOME Page Shortcuts	22
Types of Reports Available and What Information is Available on the Report	23
How to Generate a Report	27
NEWS and ALERTS	
Employer Info Page	30
Adding a Contact to Employer Reporting System Access on Employer Info Page	32
Contact Role Descriptions	32
Editing/Stop dating a Contact with Employer Reporting System Access	
Method #1	
Method #2	
Deleting Access for Employer Reporting System Users (ESS or Voya Sponsor Web)	41
ESS Registration for New Contact	41
DOCUMENTS PAGE	44
ROSTER PAGE	45
WORK REPORTS PAGE	46
Columns Displayed on the Work Reports Page	47
Work Report Details Tab	48
Work Report Summary Tab	48
Import Files Page	50
The Transaction Page	53
Transaction Page column descriptions	53
How determine what is due to PSERS to	55
Interest for Late Contributions	56
How to determine where a payment was applied from the Transaction Page	57
Targeting a Payment on PNC Cash Con using the Transaction Page	60
How to Export the Transaction Page	61
Forms and Reports Page	63
MEMBER DEMOGRAPHIC AND CONTRACT DESCRIPTIONS AND INFORMATION	64
Member Demographic Information	64

Demographic Information Change Request (PSRS-1870)	65
WHAT ARE MEMBER CONTRACT RECORDS?	
Determining Membership Class and Rate/ Is an Employee Already a Qualified PSERS	
Member	
Member Contract Information Field Descriptions	70
Work Status Descriptions	75
Purchasable Work Status codes for Non-Contributing Leaves	79
Non-Purchasable Work Status codes for Non-Contributing Leaves	79
Work Status Quick Reference Table	79
What if an Employee is Working Multiple Positions for the same Employer	81
What if Employee Works Multiple Part-Time Positions but NO Full-Time Position	82
How are Member Demographic Information and Contract Records Sent to PSERS?	83
Manual New Hire Instructions	84
View/Edit Demographic Information	
When to Edit a Member Contract Record	92
When to Change/Add a Member Contract for an Employee	93
Correcting an Error in a Member Contract Record	94
Examples of When Employee Contract Records Should be Added and Existing Contro	acts
Changed	94
View/Edit Existing Member Contract Record	96
Manually Add New Member Contract	97
IMPORTING/UPLOADING A FILE	100
How to Import/Upload Any Type of File	100
The Import Summary box displays:	105
The Import Details box displays:	105
HEADER ROW ERROR CORRECTION	109
FILE ERROR CORRECTION	111
Row-by-Row File Error Correction	111
Filtered Error Correction	114
Validating and Processing a File	116
Can I continue working on my file later?	120
PSERS MONTHLY WORK REPORT (DB)	121
How are Work Reports Submitted to PSERS?	122
Creating a Manual Work Report:	122
Deleting an Unsubmitted Report	129
Adding Comments to a Work Report	130
Work Report Record Fields	131
UPLOADING A WORK REPORT FILE	134
Exporting a Work Report	135
WORK HISTORY ADJUSTMENTS	136
When to Submit a Work History Adjustment	137
How Are Work History Adjustments Submitted to PSERS?	137
Create Manual Work History Adjustment	138

Exporting a Work History Adjustment Report	148
Work History Adjustment Record Fields	148
Uploading an Adjustment File	155
Releasing the information to the Employees' PSERS Record	156
Examples of Work History Adjustments	156
Salary/Contributions Not Reported	156
Incorrect Salary/Contributions Previously Reported	158
Incorrect Service Time was Previously Reported When the Salary was Reported in Base	Э,
URCC, SUP, or OT Field	158
Incorrect Service Time was Previously Reported When the Salary was Reported in WNC	C Field
	159
Incorrect Member Purchase of Service Installments	159
Arbitration and Court Decision Adjustments/Payments	160
Retroactive Salary Increases Due to Late Collective Bargaining Unit Contract Settleme	ent. 161
Back Pay Award-without a court award	161
Suspension Settlement Agreement	162
Reporting Administrative Leave Making Employee Whole after Settlement Agreement	ł
approved as RCC	162
Adjustments Prior to Fiscal Years 2004-2005	164
EMITTING PAYMENTS TO PSERS	165
Due Dates	166
Employer Contributions	166
Employer Contribution Due Dates:	167
Employer Purchase of Service (POS)/LumpSum payments and due dates:	168
Member (Employee) Contributions:	168
Member (Employee) Contributions Due Dates:	169
Member (Employee) Purchase of Service (POS) Installments and due dates	169
METHOD OF REMITTANCE	170
What If Payments Are Not Received by PSERS	170
Payment Designation Methods	171
Employer Share Income Aid Ratio & Reimbursements – Act 29 of 1994	172
Income Aid Ratio	172
Subsidy Distribution	172
VHAT DO THE ERRORS/WARNINGS MESSAGES MEAN?	173
	173
	173
	177
ILE FORMATS FOR IMPORTED FILES	194
MEMBER DEMOGRAPHIC RECORDS SPECIFICATION	195
MEMBER DEMOGRAPHIC RECORD FILE HEADER RECORD	196
Member Demographic Record	197
	199
Header Record Validations	200

Detail Record Validations	
V3 ERROR PROCESSING - ERROR/WARNING/SUCCESSFUL PROCESSING LOGIC	
Format for Contract Record Files – Specification	
Contract Record File Header Record	
RECORD ROWS IN THE MEMBER CONTRACT INFORMATION FILE	
CONTRACT RECORD FILE DETAIL	
FILE VALIDATIONS	
CONTRACT RECORD FILE VALIDATION RULES	
V3 ERROR PROCESSING - ERROR/WARNING/SUCCESSFUL PROCESSING LOGIC	217
SUCCESSFUL PROCESSING	217
	218
WORK REPORT FORMAT	218
EMPLOYER WORK REPORT HEADER RECORD	
RECORD ROWS IN THE WORK REPORT FILE	
Work Report Detail Record	
V3 CONTRIBUTION PROCESSING LOGIC	
WORK HISTORY ADJUSTMENTS	228
EMPLOYER WORK HISTORY ADJUSTMENT HEADER RECORD	
Record Rows in the Work History Adjustment File	
WORK REPORT ADJUSTMENT DETAIL RECORD	231
ERROR/WARNING/SUCCESSFUL PROCESSING LOGIC	
Field Level Validations:	



Accessing the Employer Self Service (ESS) Portal

The Employer Self Service (ESS) system is the online reporting system used to enroll employees, update contract records and to submit work reporting to PSERS for every PSERS eligible employee. Membership classes T-G and T-H and the DC membership class have the DC contributions reported to a Third-Party Administrator. The third-party administrator reporting is not explained in this procedure manual. The third-party administrators reporting manual may be found on the Employers section of PSERS public Web.

The Employer Self Service (ESS) is also where important account transaction information can be found, employer reports can be generated, and PSERS documents to you are stored. To access ESS, navigate to www.psers.pa.gov in your web browser. Please keep browsers up to date.

- Desktop Versions of Google Chrome, Microsoft Edge and Mozilla Firefox, and Apple Safari released in the period spanning fourteen (14) months prior to the then present date through two (2) months prior to the then present date.
- Mobile Versions of Google Chrome, and Apple Safari released in the period spanning fourteen (14) months prior to the then present date through two (2) months prior to the then present date.

From the PSERS website shown below, select "**EMPLOYER LOGIN**" located within the gray banner, which will take you directly to the ESS log in screen.



Or click the "**EMPLOYERS**" tab on the website, located on the far right, then select "**EMPLOYER SELF SERVICE**" from the dropdown menu. Once on the Employer Self-Service page, scroll to the bottom where the Terms and Conditions are shown. To reach the ESS login screen, you must click <u>ACCEPT</u>.



Below is the ESS log in page:



Enter **Username** provided by PSERS and your **Password** to log in to the homepage. If you are a new user and do not have Employer Self-Service (ESS) access, see Setting Up Your Online Usernames and Passwords for more information.

MFA – Multi Factor Authentication

Multi-Factor Authentication (MFA) is one of the most effective ways to prevent security threats and protect sensitive data. MFA is an authentication method where a user is granted access only after successfully presenting two or more pieces of information (factors).

MFA is required when a user logs into ESS for the first time. MFA is also required when a user changes their password, uses a new device for accessing ESS, was unsuccessful on their last log in, or has selected "**Always**" as the MFA option. ESS users are required to update their ESS password every 120 days but may update-their password more frequently.

Users are prompted to choose a method for receiving the verification code to complete the MFA transaction. All verification information such as your email address and phone number are pulled from the contact information currently on file in the employer contact section. If information in your contact record is incorrect or outdated the verification code will not reach you.

Employers are responsible for maintaining employer contact information. Any change in staff, phone number or email address should be entered immediately by the employer to avoid MFA errors and lack of access to ESS.

*NOTE: It is recommended employers use email to receive their verification code. If you are electing to use Voice phone message for your verification code, the number must be a direct line because MFA will not work with main numbers using extensions.

Below is the screen where users may select how to receive the verification code. After selecting the verification method, click "**Next**".

1	2
Choose Delivery Method	Enter Verification Code
In order to protect access to your account, we requ send you. How would you like to receive your code? Delivery Method	ire you to enter a verification code that we will ?
○ Text - +*-(***)-***-3627	

The verification code is sent giving the user 15-minutes to enter the code on the next screen.

If receiving the verification code by email, it will look like this:



Once the code has been received, move your cursor to the gray line under Verification Code and enter the code. Click "**Confirm.**"

If a different verification method is preferred while on this screen, click **Cancel** and restart the login process. If time has expired on the verification code or it was never received click **Resend Code.** Employers will also want to ensure the email address **no_reply_psers_security@ pa.gov** has been whitelisted so it is able to be delivered through employer's security or firewall.

		2
	Choose Delivery Method	Enter Verification Code
Verification Code	e	

New users will be able to elect MFA Preferences for entering the ESS portal during the account set up process. Users may select "**Always**" or "**Only when needed**" as recommended by using the dropdown menu.

ccount Setup			
\bigcirc	2	3	4
Identification	Security Setup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Registration Successful
ll fields are required. The passwo	rd is case sensitive.		
 Password must have a minim Password must have a maxin Password must have a minim The password should not corr 	um of 8 characters num of 255 characters ium of 1 numeric characters ium of 1 no alphanumeric ium of 1 capital letters ium of 1 lower case letters itain a continuous string of	s characters four characters from the first name	e, last name, or username.
ame ESTUSER3, LYNN			
sername TESTUSER3			
nter your new password *			ø
lease confirm your password *			ø
Multi-Factor Authentication Preferences			
Debuurbee en ded			Ŧ
Dhiy when needed			

Current users may select their MFA preference by clicking on their profile page button on the top right-hand side of the banner.



Click on the **Update Multi-Factor Authentication** and select new method of delivery.



What do I do if my verification code does not work?

Time Limit expires: If you do not enter the code within the 15-minute time limit, a pop-up message will appear stating that your verification code has expired. Click "**Resend Code**" to receive a new code.

Verification code is not received: If you cannot retrieve your code, it is not received, or if the code expires, click "**Resend Code**" to send a new code via the selected verification method. The 15-minute countdown restarts when this new code is sent.

- Check your spam/junk email folder in case verification code got stuck there.
- Verifying that your phone number or email address is correct.
- Your main office number may have an extension MFA outreach does not handle extensions.

System will not accept verification code: The verification code is looking for a 6-digit number. If you receive your verification code by text or email and double-click on it to copy and paste, an extra space is sometimes also brought forward. If the system seems to be rejecting your verification code, look to see if there is an extra space behind the last number.

Requesting to be a PSERS Employer Reporting System User

Work reporting is done through different systems, depending on the membership classes assigned to your employees. The PSERS ESS System is where demographic and contract record changes are made, in addition to reporting the defined benefit component. (AKA DB Work Reports). For members who are part of Classes TG, TH, and DC, work reporting is also submitted to the DC Plan Third Party Administrator for their defined contribution component. Generally, most users will need access to both reporting systems.

To gain access to either or both systems, you must complete a PSERS Employer Reporting System User (PSRS-1270) form and submit it to PSERS. The form can be found under the Employer Forms tab on the PSERS public website.

Please checkmark the boxes for the system(s) (PSERS--ESS system &/or Voya--Sponsor Web access is being requested. Your employer code and email address must be clearly written or typed on the form. Two live signatures are required, one for the staff member requesting access and one for the supervisor approving the request for access. Electronic signatures will not be accepted. This form can be located on the PSERS website, under the Employer tab, under Forms.

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania - Public	School Employees' Retirement System	1		1270
5 N 5th Street			NH4	Mail Center
Hamsburg PA 17101-1905 Toll-free: 1.888.773.7748	PSERS Employer Re	porting	3 CE	
www.paers.pa.gov	Systems Liser Ac	0000	DEEDE	
Fax: 717.772.3860	Systems User Act	655	PSERS	
PSRS-1270 (07/2019)			Ф88-	
Use this form to register as a Service	PSERS Employer Reporting (ESS) Reporting System and	Systems Use Voya's Spon	r for the PSERS Er sor Web.	nployer Self-
Ferms and Conditions of Use: PSERS ESS Reporting System and Voya Reporting Systems User. A registered P	's Sponsor Web are to be accessed by SERS Employer Reporting Systems Us	authorized user	s only, who are registered	as a PSERS Employer
 Use the resource for PSERS busine 	ass only.			
 Comply with controls established by 	PSERS and applicable law.			
 Prevent unauthorized disclosure of 	sensitive information.			
 Comply with all information security PSERS' website on the Employer S 	and access policies of the Commonwe leff-Service page under the Employer to	aith of Pennsylva ab.	mia and PSERS. Such p	olicies can be found on
All Commonwealth systems and usage as your user account and any other remedy the faisification of any record or records of	e monitored for security purposes. Vio that may be provided by law. Any indu if PSERS in an attempt to defraud PSE	ations of PSERS idual who knowin RS commits a mi	5' security policy will result gly makes a faise staten sdemeanor. 24 Pa.C.S.	t in the termination of tent or falsifies or permits § 8534(a).
instructions: To assign or remove a user's access to P	SERS ESS Reporting System and/or V	loya's Sponsor W	leb, check the appropriat	boxes below.
PSERS Create ESS Repo	orting System Access	Del	ete ESS Reporting S	stem Access
Voya Create Sponsor	Web Access #5	Del	ete Sponsor Web Ac	:ess #5
99	ERS Employer Reporting System	ns Liser Recue	eting Access	
Employer Name	Encloser Number	Lies	call and Name	
umpoyu name	chipoja realiza	0.00		
Administrator's Employer Mailing Addres	6	Use	r's First Name	
		Use	r's Email Address	
		Use	r's Phone	
By registering as a PSERS Employer above when using PSERS ESS Reports by any registered user is deemed an ac	User Certifi Reporting Systems User, I acknowle g System and/or Voya's Sponsor Web. ceptance and acknowledgment of the i	cation dge and agree to Use of PSERS & above Terms and	comply with the Terms a ISS Reporting System an Conditions of Use.	nd Conditions of Use listed dior Voya's Sponsor Web
PSERS Employer Reporting Systems Us	er Requesting Access Signature	Date	8	
	Employ C	feation		
The individual signing below certifies t identified above is authorized to act or the user requesting access to PSERS	Employer Certi hat thay are currently employed with behalf al the employer with respect ESS Reporting System and/or Voya "Signature not required fo	n the Business O to employer repo 's Sponsor Web r access deletion	flee by the employer list arting to PSERS, and th is correct to the best of th	ed above, that the user at information listed for eir knowledge and belief.
Name		Title	/Position	
Approving Signature		Dat	9	
00000 C	11 A			B
PSERS Employer Reporting Systems	User Access			Page 1 of

PSERS Employer Reporting Systems User Access (PSRS-1270)

The PSERS Employer Reporting Systems User Access (PSRS-1270) form must be returned to PSERS within one month of the employer entering the contact and the contact accepting a role requiring reporting access. Timely submission enables new reporting staff to begin submitting PSERS reports as soon as possible.

Once processed, the new contact person will receive an email containing Username as shown below:

PSERS Employer Self Service Registration Tue 11...

Welcome to the PSERS Employer Self Service application. In order to complete registration,

Welcome to the PSERS Employer Self Service application. In order to complete registration, you will be required to enter both your User ID and Username. If you are an Employer Administrator, you will receive your User ID in the mail within 3-5 business days. Otherwise, the Administrator that created your account will provide you with your User ID.
Your Username for your Employer Self Service (ESS) account is: LTESTUSER1.
Please use the link below to create a password for your account and complete the registration process by Oct 21, 2021.
<u>Click Here</u>
Note: You have 30 days to complete the registration process. The link for registration will expire after 11:59 p.m. on Oct 21, 2021.
Please contact your Employer Service Center representative if you have any questions.
Thank you.
Public School Employees' Retirement System
Employer Service Center 5 N 5º Street | Harrisburg, PA 17101-1905
Toll-free: 1.866.353.1844
Email: <u>ContactESC@pa.gov</u>
www.psers.pa.gov

A letter - via U.S. mail - containing your PSERS ID will be sent to the address on file in the Contacts of the Employer Information Page.

Click on the "**Click Here**" link in the email and follow the wizard to create a password and complete the initial log in process. Further New Registration information is available on the PSERS Public Web in the Employer Self Service tab. For step-by-step instructions see ESS New Contact Registration found later in this manual.

ESS passwords must be reset every 120 days. Each time users change their password MFA will be required.

PSERS recommends each employer has at least two or more system users with access to both systems for business continuity in the event the primary staff member suddenly becomes unavailable.

Forgot Username

When a user forgets their Username, the user should click the "Forgot User" link on the Login Page.

PSEI	RS Q
Username	
ltestuser1	
Password	
Password	Ø
Password	0
Password Sign In	Ø

Clicking the link will begin the Forgot Username process. There are four screens within this process. After entering either user email address or phone if it is a direct dial phone number Click "**Next**"

🚔 PSERS		
Account Lookup		
1	2	
Account Lookup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Done
Email/Phone Number *		
Cancel		Next

In the second screen select the delivery method for a verification code and click "Next"

A PSERS		
Account Lookup		
Ø	2	3
Account Lookup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Done
Choose delivery method to receive	a verification code	
In order to protect access to your a you. How would you like to receive	ccount, we require you to enter a verific your code?	ation code that we will send
Delivery Method *		
O Text - (***)-***-3627		
O Voice - (***)-***-3627		
Email - LW*****@PA.GOV		
Cancel		Previous

Upon receipt of the verification code, click on the grey line that says Verification Code and enter the 6- digit code you received. Click "**Next**"

芦 PSERS
Account Lookup
2 3
Account Lookup Multi-Factor Authentication Done
Choose delivery method to receive a verification code
In order to protect access to your account, we require you to enter a verification code that we will send you. How would you like to receive your code?
Delivery Method * O Text - (***)-***-3627
O Voice - (***)-***-3627
Email - LW****@PA.GOV
Enter Code
A verification code has been sent to the selected delivery method. This code will be valid for 15 minutes. Please enter the code below.
Verification Code *
Resend Code
Cancel Previous Next

Username will show on the next screen. Click "Log In"

A PSERS			
Account Lookup			
Ø	.	3	
Account Lookup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Done	
Your username is: LTESTUSER1.			
Please use your username to log in	n.		
			Log In

Reset Password

When an employer forgets their password, the user should click the "**Reset Password**" link on the Login Page. Clicking the link will begin the password reset process. There are four screens within this process.

	PSE	RS	
Username			
ltestuser1	1		
Password			
			0
	Sign	In	
	Forgot Username	Reset Password	

In the Account Lookup screen, the user enters their ESS Username and clicks "**Next**". If the Username exists, the process continues to the next screen.

APSERS				
Password Reset				
		1		
	Acco	unt Lookup		
Username *				
Cancel				Next

User selects delivery method of a verification code. If voice phone is selected it must be a direct dial phone or MFA will not work. Click "**Next**"

PSERS			
Password Reset			
•	2	3	
Account Lookup	Verification	New Password	Success
Choose delivery method to receive	a verification code		
In order to protect access to your a to receive your code?	ccount, we require you to en	ter a verification code that we will	send you. How would you like
Delivery Method *			
Email - LW*****@PA.GOV			
O Voice - (***)-***-3627			
O Text - (***)-***-3627			
Cancel			Previ us Next

Enter verification code on the grey line of the window and click "Next"

Enter Code	
A verification code has been sent to the selected delivery met below.	hod. This code will be valid for 15 minutes. Please enter the code
Verification Code *	
219959	
Re	esend Code
Cancel	Previc s Next

Create and verify new password based on the criteria provided. Click "NEXT"

🗯 PSERS			
Password Reset			
⊘		3	
Account Lookup	Verification	New Password	Success
 Password must have a minim The password should not con Password cannot be set to an 	um of 8 characters um of 1 numeric characters um of 1 non alphanumeric cl um of 1 capital letters um of 1 lower case letters tain a continuous string of fo y of the previous 24 passwor	naracters ur characters from the first name ds	e, last name, or username.
Password*			Ø
Confirm Password*			0
Cancel			Previous

The Complete screen indicates that the user has successfully finished resetting their password. The user can then click "**Complete**" to return to the Login Page or can simply wait to be returned to that page.

🙇 PSERS				
Password Reset				
Ø		⊘		
Account Lookup	Verification	New Password	Success	
You have successfully reset your password! Click the "Complete" button to go to the Login page.				
			Complete	

For security an email will be sent to the email address on file in ESS contacts box .



Pages on ESS and what Information is found on Each Page

The Employer Self Service system has 10 different pages identified on the side menu. Each Page is used for different functions of PSERS Reports.

HOME Page

ESS HOME Page provides employers with Important Account information and shortcuts to preforming reporting functions and research.

The Reporting Unit Number for the district is found in the Upper Right Corner of the HOME Page.



PSERS	1001 – ABC School	LYNN 🛛 🐡 💔 🗃
A Home	Your ESC Representative: Tapin-Only, Daniel	
🏦 Employer Info		
Documents	STRATIONS	News
Rester	Generatize & Reboard > Run an Employer SetService report	System Mansenance > 05/19/2022 PSERS Mamber and Employer Self-Service Ponels are semporantly unevailable each Thursday
Import Files	Employee: Reference Manual > This manual privides information and instructions on submitting necessary reports to PSERS	starting at 6 p.m. until 10 p.m. for scheduled system maintenance. Thank you for your patience.
Transactions	\$ DNC_Cash_Concentrations > Use Cash_Concentration to PSEts	
FAQs	PSERS External Linking Policy > External Linking Policy and Dischemer	Alerts
Context Us	GASELLINES > Employer GASE 58 & 75 Ends to Information	Delinquent Work Report - One or more Work Reports overdue
	Youe Employer Self Service Portal > Report Seary and Defined Constitutions to Waye for Cass T/G and T/# members and Cass DC participants	Previous monthly Work Report has not been approved
	Wh 9 Forms > PSRS DE and DC Pan Wu8 Forms	

Under the Reporting Number a new Monthly Reporter can find the name of their ESC Representative. The district ESC Representative is the primary contact for the district. The ESC Representative will be able to answer reporting questions or direct the employer to the appropriate area.

In the Upper left side of the Title bar is the name of the ESS User, The Help Center action Button, the user's profile settings and the Log Out action button.

PSERS	1001 – ABC School	LYNN O M B
A Home	Your ESC Representative: Taple Onto, Daniel	
🏦 Employer Info		1225
Documents	Shortcuts	News
Roster	Generate a Regist > Regist = Arrows (at Section areas)	Suttern Maintenance > 05/19/202
Work Reports	unu au pulha/ar seu-seura uhau	PSERS Member and Employer Self-Service Portals are temporarily unevaliable each Thursday starting at 6 a.m. until 10 a.m. for achedulari waters manuscrame. Thank you for an action
himport Files	 Emotioner: Reference Manual > This manual provides information and instructions on submitting necessary reports to PSERS. 	
Transactions	\$ Disc Cash Concentration > Use Each Concentration to make a payment to P2015	
FAQs	DSERS Ensemal Linking Policy > Dominal Linking Policy and Declaimer	Alerts
Contact Us	■ GASE Links > Employer GASE 44 & 75 Links to Information	Delinquent Work Report - One or more Work Reports overdue
	Yous Employer Set Service Portal ➤ Report Seary and Derived Contributions to Yoye for Cass T-G and T-# members and Cass DC participients	Previous monthly Work Report has not been approved
	WHA Forms > PODS DB and DC Pan W/8 Forms	

Help Center Action Button

The ESS Help Center Action button may be clicked to assist employers in finding answers to common reporting or ESS system questions.

	LYNN 0 LS E		Help Center	>
			← Back to articles search	
on Ava	<u>ilable</u> > 06/23/	2023	What is the order that files should be processed? Member Demographic and Contract Record changes must be loaded prior to submitting the PSERS monthly Work Report. Demographic and Contract Record files may be processed	
ate H	select an article below or search:	-	multiple times in a month. A PSERS (DB) Work Report can only be submitted once a month.	
elf-S em r	Q Search Help Center)21	When are Work Reports Due? Work reports should be uploaded via ESS by the 10th of each	
1	ESS Documents		for the prior month's activity.	
	ESS Import Files		How do I know if rows dropped off my report?	
	ESS Import Files & Work Report - Error Messages		After an uploaded file is processed, any row that displays "Processed with Errors" dropped off the report and was not	
-	ESS Roster	-	processed and the information was not sent to PSERS. The information in these rows will need to be entered manually	
	ESS Work Reports		through an adjustment or on the next monthly work report.	
			Can I process an adjustment the same day as a work report? If there is a pending report either work report or adjustment that includes a member. even if they have been deleted from	

USERS Profile Action button

Using the Profile Action Button, employers may choose to update their password at any time of their choosing. For example, you are asked to update your payroll system password, you can also update the ESS password at the same time. The profile action button also allows employers to elect how often they are sent a Multi Factor

Authentication Code. It is

User Profile Update Pa	Password Update Multi-Factor Authentication	
Usemane LSWEIGARD User Fall Name SWEIGARD, LYNN Benal Insulations/@the amr	P Aditwas 8 20 65.4 Event Name Application Login Device Crome 115 on Windows 10, Computer	
Cybersecurity Best Practices	Update Multi-Factor Authentication ×	
Protect your PSERS Employer Self-Service (ESS) Account Keep in mind that cybercriminals can create email addresses and websites that look legitimate. Scammers can fake legitimate messages. If something doesn't look right, be cautious - don't fail for a potential scam.	Multi-Factor Authentication ws 10, Computer Image: Comparison of the states his, United States	
 Avoid pop-ups, unknown emails, and links Beware of phishing. Phishers try to tricky ou into clicking on a link that may contain viruses or malware or may direct account being compromised. That's why it's important to be cautious of links and attachments in emails from sender information in response to an email, pop-up webpage, or any other form of communication you didn't initiate. Phish information in response to an email, pop-up webpage, or any other form of communication you didn't initiate. Phish 	Always require	
2. Use strong password protection for your PSERS ESS account Strong, complex passwords can help stop cyberthieves from accessing your information. One of the best and easiest passphrases. A passphrase is a sequence of words or other text and is similar to a password in usage, but it is gener memorable and secure, use the letters from a phrase/song, add digits, and use upper and lower case letters (ex. I low	ve Pans In The Spring - IL2p1T54). They are more secure	
as they do not contain actual words, making it more difficult for hackers to guess them. Passphrases should be at lea capital and lowercase letters.	ass: 10 characters and include numbers, symbols, and 8.20.65.4 Event Name Applications (and	

recommended employers select "Only when needed."

21

The User Profile also provides Cyber Security best practice information and a log in history for the user.

HOME Page Shortcuts

From the HOME Page employers may Generate reports, navigate to this Manual - The Employer Reference Manual, PNC Cash Con, PSERS External Linking Policy, GASB Links, VOYA's Employer Service Portal, and W-9 forms.

PSERS	1001 – ABC School	LYNN O U B			
A Home	Your ESC Representative: Taylor Onz, Danial				
 Employer Info Documents 	Shortcuts	News			
Roster Work Reports	Generate a Record > Run an Employer SetService report	System Maintenance > 05/19/2021 PSERS Mamber and Employer Self-Service Portals are temporantly unavailable each Thursday			
A Import Files	Emolose: Reference Manual > This manual provides information and instructions on submitting necessary reports to PSERS	starting at 6 p.m. until 10 p.m. for acheduled system memorance. There you for your patience,			
Transactions Forms and Report	S Disc Cash Concernation > Disc Cash Concernation to make a payment to P2015				
😻 FAQs	BSERS Example Linking Policy > Drammel Linking Policy and Dackerner	Alerts			
Contact Us	GASELLING > Employee GASE 66 & 75 Links to Information	Delinquent Work Report - One or more Work Reports overdue			
	Yous Employer Set Service Portal > Report Seary and Derived Contributions to Yoye for Casts TLG and TL# members and Casts DC participants	Previous monthly Work Report has not been approved			
	Yeb Forms PSERS DB and DC Pain W/8 Forms				

Employers may generate one of six different reports from the Generate a Report Shortcut. Below is a list of the reports, what available information is provided on each report and a screenshot of the CSV version of the report.

A Home	Your ESC Representative: RIDDLE, RACHAEL	Scheduling a Report	×
Employer Info Documents Roster	Forms	Report Report	
Work Reports Work Reports Transactions Forms and Reports Reports Reports	Agroved Leave of Absence - Employer Verification > Authorization Agreement for Restricted (ACH) Debits > Charter School Employer Information > Demographic Information Change Results > Weread Employer Salary and Service Adjustment >	Please select a report from the following list: ESS - Employer POS NQ Refund Report ESS Employer summary report ESS Employer total service credit report Employer Notification CROQ Report Complete the termination of the termination of the termination of the termination of termination o	
E Contact Us	PSERS Employer Security Administrator Authorization > PSERS Retirees Returning to Service > Ouestionnaire to determine the apolicant's eligibility for PSER Return to Service Template Letter > Service Adjustments (For Years 1977-2004) > Service Adjustments (PRIOR TO Pr 1977) >	Open and Past Due Member Transactions	
		Cancel	Next

Types of Reports Available and What Information is Available on the Report

1- ESS- Employer POS NQ Refund Report: This report identifies all purchase of service for past and present employees that has been approved by PSERS and district part time employees who had member contributions reported to PSERS for a Fiscal Year but did not reach membership qualification for the Fiscal Year. PSERS has refunded these members and the employer for the Fiscal Year. The report may only be run for dates provided in the drop-down menu.

Employers can view Member social security number, member's name, service begin date, service end date, salary reported for FY, member's effective date, member's enrollment date, service year of purchase, if member is existing or new, employer contributions rate applied, and MV/PI AR.

Employer PO	S and NQ Refund Report												
	EMP												
SSN	Name	Service From Date	Service To Date	Salary	Status Effective Date	Enrollment Date	Purchase Year	Exist or New	Contribution Rate	MV/PI AR	> AR or .5	Reimbursement	Transaction Type
123-45-6789	MOUSE, MICKEY	7/1/2016	6/30/2017	2393.22	7/28/2022	8/28/2006	2017	N	0.3003	0.7504	0.7504	539.3	POS
234-56-7890	MOUSE, MINNIE	7/1/2004	6/30/2005	15281.8	10/17/2022	9/1/2000	2005	N	0.0423	0.6671	0.6671	431.23	POS
345-67-8901	DUCK, DONALD	7/1/2004	6/30/2005	6749.98	9/16/2022	7/1/2004	2005	N	0.0423	0.6671	0.6671	190.47	POS
456-78-9012	DUCK, DAISEY	7/1/2004	6/30/2005	2030	8/20/2022	7/1/2004	2005	N	0.0423	0.6671	0.6671	57.28	POS
567-89-0123	POPPINS, MARY	7/1/2012	6/30/2013	812	6/7/2022	7/1/2012	2013	N	0.1236	0.6847	0.6847	68.72	POS
678-90-1234	LONGSTOCKINGS, P	7/1/2010	6/30/2011	10156.6	9/7/2022	9/1/2010	2011	N	0.0564	0.7172	0.7172	410.84	POS
789-01-2345	POOH, WINNIE	7/1/2009	6/30/2010	4698	6/23/2022	7/1/2009	2010	N	0.0478	0.7182	0.7182	161.28	POS
890-12-3456	ROBIN, CHRISTOPHER	7/1/2010	6/30/2011	5582.5	6/23/2022	7/1/2009	2011	N	0.0564	0.7172	0.7172	225.81	POS

2- Employer Summary Report: This report should be run once a quarter and compared to the employer's payroll system for the same time frame. The report includes all wages, service time and contributions reported to PSERS for the requested Fiscal Year up to and including any released work reports and adjustments completed by the district requesting the report.

Employers may view member Name, Social Security number, member wage type, hours of service, days of service, base wages, URCC wages, overtime wages, supplemental wages, Total of all salary, wages no contributions, contributions withheld, member savings amount due, employer share and employer premium share.

Employer Summary Report																						
	Emp	###		Em	ployer Name	SD				Fiscal Year :	2023											
																				Run Date :		7/31/2023
Member Name			SSN		Wage Type		Hours	Days	Base			URCC	от	SUPP	Total Salary	WNC	Contributions	POS	Mem Savings		EMP SH	EMP PA
MOUSE, MICKEY			123-45-6789		Salary		0	188	79,908.82			0	0	1,880.40	81,789.22	0	6,134.22	0	6,134.20		27,922.83	654.32
MOUSE, MINNIE			234-56-7890		Per Diem		0	42	9,280.18			0	0	301.28	9,581.46	0	598.85	0	598.84		3,271.12	76.66
DUCK, DONALD			345-67-8901		Salary		0	50	5,598.72			0	0	198.72	5,797.44	0	362.33	0	362.33		1,979.25	46.38
DUCK, DAISEY			456-78-9012		Salary		0	188	51,951.30			0	0	1,031.70	52,983.00	0	3,973.72	0	3,973.74		18,088.40	423.85
POPPINS, MARY			567-89-0123		Hourly		731	0	12,639.00			0	0	51.87	12,690.87	0	1,015.26	0	1,015.28		4,332.67	101.53
LONGSTOCKINGS, P			678-90-1234		Salary		0	188	46,802.67			0	0	3,332.68	50,135.35	0	4,010.84	0	4,010.81		17,116.23	401.1
POOH, WINNIE			789-01-2345		Salary		3	151	45,622.11			0	0	602.7	46,224.81	0	3,466.85	0	3,466.86		15,781.15	369.82
ROBIN, CHRISTOPHER			890-12-3456		Salary		0	185	53,595.89			0	0	0	53,595.89	0	4,019.73	0	4,019.69		18,297.66	428.77

NOTE: Employer share and employer premium share equal the total employer amount due.

3- ESS Employer Total Service Credit Report: This report shows a cumulative total of an employee's service from all employers. Any employee who was reported for service or wages within the Fiscal Year requested will appear on the Total Service Credit Report.

Employers may view the member's Social Security Number, Name, PSERS Credited Service YTD (based on a fiscal year), DC Eligibility Points (1 point per year of contributing), Member's DOB, member's current work status (see below), Member's enrollment date, employee's membership class and if PSERS has a valid address on file for the member.

Employer To	tal Service	Credit Report													
Run Date :	7/31/2023		Employer Code		***		Employer Name :		SCRANTON S	D		Fiscal Year : 202	23		
SSN		Member Name		PSERS Credited Servic	e	DC Eligibility Points		Birth Date			Enrollment Date		Contribution Rate	Member	Valid Address
012-34-567	'8	TEST, HARRY		0.28		2		11/1/1979		Active	4/20/2022		6.25	TG	Y
123-54-678	9	POPPINS, MARY		10		0		7/14/1989		Terminated Vested	9/1/2011		10.8	TF	Y
234-56-783	90	MOUSE, MICKEY		0.27		1		3/2/1980		Terminated Non-Vested	9/27/2022		6.25	TG	Y
345-67-890)1	DONUT, DUNKIN		8.82		0		9/29/1988		Inactive	7/1/2011		8	TE	Y
456-78-901	2	MEAL, HAPPY		0		0		6/25/1964		Pending Qualification	3/14/2023		6.25	TG	Y
567-89-012	3	STREET, EASY		5.59		0		2/24/1960		Refunded	7/1/2016		10.8	TF	Y
678-90-123	4	LUCKY, LOUIE		21.49		0		1/6/1958		Retired	8/1/2001		7.5	TD	Y
789-01-234	5	OVERWORKED, JOE		26.09		0		6/18/1967		Active	8/1/1996		7.5	TD	Y
890-12-345	6	DUCK, DONALD		6		0		7/27/1972		Active	9/1/2016		8	TE	Y
890-12-345	6	DUCK, DONALD		6		0		7/27/1972		Active	9/1/2016		8	TE	Y

The status column will show the employee's current status for the FY requested on the report based on contract records.

ACTIVE: The employee currently has an open ACTIVE contract Record

INACTIVE: The employee is still employed by a PSERS eligible district but is currently not actively working. i.e., employee is on a leave of absence.

TERMINATED VESTED: The employee is no longer working for a PSERS eligible school but has enough time to Vest their pension. Vesting means they may freeze their pension and earn interest on their account until they reach normal retirement age for their membership class.

TERMINATED NON-VESTED: The employee is no longer working for a PSERS eligible school and does not currently have enough service to freeze their pension. Their account will not earn interest.

PENDING QUALIFICATION: The employee has not yet qualified for PSERS membership by reaching the 500 hour or 80-day threshold.

REFUNDED: The employee has refunded all of their member paid contributions and interest.

RETIRED: The employee has applied for or is actively receiving their retirement benefit.

NOTE: If an employee has more than one contract record open, they will have one row on the report for each open contract record.

4- Employer Notification CROQ report: This report shows members who have changed membership class, rate, or qualification. The report does not show all newly hired employees, only employees who have had a change to their membership.

Employers may view Social Security, member's name, date change is effective, new membership class, new DB contribution rate, New DC Contributions Rate, Voluntary After-Tax contribution rate (if elected or changed) and the reason the member is showing on this report.

SSN	Name	Updated On	Current Membership Class	DB Contribution Rate	DC Contribution Rate	Voluntary After Tax DC %	Reason For Change
123-45-6789	Cowardly Lion	01/4/2023	TD	7.5	0		Account Update
124-56-7891	Heartless Tinman	01/7/2023	TG	6.25	2.75		Member Qualified this fiscal
125-67-8912	Brainless Scarecrow	01/06/2023	TG	6.25	2.75		Membership Waived
126-78-9123	Dorothy of Kansas	01/06/2023	TG	6.25	2.75		Member Reported to DC Admin
127-89-1234	Wicked Witch	01/08/2023	TG	6.25	2.75	5.00	Change in After Tax Def%
128-91-2345	Toto the Dog	01/05/2023	тн	5.25	3		TH Election
129-12-4567	Glenda the Good Witch	01/06/2023	DC	0	7.5		DC Election

Employers should take the following action based on the Reason shown on the CROQ report.

Account Update - no action for employer

Member Qualified this Fiscal year – begin withholding both DB and DC contributions on the next payroll.

Membership Waived – Stop reporting member- PSERS will do adjustments to return employer and member contributions – employer will need to refund member contributions.

Member Reported to DC Admin – employer may begin to report DC contributions to VOYA on next payroll.

Change in After Tax def% - employer should begin to withhold after tax contributions – calculate percentage of Net check after contributions and all required withholdings have been taken.

TH Election – member has elected to move from TG to TH class – PSERS will do all adjustments and refund any excess member savings directly to member- employer should begin to withhold at the new class rate the next payroll.

DC Election – member elected to move from TG to TH class – PSERS will do all adjustments and refund any excess member savings directly to member – employer should begin to withhold at the DC class rate and report wages to PSERS with a zero DB percentage report new DC percentage to VOYA on the next payroll.

5 – Open and Past Due Employer Transactions: This report may be run on demand allowing employers to make payments for amounts due at any time during the month without waiting for the Statement of Account to be produced. The report will show all amounts due for Employer share. Adjustments that begin with "Cor" are adjustments the employer has requested PSERS complete on their behalf. There are two Employer Share funds: the Employer Share for Monthly reporting and the Employer POS fund. It is important employers direct payment to the correct Employer fund.

Open and Past [Due Emplo	yer Trans	sactions					
ABC School								
1002								
Generated on :	8/2/2023							
Posting Date		Trans #	Trans Type	Identifier	Status	Emp Due Date		Employer Cont.
1/15/2023		2605465	SCP Employer	PQB, Lump POS: SSN	Open	6/23/2023		\$537.78
2/24/2023		2619191	SCP Employer	Lump POS: SSN 123-45-	Open	6/23/2023		\$45.39
2/24/2023		2619344	WH Adj.	Cor Poppins 9777 (FY14-15)	Open	6/23/2023		\$1.29
3/7/2023		2622483	WH Adj.	Donald Duck Adjustment	Open	6/23/2023		\$63.47
3/7/2023		2622487	WH Adj.	Mouse BOC	Open	6/23/2023		\$399.55
3/8/2023		2622830	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-01	Open	6/23/2023		\$1,835,484.30
3/9/2023		2623115	WH Adj.	Billing Report 2/28/23	Open	6/23/2023		\$6,694.50
3/9/2023		2623117	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-02	Open	6/23/2023		\$1,880,246.39
3/10/2023		2623464	WH Adj.	Billing Report 3/10/223	Open	6/23/2023		\$423.17
7/21/2023		2639386	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-03	Open	6/23/2023		\$2,115.60
							Totals :	\$3,731,465.03
3/27/2023		2629959	SCP Employer	Lump POS: SSN 234-56-	Open	6/25/2023		\$522.08
							Totals :	\$522.08
3/28/2023		2630171	SCP Employer	Lump POS: SSN 345-67-	Open	6/26/2023		\$15.10
							Totals :	\$15.10

Employers may make targeted payments using the Transaction # column or may do a sort and direct payments to each fund with amounts due using "oldest Open Receivable."

From time to time the system may have a glitch in the posted due dates on the transaction page, it is important employers are aware of payment due dates and adhere to them. If an employer does not know or questions a due date posted in the system, please reach out to your ESC Representative for an explanation on due dates or download the current Planning Calendar from the PSERS Public Web.

The system assesses Interest charges automatically for all late payments.

6 – Open and Past Due Member Transactions: This report shows all member savings (employee contributions) that are due to PSERS. Notice on the below example there are credits for 1 cent due to rounding. The employer should be totaling these credits

and applying them to the next member savings fund payment. This will clear the credit amounts due and making reconciliation of accounts easier. Credits will carry until employer subtracts them from the next payment in the fund.

Open and Past Due M	ember Tra	nsactions				1		
ABC School						1		
1002						1		
Generated c 8/2/2023	3					1		
Posting Date	Trans #	Trans Type	Identifier	Status	Mbr Due Date	1	Member Savings	Mbr POS Installment
10/19/2021	2451753	WH Adj.	Cor Mouse 3872 FY11-17	Open	7/10/2011		(\$0.01)	\$0.00
						Totals :	(\$0.01)	\$0.00
1/12/2022	2482226	WH Adj.	Cor DUcki 7738 FY 12-17	Open	7/10/2012	1	(\$0.01)	\$0.00
3/9/2022	2499705	WH Adj.	Cor Poppins 9234 FY12-15	Open	7/10/2012	1	(\$624.25)	\$0.00
						Totals :	(\$1,800.26)	\$0.00
10/11/2021	2449451	WH Adj.	DONALD DUCK YR 2021	Open	7/10/2021	1	(\$64.97)	\$0.00
10/11/2021	2449454	WH Adj.	Mickey Mouse YR 2021	Open	7/10/2021	1	(\$32.25)	\$0.00
10/12/2021	2449688	WH Adj.	Mary Poppins YR 2021	Open	7/10/2021	1	(\$59.81)	\$0.00
						Totals :	(\$289.42)	\$0.00
12/1/2022	2590874	WH Adj.	Adjustment Rpt FY 2023	Open	1/10/2023		(\$97.50)	\$0.00
12/1/2022	2590875	WH Adj.	Adjustment Rpt FY 2023	Open	1/10/2023	1	(\$29.81)	\$0.00
						Totals :	(\$566.61)	\$0.00
6/20/2023	2636952	Estimated Work	Est WH Rpt 2023-05	Open	6/10/2023	i I	\$138,306.00	\$281.04
						Totals :	\$138,306.00	\$281.04
7/20/2023	2638701	Estimated Work	Est WH Rpt 2023-06	Open	7/10/2023		\$553,209.84	\$464.60
						Totals :	\$553,209.84	\$464.60

NOTE: In this example there are "Estimated Work" reports. This means the employer has not submitted their monthly work report on time and the system has generated a place holder for the work report. The estimated report will be reversed once reporting has been completed.

How to Generate a Report

Employers may generate one of the above reports from the shortcut on the HOME Page.



🔒 Home	Your ESC Representative: Tapia-Ortiz, Daniel						
 m Employer Info a Documents 	Forms	Filters	Reports			Run a Nev	w Report
2 Roster	Form Name	Image	Filter: Submitted Date (08/02/202:	2 to 🛞			
Work Reports	Approved Leave of Absence - Employer Verification >						Process Start
🛧 Import Files	Authorization Agreement for Restricted (ACH) Debits >		Previously-Run Reports	Status ≞↓	Image	Inserted Date	Date
Transactions	Charter School Employer Information >		Open and Past Due	Processed successfully		08/02/2023 08:28 AM	08/02/2023 08:31 AM
Forms and Reports	Demographic Information Change Request >			,			

Or by using the "Run a Report" action button on the Forms and Reports Page.

A window will open to select the desired report.

Scheduling a Report ×	Click "Next"
0 2 Decort Bacon desamater	Select Export Type "PDF" or "CSV"
Please select a report from the following list:	Select Schedule Type "One Time" or "Recurring"
ESS - Employer POS NQ Refund Report ESS Employer summary report ESS Employer total service credit report ESS Employer Notification CROQ Report	Scheduling a Report X
Open and Past Due Employer Transactions Open and Past Due Member Transactions	Report Report parameters
Cancel Next	Please enter the following details for this report request Notify me when the report is done Send a status notification to Isweigard@pa.gov Export Type PDF OCSV
A Fiscal Year must be entered when running. ESS Employer Summary or ESS Total Service Credit report. If a FY is not entered the report will not process and a new report may not be run unti	Schedule Type Image: One Time One Tim
the next day.	Cancel Previous Schedule

The Employer POS NQ Refund Report and the Employer Notification CROQ Report will have a Drop-down menu to select a date when the report was run by the system.

zati	You must er type.	nter the "Fiscal Year" belo	w if requested for this report
bilit	Run Date	11/20/2022 05/17/2022 11/18/2021	
		05/25/2021	
		11/22/2020	
		05/24/2020	
		11/24/2019	
		05/25/2019	
		11/25/2018	
		08/25/2018	
		11/19/2017	
		05/21/2017	After all selections have been made and Fiscal Year
		11/20/2016	
		05/22/2016	entered where require, select "Schedule."
		11/15/2015	
		05/12/2015	
		11/19/2014	
		05/22/2014	
		11/20/2013	
		05/16/2013	Dravious Schodulo
		11/16/2012	Previous Schedule
		05/22/2012	

A green acknowledgment will open advising the report has been scheduled.



On the Forms and Reports Page, in the Reports box all scheduled reports and their status will show. The system will default to a date range, the filter may be removed by clicking the "X" in the grey bubble.

Reports				Run a New Report Filters				
Filter: Submitted Date (08/02	2/2022	to 🛞						
Previously-Run Reports	1	Status 💷	Image	Inserted Date	Process Start Date			
<u>ESS - Employer POS NO</u> <u>Refund Report</u>	>	Not processed		08/02/2023 09:39 AM	08/02/2023 09:40 AM			
Open and Past Due Member Transactions	>	Processed successfully		08/02/2023 08:28 AM	08/02/2023 08:31 AM			
Open and Past Due Employer Transactions	>	Processed successfully		08/02/2023 08:28 AM	08/02/2023 08:29 AM			
<u>ESS - Employer POS NQ</u> <u>Refund Report</u>	>	Processed successfully		07/31/2023 01:32 PM	07/31/2023 01:33 PM			
ESS Employer total service credit report	>	Processed successfully		07/31/2023 01:31 PM	07/31/2023 01:33 PM			
<u>ESS Employer summary</u> <u>report</u>	>	Processed successfully		03/16/2023 09:08 AM	03/16/2023 09:09 AM			

Reports showing "Processed Successfully" may be opened and exported by clicking on the desired report Name in the Previously Run Reports Column.

NEWS and ALERTS

Periodically, PSERS may need to get a message to employers quickly. The News and Alerts boxes will be where these messages will be displayed for employers.

PSERS	1001 – ABC School	LYNN Ø Magicana
A Home	Your ESC Representative: Taylor-Orca, Daniel	
 Employer Info Documents 	Shortcuts	News
Roster	Generate a Report > Run ar Employer Set-Service report	System Maintenence > 05/19/2021 PSBS Mamber and Employer Self-Service Ponials are temporarily unsualable each Thursday
limport Files	Employer: Reference Manual > This manual provides information and instructions on submitting necessary reports to PSERS	starting at 6 p.m. until 10 p.m. for acheduled system meintenence. Therk you for your patience,
Transactions	\$ DIVEC Cash Concentration > Une Cash Concentration to make a payment to P1015	
FAQs	DSERS External Linking Policy > External Linking Policy and Doclarmar	Alerts
🛶 Contact Us	■ GASELLINS > Employer GASE 48 & 75 Links to Information	Delinquent Work Report - One or more Work Reports evendue
	Yous Employer Set Service Portal > Report Seary and Defined Controlucions to Voye for Cass T-G and T # members and Cass DC participants	Previous monthly Work Report Hax not been approved
	White Forms > PSRS DB and DC Pan W/0 Forms	

Employer Info Page

The Employer Information page contains four boxes: Employer information, Main Employer Address, Main Employer Contact and Contacts.

Employer Information provides the Employer's Name as listed with the Pennsylvania Department of Education, the Employer's Reporting Unit Number, and the Employer's status. This information may only be adjusted by PSERS.

Main Employer Address is the address filed with the Pennsylvania Department of Education and may only be changed by PSERS. Address changes must be on file with PDE before they will be updated in PSERS System. Correspondence addresses may be changed without PDE acknowledgement within Individual contacts in the Contacts Box.

Main Employer Contact is the person who should receive all PSERS correspondence for the district. This main contact will be responsible to disburse information to the appropriate staff in the district. The Main Contact information may only be changed by PSERS. As district staff changes, the district should request the main contact be updated by their ESC Representative. Contacts is a list of approved staff within the district who may communicate with PSERS or has ESS System Access. PSERS must verify a staff member is listed on the contacts page prior to giving district information over the phone or by email. It is the responsibility of the district to maintain the contact information and keep staff listed current.

Depicted below is the Employer Information Page. If you are not able to see the entire page display settings may be adjusted by clicking the three dot in the upper right corner.

A Employer Experience	ce - Employer X +				o – 0
< → C ●	pserspreprod2ess.v3locity.com/home/d	5831655-44fd-4111-9eda-8e1afc858f5f?institutio	n id=2155991		• Q 🕁 🗯 💶
PSERS	1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT				New tab C New window Ct
A Home	Your ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN				New Incognito window Ctrl+Shi
Employer Info	Employer Information				History Downloads (Bookmarks
Roster	Employer Name ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT	Emp # 1006	Employer Status Participating		Zoom - 67% +
Work Reports Import Files	Main Employer Address		Main Employer Contact Inform	ion	Print Co Cast
Transactions Forms and Reports	Residence 123 SCHOOL ST HARRISBURG, PA 17101		Work Phone US = (717) 555-4817		More tools Edit Cut Copy
FAQs			School Primary Email Address ABC@example.com		Settings Help
Contact Us	Contacts				Exit
	Name	Role	Start Date	Stop Date	Managed by your organization
	TESTUSER2. KATIE >	Monthly Reports	09/01/2021		KPAJTIS@PA.GOV
	TESTUSER1, LYNN >	Business Manager	09/01/2021		LWADLEY@PA.GOV
	SMITH, CHARLES TEST >	Healthcare	10/04/2021		
	SMITH, CHARLES TEST >	Member Demographics/Contracts	09/29/2021		Csmith@test.com
<					
					8:23 AM

If an employer desires more viewing space the side menu may be collapsed by clicking the arrow on the bottom of the side menu. To ensure that PSERS communicates with the correct staff members, employers are asked to keep all contact information current including email, address, phone, and "Role" in ESS.

Adding a Contact to Employer Reporting System Access on Employer Info Page

When adding a new contact to ESS an Employer must first determine what "**Role**" the staff member will be given in the ESS system. Every contact person must be assigned a "Role" and each "Role" may only be assigned to one staff member.

The Business Manager Role, the Monthly Reporting Role and the Superintendent Role must all have different individuals assigned. The assigned "Role" determines who receives certain email notifications from PSERS based on the documents generated. The Business Manage and Monthly Reporter will receive all email notifications from PSERS. A school district email must also be on file. Some schools designate a resource account, others select an individual to receives these notices. Resource accounts may not be used for MFA and therefore should not be listed as an individual's primary email address on the contact page.

Business Manager	The person managing the business office and reporting/payment
	operations. This should not be the same individual as Monthly
	Reporter or Monthly Reporter 2 or Superintendent
DC Payments	The person responsible for reviewing payments and reporting for/to the
	PSERS defined contribution plan's third-party administrator.
Employer Bulletin	The person who receive the employer bulletin with information pertaining to
	employer reporting.
Employer Statement of	The person who receives Employer Statement of Accounts (billings) from
Accounts	PSERS. This Employer Statement of Accounts shows the following activity:

Contact Role Descriptions

	 Member Savings Employer Share Member POS Payments Employer Share for POS Payments
HealthCare	employees
Information Technology	The person who can assist with IT troubleshooting
Monthly Reports	The person who submits monthly Work Reports to PSERS and/or DC plan. This should not be the same individual as Monthly reporter 2, Business Manager or Superintendent
Monthly Reports 2	The secondary person who submits work reports to PSERS and/or DC plan – This should NOT be the same individual as Monthly Reporter, Business Manager or Superintendent.
Member Demographics/Contracts	The person who enters Member Demographic Records and Member Contract Records for employees
Member Newsletter	The person who should receive a copy of all newsletters that PSERS sends to its members (your employees)
Purchase of Service (POS) Receivables	The person who coordinates the completion of forms and the payments of Purchase of Service for the members (employees) and employer
Retirements	The person who handles retirement application processing within your district or entity
Superintendents	 The individual who oversees the activities of the entire entity. This should not be the same individual as the Business Manager or Monthly Reporter For a school district, this is the District Superintendent For a charter school, this is the Director, Principal, Board Chairperson, or other relevant position. For a non-school entity, this is the CEO, President, or other relevant position

IMPORTANT: If a "Role" already has a staff member assigned, a <u>stop date</u> must be entered for the contact currently assigned a role before adding a new contact for that role.

EXAMPLE: Betty, a new staff person, will be taking the Monthly Reporting role. Sarah is currently listed as the Monthly Reporting contact. The Employer must update Sarah's contact information by entering a stop date <u>before</u> Betty may be entered as a new contact for this role.

A new contact may be added by selecting the "**Add Contact**" button in the upper right- hand corner of the Contacts box on the Employer Information Page.

Employer Si Participa	tatus ting			
Main	Employer Contact I	nformation		
Work Pho US • (ne 610) 370-8586			A
School Pr psers@	imary Email Address lexample.com			
				Add Contact
	Start Date	Stop Date	Email	

Search Window will open – type in name of new contact in search bar. The "SEARCH" button will appear, click "Search" once name has been entered.

dd Contact				×	
Select Contact Enter Search Text Q test Please enter the contact's n search for this person. After searching, you should If this person is alread If no matching results record. Search Options Person	Enter Contact Details Enter Contact Details ame in the "Enter Search Text do the following to continue: y one of your existing contact are returned (i.e., the person	Address Information f field and then press the s, select the existing record is not already an existing co	Contact Information Contact Information Search" button (or the [Enter I and then click "Next" to add ontact), then click "Add a New	Confirm Details	If the person entered is in your existing list of contacts, they will appear at the bottom of the window – you should not be adding a new contact.
Cancel				Next	

Review Update/Edit Contact who has Employer Reporting System Access (ESS or Voya Sponsor Web) in the next section of this manual for how to proceed.

If there are currently no ESS contacts with the name searched, a message will appear at the top of the window.

dd Contact					>
Information No search results foun	d.				
U			0	6	
Select Contact	Enter Contact Details	Address Information	Contact Information	Confirm Details	
Enter Search Text					
Q test				Searc	h
 After search for this person. After searching, you should If this person is alread If no matching results record. 	do the following to continu y one of your existing conta are returned (i.e., the perso	e: icts, select the existing reco in is not already an existing	rd and then click "Next" to a contact), then click "Add a N	dd a new role to that reco iew Contact" to add the ne	rd. w
Search Options					
FEISUII					

Use Scroll bar to find "Add a New Contact" button and click

p 1: Select Contact							_
Information							
 No search results found. 							
	Select Contact	Enter Contact Details	Address Information	Contact Information	Confirm Details		
inter Search Text							
0							
Yease enter the contact's nar o search for this person.	ne in the "Ente	r Search Text" fie	eld and then pres	s the "Search" b	utton (or the [Enter] k	ey on your keyboard)	
 Yease enter the contact's nar ro search for this person. After searching, you should d If this person is already If no matching results ar record. 	ne in the "Ente o the following one of your exi re returned (i.e.	r Search Text" fie to continue: sting contacts, se , the person is n	eld and then pres elect the existing ot already an exi	record and then sting contact), th	utton (or the [Enter] k click "Next" to add a en click "Add a New C	ey on your keyboard) new role to that record. iontact" to add the new	
 Yest Please enter the contact's nar to search for this person. After searching, you should d If this person is already If no matching results ar record. iearch Options 	me in the "Ente o the following one of your exi re returned (i.e.	r Search Text" fie to continue: sting contacts, se ., the person is n	eld and then pres elect the existing ot already an exi	is the "Search" by record and then sting contact), th	utton (or the [Enter] k click "Next" to add a en click "Add a New C	ey on your keyboard) new role to that record. iontact" to add the new	
 Yease enter the contact's nar to search for this person. After searching, you should d If this person is already If no matching results ar record. iearch Options Yerson 	me in the "Ente o the following one of your exi re returned (i.e.	r Search Text" fie to continue: sting contacts, se ., the person is n	eld and then pres elect the existing ot already an exi	record and then sting contact), the	utton (or the [Enter] k click "Next" to add a en click "Add a New C	ey on your keyboard) new role to that record. iontact" to add the new	
Enter all pertinent Contact information. Required fields which are designated by an asterisk. (*) – First Name, Last Name, Role, and Start Date are all required information.

Add Contact					×
Ø ——	0		0	6	A
Select Contact	Enter Contact Details	Address Information	Contact Information	Confirm Details	- 1
Please enter the Contact's	information.				- 1
Entity Type Individual - Person					- 1
First Name*					- 1
Middle Name					- 1
Last Name*					_
Gender					•
Role*					<u> </u>
Cancel				Previou	Next

Use Scroll bar if needed to enter all fields.

Click "Next" to continue through each page, until you are asked to confirm.

Add Contact				:	×
Ø ——		~	Ø	3	
Select Contact	Enter Contact Details	Address Information	Contact Information	Confirm Details	
First Name					
Harry					
Last Name					
Test					
Gender					
Male					
Addresses		Day Phone		·	
Residence		US • (71)	7) 555-1212	-	
CAMP HILL PA 17011					
Cancel				Previous	m

Using Scroll bars, review all entered information. Once all information has been entered and verified as correct hit "**Confirm**." The "**Previous**" or "**Cancel**" buttons may be selected to either revise the information submitted or cancel the addition of the new Contact's information.

Editing/Stop dating a Contact with Employer Reporting System Access

IMPORTANT: If a "Role" already has a staff member assigned, a <u>stop date</u> must be entered for the contact currently assigned a role before adding a new contact for that role.

If you are end dating a "Role" because the staff member no longer works for the district or has moved to a new position that does not require access to ESS, you are required to complete and submit a PSERS Employer Reporting Systems User Access (PSRS-1270) form to delete access.

On the form, please specify which system(s) access you are requesting to be deleted from the contact's access by checking the appropriate system box. The rest of the form should be completed, ensuring the correct staff member is being deleted from system access.

If there is a change regarding an existing contact, this information should be updated as soon as possible.

Updating or editing a contact may be done through two methods.

Method #1

Locate the individual's name on the list of Contacts on the Employer Information Page. Click on the contact's to be updated/edited name.

<u>MRTEST, JOE</u>	Monthly Reports 2	07/07/2023

Click the "Edit" button or the pencil for "Edit This Address" in the box where information needs to be changed.

Employer Info / Contact Info				
MRTEST, JOE				
Contact Details	Edit	Contact Info	Edit	Address
MRTEST, JOE		US • (717) 555-1212		Residence 123 ANY ST
Role Monthly Reports 2		Email		CAMP HILL, PA 17012
Start Date 07/07/2023		mitesugitestexample.com		Edit This Address
0110112023				
Edit Contact Details				
Prefix 👻				
First Name IOE				
-				
Middle Name				
Last Name				
MIRTEST				
C. Here	Contact D	Details Box allows th	ese fields	to be edited. Click "Save"
	when ohe	ngo is complete		
Role	when cho	ange is complete		
Monthly Reports 2 👻				
Start Date				
07/07/2023	Contract	nfe Pex allows the h	alow field	k to be adited Click "Save"
	Contact in			is to be ealled. Click Save
Stop Date	when cho	ange is complete.		
Cancel Save		Edit Contact Info		×
		Country Day	/ Phone	
		UNITED STATES 0 V (7)	7) 555 1212	Ext

UNITED STATES O 👻	(717) 555-1212	Ext		
Primary Phone 🕖				
Country				
UNITED STATES O V	Evening Phone	Ext		
Primary Phone				
Country				
UNITED STATES O 👻	Other Phone	Ext		
Primary Phone				
Fax		_		
Email				
mrtest@testexample.con	n			
			Cance	Save

Address Box allows the below fields to be edited. Click "Next" when change is complete to review and confirm.

Jpdate an Existing	Address			×
	1		-2	
Ente	er Details		Confirm	
Please fill in all the inf	formation and click "S	ave" to update	the address.	
Туре				
Residence				
Street*				
123 ANY ST				
Apt./Suite# Care Of				
Zip*	City		County	
17012	CAMP HILL		CUMBERLAND	*
State		Country*		
Pennsylvania	~	UNITED STA	TES OF AMERICA	*

Method #2

If you have performed a search and found there is a listing with your contact information already, you do not need to add a new contact, you can simply update the current contact information by following the steps below.

There will be no search message and your contact's name will appear below. Click on the radio button next to the contact.

Enter Search Te	xt			
Q mrte	est		8	Search
Please enter to search fo	r the contact's name in the "Ente r this person	er Search Text" field and then press the "Sea	irch" button (or the [Enter] key on your keyt	board)
After search	ing, you should do the following	; to continue:		
 If this p 	person is already one of your exi	isting contacts, select the existing record ar	d then click "Next" to add a new role to that	t record.
 If this ; If no m record 	person is already one of your exi natching results are returned (i.e	isting contacts, select the existing record ar ., the person is not already an existing cont	d then click "Next" to add a new role to that act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add t	t record. the new
 If this p If no m record 	person is already one of your exi atching results are returned (i.e l.	isting contacts, select the existing record ar ., the person is not already an existing cont	id then click "Next" to add a new role to tha act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add t	t record. the new
 If this p If no m record Search Options Person 	person is already one of your exi natching results are returned (i.e l.	isting contacts, select the existing record ar ., the person is not already an existing cont	id then click "Next" to add a new role to tha act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add t	t record. the new
 If this ; If no m record Search Options Person 	person is already one of your exi natching results are returned (i.e L	isting contacts, select the existing record ar , the person is not already an existing cont Alt Key Code	id then click "Next" to add a new role to that act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add i Name	t record. the new
If this p If no m record Search Options Person	person is already one of your exi natching results are returned (i.e L	isting contacts, select the existing record ar ., the person is not already an existing cont Alt Key Code	id then click "Next" to add a new role to that act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add i Name	t record. the new
If this p If no m record Search Options Person	person is already one of your exi natching results are returned (i.e L Type Person	isting contacts, select the existing record ar ., the person is not already an existing cont Alt Key Code 10091833	id then click "Next" to add a new role to that act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add i Name MRTEST, JOE	t record. the new
If this µ If no m record Search Options Person	person is already one of your exi natching results are returned (i.e Type Person	isting contacts, select the existing record ar ,, the person is not already an existing cont Alt Key Code 10091833 Add a New Contact	id then click "Next" to add a new role to that act), then click "Add a New Contact" to add i Name MRTEST, JOE	It record.

Select the "**Next**". Enter all pertinent Updated Contact information. Required fields which are designated by an asterisk. (*) – First Name, Last Name, Role, and Start Date are all required information. Enter Required fields which are designated by an asterisk. (*) Here you can add a Stop Date or new Role to update the contact.

-	-	-		-	
\checkmark	2	3		5	
Select Contact	Enter Contact Details	Address Information	Contact Information	Confirm Details	
irst Name* OE					
/iddle Name					
ast Name* /IRTEST					
iender Male					¥
ole*					_
tart Date*					
top Date					

Click "Next" continue through each page, verify information is still correct (It will be prepopulated) or make changes. Continue through each page by hitting "Next" until asked to confirm. Use the two Scroll bars to review all information before confirming your update.

dd Contact					×
•	o	Ø		6	*
Select Contact	Enter Contact Details	Address Information	Contact Information	Confirm Details	
First Name JOE					
Last Name MRTEST					
Gender					
Male					
Addresses		Day Phone			*
Residence 123 ANY ST		US • (717) 55	5-1212		
CAMP HILL, PA 17012 Cancel				Previous	Confirm

Once all information has been entered and verified as correct hit "**Confirm.**" The "**Previous**" or "**Cancel**" buttons may be selected to either revise the information submitted or cancel the update in the Contact's information.

Deleting Access for Employer Reporting System Users (ESS or Voya Sponsor Web)

Deleting access for a staff member who is leaving the district or no longer requires access is a two-step process.

When someone no longer works for an employer or no longer needs system access employers must:

1. End date the contact's "Role" in the contact box of the Employer Information Page as in the instructions above for updating a contact.

2. the Employer is then required to send in a *PSERS Employer Reporting Systems User* Access (PSRS-1270 form) to delete access. On the form, please specify which system(s) access you are requesting to be deleted from the contact's access by checking the appropriate system box. The rest of the form should be completed, ensuring the correct staff member is being deleted from system access.

ESS Registration for New Contact

Once PSERS has processed an employer's 1270 form for a new ESS contact, the member will receive an email in the email address provided. If staff has not received the email, check the spam folder, and make sure that PSERS email address have been whitelisted by the employer's IT department.

V3UAT-ALERT@pa.gov PSERS Employer Self Service Registration 12:48 PM Welcome to the PSERS Employer Self Service

The email contains a link staff will follow to complete the registration process. Click the link identified by "Click Here."



A window will open with fields to complete. The PSERS ID may be obtained from your ESC Representative or in a letter sent to the employer with the "Administrator ID" This is the same number needed in the PSERS ID field of the registration.

Account Setup				
1 Identification	2 Security Setup	3 Multi-Factor Authentication	4 Registration Successful	
Please provide the required inform PSERS ID* 10091833	nation below in order to ver	rify your identity.	-	_
Joe Last Name* Mirtest				_
Employer Code* 1200 Cancel			Net	xt

Click "Next" to create your password, confirm your password and elect the MFA preference. It is suggested to elect "only when needed" from the drop down. You will only be required to use MFA when you enter from a new device or change your password. Password change is required every 90 days.

	\checkmark	2	3	4
lder	ıtification	Security Setup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Registration Successful
All fields are req	uired. The password	l is case sensitive.		
Password	must have a minimu	m of 8 characters		
 Password r 	must have a minimu	m of 1 numeric character	s	
 Password r 	must have a minimu	m of 1 non alphanumeric	characters	
Password	must nave a minimu must have a minimu	m of 1 capital letters		
 The passw 	ord should not conta	ain a continuous string of	four characters from the first nam	e. last name, or username.
MRTEST, JOE				
Username JMRTEST				
Username JMRTEST Enter your new	password*			e
Username JMRTEST Enter your new Please confirm y	password*			
Username JMRTEST Enter your new Please confirm y Multi-Factor Authenti	password* 'our password* :ation Preferences			G

Click "Next" to continue through the registration.

Account Setup			
Ø		3	
Identification	Security Setup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Registration Successful
Choose delivery method to receive	e a verification code		
In order to protect access to your to receive your code?	account, we require you to e	enter a verification code that we w	ill send you. How would you like
Delivery Method			
Email - Is*****@pa.gov			
O Text - (***)-***-1212			
O Voice - (***)-***-1212			
Cancel			Previcus Next

Now select how to receive the MFA code. It is suggested employers use their personal employer provided email (not a resource account) for that reason email screenshots have been provided in this manual. If an employer is using a business phone for MFA code retrieval, it must be a direct line as MFA will not be able to dial an extension. If using a "text" MFA retrieval you will be sent a text like the below emails.



ATTENTION: This email message is from an external se	ender. Do not open links or attachments from unknown senders. To report suspicious email, use the Report Phishing button in Outlook.
_	The Public School Employees' Retirement System (PSERS) received your request for a verification code to access your Employer Self-Service (ESS) account.
	Your Verification Code is: 709574
	Enter this code in the ESS window. This code is only valid for the next 15 minutes.
	Didn't request this?
	We recommend that you sign into your ESS account and change your password under your profile.
	Sincerely,
	Public School Employees' Retirement System Employer Service Center Toll-free: 1.866.353.1844 Email: ContactESC@pa.gov www.psers.pa.gov

Enter the six-digit verification code provided or request the code be resent using another method in this new screen.

\checkmark	\checkmark	3	4
Identification	Security Setup	Multi-Factor Authentication	Registration Successful
Choose delivery method to receiv	e a verification code		
In order to protect access to your to receive your code?	account, we require you to	enter a verification code that we wi	ill send you. How would you lik
Delivery Method			
Email - Is******@pa.gov			
O Text - (***)-***-1212			
O Voice - (***)-***-1212			
Enter Code			
A verification code has been sent	to the selected delivery me	thod. This code will be valid for 15 r	ninutes. Please enter the code
Verification Code 709574			

Click "Next" to continue.

ccount Setup			
Identification	Security Setup	Multi-Factor Authentication	4 Registration Successful
ou have successfully registered f	for Employer Self-Service (ES	S). Click "Complete" to begin using	ESS.

After hitting complete you will be on the ESS Home Page.

DOCUMENTS Page

PSERS uses electronic delivery for most of their day-to-day correspondence with employers. Documents are created and sent to an employer's account where they are available for the employer to view, export and store. When documents are created and sent an email will be sent to the Business Manager and the Monthly Reporting contact listed in the contacts box of the Employer Information Page of ESS. Other topic specific documents may also have the staff member with the "Role" identified to the document sent an email.

The email sent simply states there is a new document for review, it does not give specific information included in the document.

It is important for employers to view their documents on a regular basis to ensure they are not missing any important PSERS updates or information. Click "Download" to download document, click on the Document Name to view document without downloading.

Filter are defaulted to Documents within the past six months. If searching for a document prior to that time the filter should be removed.

ter: Date (02/03/2023 to	08/02/2023) 💿			Search by	
tions	Document Name 🗄 🕮	Date = 1	Image Archived?	Q Name	
Download	Monthly Summary of Member Transactions >	08/01/2023 8:33:00 AM	(I)		
Download	Monthly Statement of Member Transaction Details >	08/01/2023 8:33:00 AM	Ĩ		Collaps
Download	Employer Notification CROQ >	07/24/2023 2:45:16 AM	(II)	Filter by	
Download	Request for an Employer Contract Record >	07/21/2023 7:55:31 PM	Ĩ	Date •	
Download	Monthly Statement of Employer Transaction Details >	07/10/2023 8:42:06 AM	(B)		
Download	Monthly Summary of Employer Transactions >	07/10/2023 8:41:45 AM	190 L	Last 90 Days	
Download	Monthly Summary of Member Transactions >	07/03/2023 2:24:39 PM	(B)	Last 6 Months	
Download	Monthly Statement of Member Transaction Details >	07/03/2023 2:23:51 PM	Ĩ	Last 12 Months	
Download	Employer Contract Record - Follow up >	05/24/2023 12:05:08 PM	(II)	Custom Dates	
Download	Request for an Employer Contract Record >	06/21/2023 8:03:04 PM	Ē		
Download	Employer Notification CROQ >	06/19/2023 2:50:53 AM	(B)	Archive Status	
Download	Employer Contract Record - Follow up >	06/12/2023 7:53:36 PM			
Download	Monthly Summary of Employer Transactions >	05/09/2023 1:15:47 PM	Ē	Active	
				Archived	
				All	

Other filters are available to make searching for a particular document easier. Click the Filter action button in the upper right of the screen. After filter or Sort is selected click "Apply"

Documents may also be sorted by name or date using the sort action button by column Title

Document Name 🗐	Da	te≞‡

Ascending Descending

Date • Ascending

ROSTER Page

The Roster Page is where employers can find information about an employee's membership in PSERS. To enter the Roster Page, you must enter an employee name or social in the search field or complete a Manual New Hire to add a new employee into PESRS system.

Your ESC Representative: Tapia-Ortiz, Daniel		
Your Employees		Manual New Hire 🕥
	Q Name or SSN	

For more information on the Roster Page and how to enter member demographic and Contract records see Member Demographic and Contract Descriptions and Information section later in this manual.

WORK REPORTS Page

The Work Reports Page will show all manual or uploaded Work Reports and Adjustments submitted to PSERS or waiting for processing. There is a default filter to limit the amount of data displayed. If an employer is searching for a report prior to the filtered date, the filter should be closed by clicking the "X" in the grey bubble.

Wor	k Reports (includi	ng Adjustments)				Manual Work Report	Manual Adju	stment Filters
Filter	Activity Date (08/02/202	2 to 08 🚫						
	Posting Date	Activity Date $= 1$	Trans # 🗐	Туре	Identifier		Status	Report Status
	<u>07/24/2023</u> >	07/24/2023	2639396	WH Adj.	Billing Report 7/24/2023		Open	Initial
	<u>07/21/2023</u> >	07/21/2023	2639391	WH Adj.	adjustment		Open	Released
	<u>07/21/2023</u> >	05/01/2023	2639390	WH Report	Billing Report 5/31/2023		Open	Initial
	<u>07/21/2023</u> >	04/01/2023	2639387	WH Report	Billing Report 4/30/2023		Open	Released
	<u>07/21/2023</u> >	03/01/2023	2639386	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-03		Open	Released
	<u>03/24/2023</u> >	03/24/2023	2629021	WH Adj.	Cor Vitris 0698		Open	Released
	<u>03/20/2023</u> >	03/20/2023	2627142	WH Adj.	Cor Batyko 3521 FY18-20		Open	Released
	<u>03/17/2023</u> >	03/17/2023	2626131	WH Adj.	Cor Castaldi 2470 FY22		Closed	Released
	<u>03/10/2023</u> >	03/10/2023	2623482	WH Adj.	Adjustment Rpt FY 2023		Open	Released
	<u>03/10/2023</u> >	03/10/2023	2623477	WH Adj.	Cor Mcdonald 3192 FY 14		Open	Released
	03/10/2023 >	03/10/2023	2623476	WH Adj.	Cor Mcdonald 3192 FY 14		Open	Pending
	<u>03/10/2023</u> >	03/10/2023	2623464	WH Adj.	Billing Report 3/10/223 CASALE February 20	23	Open	Released

Work Reports and Work History Adjustments have three different Report Status codes: Initial, Pending and Released.

Reports in "**Initial**" status have not yet been submitted for processing and may still have changes or edits completed. Reports in "**Pending**" status have been submitted for processing and may no longer have changes or edits made. Reports in "**Released**" status have been accepted by PSERS and may no longer be edited or deleted.

It is recommended Employers review the Work Reports Page after processing their uploaded Work Report to verify the report has been successfully released to PSERS. There are cases where an employer has processed a work report and then made changes to a member contract, this can bounce the report out of pending status and back into "initial" status where errors are now present. Work Reports and Work History Adjustments are released mid-day and overnight. Depending on when the employer submits their report, they should verify late afternoon or in the morning, the report is showing released on the Work Reports Page.

Columns Displayed on the Work Reports Page

Reports may be sorted by columns displaying the Sort action button. $^{\pm\downarrow}$

Posting Date: Displays the date a work report or adjustment was posted to PSERS system. **Activity Date**: Displays when a file was uploaded into the PSERS system or the last date of any activity on the report.

Trans #: Is the transaction number that will be used for the Transaction Page and Statements.

Type: Is this a work report (WH Report) or an adjustment (WH Adj.)

Identifier: Is the system provided name (Billing Report XXFY-M) or the description given when file was uploaded.

Status: This describes if there are additional funds due or to be credited to a report. An "**Open**" report has a debit or credit remaining. A "**Closed**" report has had all debits and credits satisfied. A report showing "**Hold**" has been placed on hold by Employer Accounting or due to a Court Award approval process.

Report Status: Describes what stage of processing the report is currently. "**Initial**" status means the report may be edited and has not been submitted to PSERS. It is important for employers to check any reports left in "initial" status and finalize reports so they do not interfere with other work reports that may contain the same members. "**Pending**" means the report may no longer be edited and has been sent to PSERS but is waiting for PSERS system to release the report. No contract changes for any employee on a report in "Pending" status should occur, this will cause the report to bounce out of processing and go back to "initial" status. "**Released**" means all information except for any rows with errors has been transmitted to PSERS.

To open a work report or adjustment from the Work Reports Page click on the Posting Date.



The Work Report has three tabs, Work Report Details, Work Report Summary and Work Report Transaction Details.

Work Report Details Tab

The report will open to Work Report Details where all rows reported will be displayed. For Work Report Column descriptions see *Import Details Box Displays* found earlier in this manual.

Work Reports / Work Report Details											
Work Repo	ort Details	Work Re	eport Summary	Work Report Trans	saction l	Details					
Work H	istory										
Errors 🗐	SSN ≞‡		Name 🗐			Wage ∃⊥ Type	FY ≞‡	Work Statu			
	XXX-XX-512	23 🗿	BERESNIEWICZ	, TEST		Salaried	2023	ACTIVE			
	XXX-XX-011	22 🔿	CLAZE TECT			Coloniad	2022	ACTIVE			

Work Report Summary Tab

The Work History Summary has two boxes, Work History Summary and Financial Summary.

A Home	Work Reports / Work Report Summary					Comment
🚺 Employer Info						
Documents	more Report Details More Report Summary	Work Report Transaction Details				
E Roster	Work History Summary		Financial Summary			
Work Reports						
🗅 Import files	Report Status Pending	Tetal Due \$2,490,60	Fund	Due Calculated	Amount Paid	Amount Owed
Transactions	Trans# 2630386	Date Reliesed	Mem Saving	\$375.00	\$0.00	\$375.00
Forms and Reports	Ming type Contribution	Torix Soluti Open	Mem POS	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.0
TAQN	0.000 Received 07/21/2023	Report Source Employer	Emp Share	\$2,070.60	\$0.00	\$2,070.67
Contact Us	transfed By		Emp Frem	\$45.00	\$0.00	\$45.0
	Last Spillated By	Let Updated Date 07/21/2023 12:00:00 AM	Total in current view	\$2,490.60	\$0.00	\$2,490.60
	This report has been submitted and can	t be edited.	Total of all records	\$2,490.60	\$0.00	\$2,490.60
			1-4-45	H	C Pass 1	af2 > >1

Work History Summary displays pertinent upload information including the current report status and Total due for combined member and Employer Share contributions. Financial Summary displays a breakdown of contributions due any credits that may be applied to the transaction from previous overpayments or adjustments creating a credit balance. This screen will separate all Fund types and may have more than one page. Use the page arrows to scroll through all pages of the summary. If the totals on this page do not agree with employer's payroll totals, the employer should review and reconcile reporting. Possibly a credit was applied as described above.

Work Report Transaction Details Tab

The Work Report Transaction Details Tab is broken into two boxes, Transaction Information and Transaction Details.



Transaction Information: provides identifying information for the transaction. Including when Member and Employer amounts are due, the transaction number which may be used to target payments on PNC Cash Con and the reports status of "Open", "Closed" or "Hold."

Transaction Details: Displays the financial data for a report. The first line will show the original amounts due for all released rows to PSERS. (Rows with errors will not be included in amounts due as they were not submitted to PSERS) The following rows will show any credits applied to the report from previous transactions. If the employer is not expecting a credit, it is important to review and determine why a credit was applied to the report.

Import Files Page

The Import Files Page is where employers will upload all files from their payroll system or from a manual template the produces a file for upload. **This page is NOT where an employer should check to see if PSERS has received the file!** This page will hold all imported files.

♠ Home	Your ESC Rep	presentative: NOLLAU, CATHE	ERINE							
🏛 Employer Info										
Documents	Import Hi	port History Export Import List								
Roster	Filter: Import	Start Date (02/04/2023 🛞								
Work Reports		Provident of	the destruction	December 51 and		1	B	D	C. La Maria I. D.	
	U	Description	Header Status	Process Hag	Import Start Date = 1	Import Type	Rows imported	Rows Processed	Submitted By	
Import Files	<u>574692</u> >	R000120 6/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	07/06/2023 12:26:50 PM	Work Report	239	227	TECK	
Transactions	<u>574691</u> >	C000120 6/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	07/06/2023 12:21:03 PM	Contract Import	5	1	TECK	
Corms and Penorts	<u>574689</u> >	D000120 6/2023	Processed Successfully	Completed	07/06/2023 12:15:09 PM	Member Demographic Import	5	4	TECK	
	<u>572994</u> >	R000120 5/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	06/09/2023 8:09:21 AM	Work Report	241	237	TECK	
FAQs	<u>572992</u> >	C000120 5/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	06/09/2023 8:03:22 AM	Contract Import	7	2	ТЕСК	
💐 Contact Us	<u>572990</u> >	D000120 5/2023	Processed Successfully	Completed	06/09/2023 7:59:50 AM	Member Demographic Import	6	5	TECK	
	<u>570894</u> >	R000120 4/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	05/10/2023 7:22:00 AM	Work Report	234	228	ТЕСК	
	<u>570893</u> >	C000120 4/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	05/10/2023 7:18:05 AM	Contract Import	4	0	TECK	
	<u>570891</u> >	D000120 4/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	05/10/2023 7:14:06 AM	Member Demographic Import	4	2	TECK	
	<u>568691</u> >	R000120 3/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	04/10/2023 10:01:14 AM	Work Report	240	233	TECK	
	<u>568688</u> >	C000120 3/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	04/10/2023 9:54:50 AM	Contract Import	7	4	TECK	
	<u>568684</u> >	D000120 MARCH 2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	04/10/2023 9:41:19 AM	Member Demographic Import	11	9	TECK	
	<u>566417</u> >	R000120 2/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	03/09/2023 9:22:41 AM	Work Report	235	227	TECK	
	<u>566416</u> >	C000120 2/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	03/09/2023 9:18:14 AM	Contract Import	6	3	TECK	
	<u>566414</u> >	D000120 20/2023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	03/09/2023 9:07:49 AM	Member Demographic Import	8	5	TECK	
	1 - 15 of 18	3					K	< Page 1	of 2 > >I	

The Import Files Page has a default filter applied and should be removed if employers are looking for a file not included within the filter date range. The filter may be removed by clicking the "X" in the grey bubble.

This page will provide a quick reference for where an imported file stands in the processing/validation of the file. Each column will provide valuable information.

Below are the columns on the Imports Page. Employers may identify reports and review uploaded information by **description**, **import start date**, **import type or submitted by**

columns. Files may be sorted by columns displaying the sort action button. $^{\pm\downarrow}$.

Import ID - This will identify the exact file should an employer want to discus the file with their ESC Representative or other staff members.

Description – The name given to the file when uploaded to the system, if an employer does not create a new name, it will default to a system created name. **Header Status** – This column describes the status of the header row it is important to verify there are no errors in your header row or the file will not check for errors or be sent to PSERS. Validated Successfully – File has not been processed and still may be edited. The header row has no Errors.

Validated with Errors – File has not been processed and still may be edited. The header row needs to be corrected. See Header Row Error Correction later in this manual for how to correct errors.

Processed with Errors – File has been submitted to PSERS and may no longer be edited. The header row was submitted with errors, this file did not make it to PSERS and must be reloaded and the header row error corrected. None of the rows were validated on this file. A new time stamp date must be used to avoid duplicate file error. See *Header Row Error Correction* later in this manual for how to correct errors.

Processed Successfully - File has been submitted to PSERS and may no longer be edited. There were no errors on the header row, so file records validated successfully.

Voided – This file has been deleted.

Process Flag – This column tells the employer if the file has been processed and if so, was it successful?

Validated – File has been successfully validated. The employer will want to verify all records are valid to ensure no error exist on file before processing file. Records with errors will not be submitted to PSERS and will require an adjustment to report the dropped information. It is recommended employers check the accuracy of any record with an exception prior to processing the file to avoid corrections later.

Completed – File has been processed successfully. This file may contain exceptions which will be sent to PSERS, but it does not have any error records. It is recommended employers check the accuracy of any record with an exception prior to processing the file to avoid corrections later.

Processed with Errors – File has been submitted to PSERS but not all records were sent to PSERS. Rows showing as an error will need to be resubmitted to PSERS in an adjustment.

Import Start Date: Provides the date and time of the initial file upload. Import Type: Provides the file type, member demographic, contract, work report or adjustment.

Rows Imported: States the number of rows on the uploaded file, this number will be all the employees on the report plus one for the header row.

Rows Processed: States the number of valid rows on the file. If this number does not match the Rows Imported less one, the employer should review the file to make sure all the intended reporting has been submitted. If not, a new file or work history adjustment will need to be completed. Submitted by: States the staff member who uploaded the file.

If a "Processed with Errors" appears in the Process Flag Column, The employer will want to review the errors and determine if additional reporting needs to occur to make sure all information for the month is reported.

To open a file upload to review the file on the Import Files Page, click on the Import ID.



Once opened, details for the uploaded report appear in two boxes. The **Import Summary** box gives the ID, Import Header Status, Rows Imported, Invalid Rows, Valid Rows, Rows Deleted and Rows Added and the file description. For column descriptions see How to Import /Upload Any Type File later in this manual.

Import Summary								T Filters
ld 497241	Import Header Status Validated with Errors	Rows Imported 16	Invalid Rows 5	Valid Rows 10	Rows Deleted	Rows Added	Description R001006	

NOTE: Invalid Rows should be ZERO before processing a file. The above example requires error correction before submitting for processing because it shows 5 invalid rows.

The **Import Details** box shows a row-by-row description of the uploaded file including if there are "Errors/Warnings" on a row. If the file has been processed these rows are no longer available for corrections and will require an adjustment of new file. If the file is validated errors should be corrected before submitting the report. For more information on error correction see How to Import/Upload Any Type File- Error Correction later in this Manual

The Transaction Page

The Transaction Page is the resource for Employers in reconciliation of reporting. *It is the Employer's responsibility to reconcile* all transactions including the employer's payroll system, the Transactions Page and payments made to PSERS. Reports should be reconciled each month to avoid any late payments or interest charges that may occur.

Examine records to determine if contributions withheld from employees shown on payroll report match member savings amount due for work report submitted. Match base wages, URCC, OT, and Supplemental totals from payroll system and released work report from the **Work Reports Page.** If theses totals do not match the employer should investigate why. Contact your ESC Representative if you need additional assistance.

Verify the correct rate and on all retirement covered compensation paid to all district employees was entered on the work report correctly. If the employer withheld more contributions than were due, the employer should return any excess contributions withheld to the employee(s). If the total contributions due PSERS (member savings) amount is more than what was withheld the employer is required to pay the correct amount of member contributions and recoup any difference from the affected employee(s).

If wage columns on the released work report do not match employer's payroll system, wages may have under-reported or missed for one or more employees, or one or more employees dropped from the processed work report. In either case, a Work Report Adjustment must be submitted to correct the error(s).

Transaction Page column descriptions

The transaction page is used for all financial information and is updated in real time. Each payment, report or adjustment will change an employer's transaction page and the total amount due for each fund. Before making payments, an employer should understand how to read the transaction page to ensure proper payment is made to PSERS. Training is available through your ESC Representative.

Posting Date: The date a transaction was received and posted to an employer's account. Employers may use this date to locate the statement of amount due in documents.

Activity Date: The date a transaction was entered into the system. For file uploads this is the date the employer uploaded the file into ESS.

Transaction Number: This is a system generated number that identifies a particular transaction. This number may be used to target payments in PNC Cash Con. **Type:** Will be one of the following:

WH Report – work report submitted monthly by employer due date the 20th of each month or the last business day prior to the 20th of the month.

WH Adj. – an adjustment submitted by either the employer or PSERS to correct member reporting. Adjustments completed by PSERS Bureau of Benefit Administration will begin with Cor followed by member's last name, last four of the social and the FY(s) Example: Cor Test 1234 FY22

POS Employer Contribution – This transaction may be created when a part time employee qualifies within a FY. Any wages and contributions that were reported as WNC will now require both the member and the employer to purchase service back to the beginning of the FY. This transaction may also be created when an existing or previous employee applies to purchase service from a previous unqualified time frame of employment.

DC Payment -This transaction type is the partial employer share payment made when an employer reports members from class TG, TH and DC to Voya. Employers are required to pay a partial employer share payment immediately so funds may be invested immediately on behalf of participants. That partial payment is then credited to the Employer Share amount due.

Balance Adjustment – Interest charged to an employer's account. **Payment:** An ACH payment made through PNC Cash Con.

Estimated Work Report: A place holder for when an employer has not submitted their monthly work report by the due date of the 20th. This report will auto generate on the next day and use the work report from the previous year plus 5%. Once the regular monthly work report is submitted successfully the Estimated Work Report will reverse out of the transaction Page.

Identifier: The description given to a Work Report, Adjustment, or payment by the employer when uploading a file or by the system when a transaction is generated. Status: Shows if a transaction has a debit or credit remaining. The Transaction page has a default filter of "Open" that must be removed to see closed transactions. There are three statuses.

Open – The transaction has a debit or credit remaining.

Closed – The transaction has been paid in full or the credit has been 100% applied to other open transactions.

Hold – When an employer reports late or makes payments past the due date, employer accounting will place a hold on the transaction until subsidy is reconciled. When an adjustment is entered using the "**CAWARD**" reason code it is placed on hold until the adjustment has been reviewed by ESC. **Member Due Date:** The date member savings is due to PSERS. All member contributions are due to PSERS by the 10th of the month or the last business day prior to the 10th of the month. This includes all work reports and adjustments entered by the employer or PSERS.

Employer Due Date: The date employer share contributions are due to PSERS. All employer contributions are due to PSERS 5 days after subsidy payments are received for the previous quarter. This includes all work reports and adjustments entered by the employer or PSERS.

Employer Contributions: The current amount of employer share contributions due to PSERS. To see any activity or partial payments the employer must open the transaction by clicking the posting date.

Member Savings Contributions: The current amount of member savings contributions due to PSERS. To see any activity or partial payments the employer must open the transaction by clicking the posting date.

Member POS Installment: The current amount of member purchase of service payments withheld from employee's wages and due to PSERS. To see any activity or partial payments the employer must open the transaction by clicking the posting date.

How determine what is due to PSERS to

The system will automatically default to only the open transactions as seen by the grey bubble notifying employers a filter is in place. To view open and closed transactions, click the "x" to remove the default filter.

Your ES	C Representative	: Pajtis, Kathleen							
Αςςοι	Int								
Filter: S	tatus (Open) 🛞								
	Posting Date	Activity E1 Date							
07/24/2023 > 07/21/2023									

With this filter in place an employer can easily determine what is due on any day by totaling the fund group. PSERS has four funds: **Member Savings Contributions, Member POS, Employer Share,** and **Employer POS.** When making payments it is essential to

make the payment to the correct fund. See screenshot from PNC Cash Con Instructions found on PSERS public web - https://www.psers.pa.gov/Employers/Pages/PNC.aspx



NOTE: The Employer Contributions Column does not separate the Employer POS contributions from the Employer Share, **the employer must add all Employer POS transactions and make those payments in the correct fund Group on PNC Cash Con** to avoid having those transaction left unpaid and a credit in the Employer Share fund.

From time to time the system may have a glitch in the posted due dates on the transaction page, it is important employers are aware of payment due dates and adhere to them. If an employer does not know or questions a due date posted in the system, please reach out to your ESC Representative for an explanation on due dates or download the current Planning Calendar from the PSERS Public Web.

The system assesses Interest charges automatically for all late payments.

For more information on making payments to PSERS see *Payments- Remitting to PSERS* later in this manual.

Interest for Late Contributions

PSERS may charge interest for the time between original due date and when contribution payment is received by PSERS. It is important employers submit payment for member savings (contributions) and all reporting by the required due dates. PSERS provides an annual Planning Calendar for employers on the PSERS Public Web in the Employer Tab.

How to determine where a payment was applied from the Transaction Page

From the Transaction Page search for payment in question by posting or activity date. If the payment has been closed, the default filter of "open" will need to be closed to view all transactions. Close the filter by clicking the "x" in the grey bubble.

Employer Info	_											
Documents	Account										Export Transaction List	- c
Ruster	frac	Devalori ()										
I Nok Reports		Date 0	Date 1	Trans 1	тури 💷	identifier	Status	Mbr Due 🔄 Date	Emp Due Date	Employer Cont.	Member Savings Contributions	Member POS Installment
Transactions Forms and Reports	0	03/17/2023 >	61/14/2023	2663315	DC Payment	DC Pres 07/14/2023 for 07/14/2023 Payroll	Open			(\$1,857.42)	\$0.00	\$0.00
F#Q5		07/12/2023 >	06/01/2023	2662695	WH Report	Biting Rpt 2023-06	Open	07/10/2025	09/25/20/28	\$367,765,89	\$0.00	\$0.00
Contact US		07:10/2023 >	07/10/2028	2651459	Payment	Dep. Date 07/10/2028	Open	07/10/2028		\$0.00	(\$421.80)	\$0.00
		06/22/2023 >	06/22/2023	2655751	POS Employer Contribution	Lump POS 55N 203 52-	Open	09-20-2023	09/25/2023	\$64.25	90.00	\$0.00
		05:05:2123 >	05/01/2023	2640018	WH Report	8 king Rpt 2123-05	Open	06/10/2023	09/25/2023	\$241,722,07	\$0.00	\$0.00
	0	04/25/2023 >	04/01/2023	2038912	We Report	8 ming Rpt 2023-04	Open	05/10/2023	09/25/2023	\$231,825,49	s0.00	\$0.00
		03/23/2023 >	05/01/2023	2121454	WH Report	6 King Ppt 2023-03	Open	0410/2025	06/23/2023	\$1.60	\$2.00	\$0.00
	Tota	of all records								\$540,444,89	(HOLAD)	\$2.00

Transactions may also be located by applying different filters. Clicking the Filter Action Button located in the upper right corner.

☆ Home	Your ESC Represent	ative: WADLEY, LY	NN							_]
n Employer Info	Account								Export Tran	sac on List	rs 🕜	
Documents Roster	Show Fund Groups	Show Fund Details										-
Work Reports	Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Due Date	Employer Cont.	Member Savings	Mbr POS Inst	allment	
🚯 Import Files	<u>12/29/2021</u> >	12/29/2021	2477030	WH Adj.	Cor Disciullo 6808 FY17-FY19	Open	07/10/2017	\$260.71	\$0.00		\$0.00	
Transactions	<u>12/27/2021</u> >	12/27/2021	2476692	WH Adj.	WH Adj Corr 6567	Open	07/10/2012	\$671.45	\$212.25		\$0.00	
Forms and Reports	<u>12/20/2021</u> >	12/20/2021	2474759	Payment	Dep. Date 12/20/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
FAQs Contact Us	<u>12/20/2021</u> >	12/20/2021	2474758	Payment	Dep. Date 12/20/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
	<u>12/16/2021</u> >	12/16/2021	2472981	WH Adj.	WH Adj Corr 6567	Closed	07/10/2012	\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
	<u>12/13/2021</u> >	12/13/2021	2471803	Payment	Dep. Date 12/13/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
	Total in current vi	ew						\$932.16	\$212.25		\$0.00	
	Total of all records	s						\$3,467.24	\$747.02		\$0.00	
<										1-6 of 1031		

Filters	Apply Reset 🗙
Search by	
Q Trans #	•
	Expand All
Filter by	
Status •	~
Туре	~
Activity Date	~
Report Status	~
Emp Due Date	~
Mbr Due Date	~
Trans Identifier	~
Sort by	
Trans # •	~
Activity Date	~
Mbr Due Date	~
Туре	~
Emp Due Date	~

Select filter or sort.

Use the drop-down menu for options.

Then click "Apply"

The filter/sort is applied and displays in a grey bubble at the top of the Transaction Page

☆ Home	Your ESC Represent	ative: WADLEY, LYN	N							
🏦 Employer Info	Account								Export Tran	saction List
	Filter: Type (Payment)	R								716813
Roster	Show Fund Groups	show Fund Details								
Import Files	Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Due Date	Employer Cont.	Member Savings	Mbr POS Installment
Transactions	<u>12/20/2021</u> >	12/20/2021	2474759	Payment	Dep. Date 12/20/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
🗾 Forms and Reports	<u>12/20/2021</u> >	12/20/2021	2474758	Payment	Dep. Date 12/20/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
7 FAQs	<u>12/13/2021</u> >	12/13/2021	2471803	Payment	Dep. Date 12/13/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Contact Us	11/10/2021	11/10/2021	2460044	Devenant	Dec. Dete 11/10/2021	Closed		#0.00	#0.00	#0.00

To review the transaction in question, click on the "Posting Date" of the transaction.

NOTE: For closed transactions all amounts will be zero, only open transactions will have an amount due or credited.

The Payment Information will open in a new window. Verify this is the correct payment for review as there may be more than one payment made on the Posting Date. To help determine this is the correct payment look at The Payment Amount found in the Payment Information box. Or view the first line of the Transaction Details box. This line is Trans Type "Original" and will show the total payment amount in Red for a credit in Fund column where the payment was directed. (This will be one of three funds Employer Contributions which includes Employer POS, Member Savings or Member POS)

Transactions / Payr	ment Details							
Payment Inform	mation							
Activity Date 12/20/2021			1	Fransaction Number 935868			Transaction Type Payment	
Status Closed Payment Type ACH				dentifier Dep. Date 12/20/2021		Payment Amount \$197,141.46		
Transaction De	etails							
Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Trans Type	ldentifier	Applied To	Employer Cont.	Member Savings Contributions	Member POS Installment
12/20/2021	12/20/2021	2474759	Original	Dep. Date 12/20/2021		(\$197,141.46)	\$0.00	\$0.00
12/20/2021	12/20/2021	2474759	Transfer	Fund Transfer (Auto)		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Total of all record	ds					\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
								1-2 of 5 <
								0

Review how the payment was applied by moving from record to record using the ">" in the bottom right. This example has 5 records.

The payment was made on 12/20/2021 to the Employer Contributions for a total of \$197,141.46.

Review of records 3 and 4 shows

Transaction Deta	Transaction Details									
Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Trans Type	Identifier	Applied To	Employer Cont.	Member Savings Contributions	Member POS Installment		
12/20/2021	12/20/2021	2474759	Credit Out	WH Adj 2472981 (Auto)	2472981	\$2,532.30	\$0.00	\$0.00		
12/20/2021	12/20/2021	2474759	Transfer	Fund Transfer (Auto)		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00		
Total of all records						\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00		
								3-4 of 5 < 🔸		

\$2,532.30 of the payment was applied to an adjustment transaction # 2472981 and an auto transfer of zero.

Review of record 5 shows

Transaction Deta	ails							
Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Trans Type	Identifier	Applied To	Employer Cont.	Member Savings Contributions	Member POS Installment
12/20/2021	12/20/2021	2474759	Credit Out	WH Report - 2470770 (Auto)	2470770	\$194,609.16	\$0.00	\$0.00
Total of all records						\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
								5-5 of 5 < >

\$194,609.16 of the payment was applied to a work report transaction #2470770

This payment was not targeted and submitted using the "**Oldest Open Receivable(s)**" election in PNC Cash Con.

Payment Amount*	Transaction Type*
1	- Select a value -
	- Select a value -
1	Work Report WH Adj Balance Adj
	Oldest Open Receivable(s)
	- Select a value -

This meant the payment was first applied to an adjustment and then applied to the work report because the adjustment was the oldest open receivable. This might mean there is still an outstanding balance on the work report that needs to be addressed.

NOTE: The transaction number given by PNC Cash con when making payment through PNC Cash Con is not the transaction number listed on the transaction page.

Targeting a Payment on PNC Cash Con using the Transaction Page

Some employers prefer to Target their payments to specific transactions which eliminates searching for where a payment was applied. By viewing the Transactions Page and notating transaction numbers and amounts due an employer may make the exact amount due for a specific transaction.

From the list of Open transactions select the transaction to pay. Notate the transaction number from the trans # column and the amount due.

Trans #	Type ≟‡	Identifier	Status	Mbr Due E1 Date	Emp Due 🚉	Employer Cont.	Member Savings Contributions	Member POS Installment

From PNC Cash Con enter the amount due shown on the transaction page in the Payment Amount field, select the transaction type from the drop down menu (Work Report, Adjustment, Balance adj, Interest) **DO NOT SELECT "Oldest Open Receivables"**. In the trans# or WRMMYYYY field enter the transaction number from the transaction page. Enter you effective pay date.

Initiate Tr Specify requested in	ransaction nformation and click Continue, or enter transactions for sp	ecific units.		
Unit ID	Unit Name	Payment Amount*	Transaction Type*	Trans # or WR MMYYYY* Effective Date
0000000101	0000 Employee Contributions		- Select a value -	
0000000102	0000 Member POS		- Select a value V	
0000000103	0000 Employer Contributions		Select a value 🗸	

If payment is targeted to a transaction and the amount paid does not equal the exact total due shown on the transaction page, it may leave an open debit or credit on the transaction.

How to Export the Transaction Page

The Transaction Page defaults to filtering only the "Open" Transactions. If an employer wants to export other transactions a filter or sort should be applied. If no filter or sort is applied an export will pull all the employer transactions going back to 2004!

🔒 Ноте	Your ESC Representa	itive: WADLEY, LYNN									
症 Employer Info自 Documents	Account	how Eurod Datails							Export Tra	nsaction List	Filters
Roster	Show Fund Groups Si	A stivity Data	T #	Trans	ldaatifaa	Chatria.	Due Dete	Freelaway Cont	Marchae Cavinga	Mba DOG I	
Work Reports	Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Due Date	Employer Cont.	Member Savings	MDr POS II	istailment
▲ Import Files	<u>12/09/2021</u> >	12/09/2021	2470399	Payment	Dep. Date 12/09/2021	Open		\$0.00	\$0.00		(\$12.55)
Transactions	<u>12/09/2021</u> >	12/09/2021	2470398	Payment	Dep. Date 12/09/2021	Open		\$0.00	(\$25,713.42)		\$0.00
Forms and Reports FAOs	<u>12/06/2021</u> >	11/01/2021	2468158	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2021-11	Open	12/10/2021	\$258,656.23	\$0.00		\$0.00
Contact Us	<u>11/08/2021</u> >	11/08/2021	2459283	WH Adj.	May 2021 Adjust	Closed	07/10/2021	\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00
	<u>11/03/2021</u> >	11/03/2021	2457068	Payment	Dep. Date 11/03/2021	Open		\$0.00	\$0.00		(\$31.17)
	<u>11/03/2021</u> >	11/03/2021	2457067	Payment	Dep. Date 11/03/2021	Closed		\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00
	Total in current vie	w						\$258,656.23	(\$25,713.42)		(\$43.72)
	Total of all records							\$1,069,016.28	(\$25,713.42)		(\$399.14)
										1-6 of 814	< >

Click on "Filters" in the upper right corner of the page.

Filters	Apply Reset 🗦
Search by	
Q Trans #	
	Expand All
Filter by	
Status	~
Туре	~
Activity Date	~
Report Status	~
Emp Due Date	~
Mbr Due Date	~
Trans Identifier	~

Select what to filter by.

Using the drop-down menu further define filter category.

Click "Apply"

Once the filter has been applied it will be shown in a grey bubble in the upper

Right corner. The desired transactions may now be exported.

🔒 Home	Your ESC Representa	tive: WADLEY, LYNN	1							
Employer Info Documents	Account								Export Tran	saction Let 📍 💿
Roster	Filter: Status (Open)									
🖿 Work Reports	Posting Date	Activity Date	Trans #	Time	Identifier	Status	Due Date	Employer Cont	Momber Swings	Mbr POS Installment
Import Files	12/09/2021	12/09/2021	2470200	Paymont	Dep. Date 12/09/2021	Onon	Due Date	so oo	so oo	(612.55)
Forms and Reports	12/09/2021 >	12/09/2021	2470335	Payment	Dep. Date 12/09/2021	Open		\$0.00	(\$25,713,42)	\$0.00
🖓 FAQs	12/06/2021 >	11/01/2021	2468158	WH Report	Billing Rot 2021-11	Open	12/10/2021	\$258.656.23	\$0.00	\$0.00
🛁 Contact Us	<u>11/03/2021</u> >	11/03/2021	2457068	Payment	Dep. Date 11/03/2021	Open		\$0.00	\$0.00	(\$31.17)
	<u>10/25/2021</u> >	10/01/2021	2453870	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2021-10	Open	11/10/2021	\$254,039.05	\$0.00	\$0.00
	<u>10/25/2021</u> >	10/25/2021	2453829	WH Adj.	PSERS adjustment 10/2021	Open	12/04/2021	\$5,879.14	\$0.00	\$0.00
	Total in current vie	w						\$518,574.42	(\$25,713.42)	(\$43.72)
	Total of all records							\$1,069,016.28	(\$25,713.42)	(\$399.14)

Click on "Export Transaction List"

Export will show at the bottom left of screen.

Click to open export. A CSV report will open. This may be saved as an Excel Sheet.

Transactions	
Forms and Reports	05/10/2023
PAQs	05/10/2023
- Contact Us	
	04/10/2023
	04/10/2023
	Total in current view
	Total of all records
	1 - 10 of 518
Transaction List (11)	.csv ^

Forms and Reports Page

The Forms and Reports page is divided into two boxes- Forms and Reports.

↑ Home	Your ESC Representative: NOLLAU, CATHERINE						
Employer Info Documents	Forms	Filters	Reports				Filters
2 Roster	Form Name	Image	Filter: Submitted Date (08/03/2022 to (3			
Work Reports	Approved Leave of Absence - Employer Verification >		Previously-Run Reports	Status 💷	Image	Inserted Date	Process Start Date
Import Files	Authorization Agreement for Restricted (ACH) Debits >		FEE French and and free	D		00.004.00000.04.40	00/01/2020 01/15
Transactions	Charter School Employer Information >		credit report	successfully	i A	PM	PM
🗾 Forms and Reports	Demographic Information Change Request >		ESS Employer summary report >	Processed		03/20/2023 02:20	03/20/2023 02:21
🔋 FAQs	Merged Employer Salary and Service Adjustment >			successfully		PM	РМ
📙 Contact Us	PSERS Employer Security Administrator Authorization >		ESS Employer total service >	Processed with errors		03/20/2023 02:03 PM	03/20/2023 02:05 PM
	PSERS Retirees Returning to Service >						
	Questionnaire to determine the applicant's eligibility for PSERS membership >		ESS Employer summary report >	Processed successfully		10/03/2022 08:08 AM	10/03/2022 08:10 AM
	Return to Service Template Letter >	Ø		Processed	r021	09/26/2022 10:59	09/26/2022 11:01
	Service Adjustments (For Years 1977-2004) >		ESS Employer summary report >	successfully	12	AM	AM
	Service Adjustments (PRIOR TO FV 1977) >						

The **Forms** box lists employer forms in alphabetical order making it easy for an employer to find a desired form. Click on the form name to download a printable version including form instructions.

The Reports box lists all reports and their status. For more on generating and opening reports see *How to Generate a Report* found earlier in this manual.



Member Demographic and Contract Descriptions and Information

Member demographic and contract records must be submitted for new employees as soon as a start date is established. An employee may already exist in PSERS' system if they are coming to you from another employer or have previously worked for a Pennsylvania public school employer. If not, PSERS must send demographic and contract information to the third-party administrator to create participant accounts for employees in Class T-G, Class T-H and Class DC for reporting the defined contribution component in these classes. If employees are full-time (salaried, hourly or per diem) or part-time salaried, they are qualified members of PSERS, and it is mandatory contributions be withheld from day 1 for both DB and DC reporting.

Member Demographic Information

Demographic Information is the school employee's personal information. Member Demographic Information includes the employee's:

Name	Social Security Number
Date of Birth	Gender
Address	Phone Number(s)
Email Address	

PSERS uses the demographic information to create or update a member's or potential member's record on file. PSERS shares original and updated demographic information with Voya through weekly file transfers to create participant accounts for qualified employees in Class T-G, Class T-H and Class DC. Creating the Voya participant record enables reporting of the defined contribution component for these classes. If employees are full-time or part-time salaried, they are qualified members of PSERS, and it is mandatory that contributions be withheld from day 1 for both DB and DC reporting.

Employers are also responsible for verifying demographic information prior to submitting it to PSERS. Please also continue to update employee's demographic information in ESS when notified of changes by the employee.

You must see a copy of one of the following documents when verifying the school employee's social security number (SSN):

1. Social Security Card (issued by Social Security Administration)

- 2. Medicare Card (issued by Social Security Administration)
- 3. Military Identification Card DD Form 2 or its equivalent (issued by branch of military service)
- Certificate of Release or Discharge from Active Duty DD Form 214 (available from the National Archives and Records Administration's National Personnel Records Center)
- 5. Veterans Administration Identification (issued by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs)

PSERS must be provided with the employee's full legal name. Nicknames are not acceptable. The following documents are acceptable proofs for verifying the date of birth and name:

Birth Certificate	Baptismal Record	Select Service Record
Armed Forces discharge (DD 214	Passport (need not be	School Record
Form)	current)	
Life Insurance Policy	Naturalization Record	Alien Registration Record
PennDOT-issued photo ID (need not	Current driver's license or	Military ID (DD Form 2) or its
be current)	non-driver photo ID issued	equivalent
	by any of the 50 states or	
	US territories or	
	possessions	
Court Order	Marriage License	Divorce Certification

Demographic Information Change Request (PSRS-1870)

If an error was made when entering a school employee's SSN or date of birth after you have initially submitted the member demographic information to PSERS, you will need to use a *Demographic Information Change Request* (PSRS-1870) form to make the correction instead of ESS. The school employee's SSN and date of birth are considered Personal Identification Information (PII) and must be correct for each individual employee retirement record. PSERS needs to ensure the record is unique to each employee and the information does not become corrupted.

The Demographic Information Change Request is available under Employer Forms on the Employer tab of the PSERS website. Use this form to change social security or date of birth. Do not use this form to change any other information, employers mat change employee information on the Employee details box for the employee in the Roster Page.

NOTE: When submitting a Demographic Information Change Request (PSRS-1870) form, write the member's name and SSN on the top of each page of the submission.

Tdl-free: 1.888.773.7748 Member www.psers.ps.gov Fac: 717.772.3880 Chan PSRS- 1470 (07/2019)	r Dem ige Ro	equest PSERS	Mail Center
A member's social security number and date of service and salary, and/or calculate retirement l on file and verified. Complete Parts A and B, attach a legible copy of	f birth are o benefits. T the approp	critical factors used to establish the ma Therefore, it is critical that the member priate proof, and return this form at you	ember's account, report 's correct information is rrearliest opportunity.
Note: This form should <u>not</u> be used to request chan in a member demographic record on the PSERS Em	nges to the ployer Web	member's name, address, or gender. Ins).	tead, submit such changes
PART A - MEM	BER DEI	MOGRAPHIC VERIFICATION	
Member Full Name Member Social Security Number on file with PSERS		Corrected Social Security Number (if appli	cable)
Member Date of Birth on file with PSERS		Corrected Date of Birth (if applicable)	
DADT D	ENDI C		
By my signature below. I hereby affirm that the	foregoing	information is true and correct to the	heat of my knowledge
and beliëf; said affirmation is being made subj faisifications to authorities). Authorized Signature of Employer	Printed N	enalties prescribed by 18 Pa. C.S. A.	Date
and being: said affirmation is being made subj faisifications to authorities). Authorized Signature of Employer TEIe/Position	Printed M Employe	enallies prescribed by 18 Pa. C.S. A. lame	Date Employer ID
and beileft said affirmation is being made subj fastifications to authorities). Authorized Signature of Employer TiblePosition For proof of social security number, attach a member's social security card. For proof of date of birth, attach any of the following: • Birth certificate • Bagismair record • Passport • PA Driver's License • School record • Life Insurance policy (listing fuil da • Naturalization necord • Selective Service record • Alien registration necord • Alien registration necord	Printed P Printed P Employe copy of th the member de of birth)	enalities prescribed by 18 Pa. C.S. A. terme r Name er's Attrach copp here or on a sheet of PSERS 5 N Sth Street Harrisburg PA 17101-0905	y of proof separate paper

Demographic Information Change Request (PSRS-1870)

NOTE: If there is an occasion when PSERS requires proof to certify a change in a member's demographic information by a new or existing employer, PSERS will send a letter and form directly to the employee requesting proof. The employee will then complete the form and return it directly to PSERS with the required proof.

What Are Member Contract Records?

Member Contract Records provide a way to define the position(s) in which each employee works. You must provide at least one Member Contract Record for each eligible school employee when you first hire the employee. Contract records will tell the "story" of an employee's work history over their career. Member Demographic Information must be submitted before you can add a Member Contract Record, after a Member Contract Record is created, then that employee can be reported on your Work Report file. (Or an employer may use the Manual New Hire Wizard to enter both the employee demographic and contract record information in one step.)

- Employer's Name and Employer Code
- Employee's Job Title
- Employment Type (part-time or full-time)
- Wage Type (hourly, per diem, or salaried)
- Work Status (e.g., actively working, on leave of absence, terminated, deceased, a membership waiver request, etc.)
- Start Date of the Work Status
- End Date of the Work Status for a previously submitted Member Contract Record
- Expected Months full time equivalent for a standard school year.
- Expected Units (days or hours) full time equivalent for a standard school year.
- Voting Status (certified or non-certified position)
- Items relating to a terminated or deceased employee (Balance of Contract and Outstanding Service Credit status)

An employee working in a salaried or full-time position is qualified from day 1 of service and it is mandatory that member contributions are withheld and reported. **Member contract records must be created as soon as or close to the employee's start date as possible.** PSERS transfers newly qualified demographic and contract information to Voya to establish a participant record. If the employer tries to submit a DC payroll file for an employee who does not have a participant record, that employee's record will be rejected.

For employees who are part- time hourly or per diem and have not yet qualified for PSERS membership, the employee will need to work 500 hours, 80 days or a combination totaling .44 service credit to qualify. Contributions are not eligible to be withheld for the defined contribution component until after a part-time employee qualifies.

Determining Membership Class and Rate/ Is an Employee Already a Qualified PSERS Member To determine if a new employee or an existing employee has already qualified for PSERS membership the employee must have an existing contract for the employer inquiring. The employee must be a part of the employer's Roster Page which occurs when member demographic and contract records are entered into ESS. For more on how to create a contract record see *Manual New Hire* or *Importing/Uploading a File* explained later in this Manual.

It is important for an employer to know contract elements and the descriptions of those contract elements **BEFORE** entering new contract records to avoid errors in reporting.

Please review Member Contract Record Descriptions

BEFORE

attemptina to enter contracts.

Once a contract record has been created, qualification and membership class may be confirmed by going to the Roster Page of ESS. Search for the employee by name or social security number.

A PSERS	III) 1005 - ARC SCHOOL DISTRICT		LYNN LT 33 Law halfs lages
A Home	Your ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN		
f Employer Info	Your Employees		Manual New Hire
Documents			, in the second s
Roster		Q. Name	
Work Reports			
Import Files			

Once the contracts are displayed, click on the employee's name for whom qualification and or membership class needs to be verified. If searching by social security number, there should be only one name available. If searching by name, verify the last four of the social security number to make sure you are selecting the correct employee.

Your ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN				
Your Employees				Manual New H
Search: bell				
Name	Start Date	Stop Date	Work Status	Job Title
BELL HARRY TEST >	10/04/2021		ACTIVE - Actively Working	Custodian
DELL HADRY TECT N	05/10/2021		ACTIVE - Actively Working	Teacher
BELL, HARRY TEST >	06/06/2019	06/06/2019	ACTIVE - Actively Working	Administrator

A window with Employment Details will open. This window has four boxes: Employment Details, Personal Details, Membership Class and Rates and Contact Information. Below is the entire window.

Employment Details				Edit Add Contract Record
job Tele Custodian	Employment Type Part-Time	Wage 1 Hourt	ipi Y	
Work Status ACTIVE - Actively Working	Start Date 10/04/2021	End Dat	*	
Espected Months 12	Expected Units 1100	Voring Nort-C	Ranus Certified	
Contract Status Elisible	BOC Flag	Service	Rag	
BOC Sec Report				
Personal Details	Ear	Membership Class and Rates	٢	Contact Information Edit (2)
Prufix		Current Class TG		Day Phone U.S. a. (717) 555-1212
finit Name HARRY		DB Contrib Rute 6,25 %		
Middle Name TEST		DC Contrib Rate 2,75 %		
Last Name DELL		DC Englisyer Share 2.25 %		
Suffix		After Tax Def % 0.56		
55N XXXX-5621		Wethold Info Optional DB/No DC		
Birth Date 04/28/1986				
Gender Male		Address		
Employer-Provided Deal harrybell@test.org		Neximon 122 APYST APTB3 CAMP HILL, PA 17011		
		Edit this Address		

The employer should review the Bottom Middle box Membership Class and Rates.

The employee's Membership Class displayed first followed by the Contribution rates for DB and DC for classes TG, TH and DC. Employer share for DC reporting is listed next if the membership class has a DC component. After Tax percentage is also displayed on this screen. (Classes TG, TH and DC may elect to have additional funds contributed to their DC portion of the plan see PSERS Public Web for DC Reporting instructions to learn more on After Tax)

The final piece of information determines and if withholding is **Optional** or **Required** based on qualification. This example is "Optional DB/No DC" meaning the member is not qualified and DC contributions should not be withheld.

Current Class TG DB Contrib Rate 6.25 % DC Contrib Rate 2.75 % DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	0
TG DB Centrib Rate 6.25 % DC Centrib Rate 2.75 % DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	
DB Contrib Rate 6.25 % DC Contrib Rate 2.75 % DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	
6.25 % PC Contrib Rate 2.75 % DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	
DC Contrib Rate 2.75 % DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	
2.75 % DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	
DC Employer Share 2.25 % After Tax Def % 0.66	
2.25 % After Tax Def % 0 %	
After Tax Def % Q %	
0 %	
Withhold Info	
Optional DB/No DC	

						Filters
Ĵ.	DB Contrib Rate	DC Contrib Rate $=1$	DC Employer Share	After Tax Def% 🗐	Current Class	Withhold $\hat{=}\hat{\downarrow}$
	8	0	0	0	TE	
	6.25	2.75	2.25	0	TG	Optional DB/No DC
	6.25	2.75	2.25	0	TG	
	7.5	0	0	0	TD	Required
	8	0	0	0	TE	Required
	7.5	0	0	0	TD	

NOTE: This information is also displayed on an uploaded and processed contract record file. Employer will scroll to end of rows to see the below information and columns.

Member Contract Information Field Descriptions

• Job Title: A Job Title is a required field for every Member Contract Record and is used to determine if the position is a PSERS eligible position and if the position is a certified or non-certified position. The Job Title should represent the position for which the school employee is working. Job titles should be general such as Teacher, Administrator, Custodial, Transportation, Aide, etc. Job titles should not include excess information such as grade level, building, or other non-general, individual specific information. This field has a maximum entry of 50 letters and/or characters.

Independent contractors are not eligible for PSERS membership. If you are not sure whether a position (Job Title) is an employee or an independent contractor, search for the Membership Eligibility Questionnaire section.

- Employment Type: This is a required field and may be "Full Time" or "Part Time"
 PSERS' definition of full-time may be different from the employer's definition.
 Employment type for contract records is based on PSERS' definition.
- Wage Type: This is a required field and may be "Hourly," "Per Diem" or "Salaried" depending on how this position is paid. Stipend employees are Salaried wage type employees.
- Work Status: Work Status is reported in all monthly Work Reports and represents the member's status for the month. (Ex, ACTIVE, LEAVEN) That work status that must also match an existing Member Contract Record for that employee.

The various Work Status options are described in *Work Status Descriptions* explained later in this chapter.

Work Status Start Date – MM/DD/YYYY: Enter the date the Work Status being described in this Member Contract Record begins. For an actively working part-time hourly or per diem employee, <u>enter the first day for which the employee</u> was working, not the first day contributions were withheld from the employee's salary and reported to PSERS. If the Member Contract Record is for an employee who went on leave, died, or terminated all employment with you, set the Work Status Start Date with the date the leave began, or the date of death, or date of termination.

EXAMPLE: A teacher is hired to begin work August 16, 2021. Enter the Work Status as "**ACTIVE** - Actively Working" and enter the Start Date as 08/16/2021. **EXAMPLE:** When an employee resigns, his <u>last day of paid work will be the start</u> <u>date of his termination contract.</u> If the employee's last paid day of service was on June 15, 2022, and the resignation is received on August 1, 2022, the Work Status Start Date is 06/15/2022 unless the employee is granted a leave after their June 15, 2022, last day of work.

Work Status End Date – MM/DD/YYYY: Enter the date the Work Status described in this Member Contract Record will end or has ended.
 For an employee who is expected to work multiple years, the End Date should be left blank. In this case, the Member Contract Record will automatically renew each school year, remaining in effect until the employer enters an End Date (such as when the employee ends work in this position or goes on leave). If the school employee is initiating a leave of absence or terminating employment, PSERS system will automatically enter the End Date on the Member Contract Record that is being closed when an employer submits the new leave or termination contract record. Employers do not need to submit two transactions.

EXAMPLE: A teacher is hired. The teacher is expected to continue working for multiple school years, so no End Date is entered. In January, the teacher takes a job as Principal, which requires leaving the teaching position. On the existing teacher Member Contract Record, the End Date should be updated to be the last day the employee works as a teacher. A new Member Contract Record must be created for the principal position.

NOTE: In some cases, the End Date is modified automatically by PSERS. If an employee goes on a non-contributing leave, dies, or terminates all employment with you, you do not need to set the End Date on the employee's existing Member Contract Records. Instead, create a single new Member Contract Record for that employee with the new Work Status (e.g., the type of leave,
"DECESD - Deceased," or "TRMNTN – Termination") and with the Work Status Start Date set to the date the leave began or the date of death or the date of termination. In response to this new Member Contract Record, PSERS will change the End Date on the entire employee's other Member Contract Records appropriately. When the employee returns from leave, create a new Member Contract Record for each position the employee resumes.

EXAMPLE: The school librarian currently has an open ACTIVE (Actively Working) Contract Record with a Start Date of 08/23/2015. The member is initiating an unpaid leave on 10/01/2021 and you need to update the Member Contract Record for her non-contributing leave. Enter a Member Contract Record with a Work Status equal to LEAVEN (Any Other Leave that is not Listed) with a Work Status Start Date of 10/01/2021. When the LEAVEN Contract Record is approved, the ACTIVE (Actively Working) Contract Record automatically will be end dated with a date of 09/30/2021. The employer does not need to enter an End Date in the ACTIVE (Actively Working) Contract Record prior to submitting the LEAVEN Contract Record.

• Expected Months: Enter the number of months (i.e., 9, 10, 11, or 12) equivalent to a full-time employee working in the position for an entire fiscal (school) year. PSERS calculates the actual number of months worked for the school employee based on the information provided in your monthly Work Report. This is based on the position, not the employee.

EXAMPLE: If a full-time teacher is hired to work from September to June each school year, enter "**10**" months. **This field does not represent the number of months this school employee will be scheduled to work this fiscal (school) year**. Work in July or August outside of this position is also not included in the expected months.

 Expected Units: Enter the number of days or hours equivalent to a full-time employee working in the position for an entire fiscal (school) year. This field does not represent the number of days or hours (units) this school employee will be scheduled to work this fiscal (school) year. PSERS calculates the actual number of units worked for the school employee based on the information provided in your monthly Work Report.

Exception for some Full Time Hourly employees: When the Expected Months are set to 9 or 10 months and the Expected Units (hours) are between 900-1100, you must correctly enter the number of hours expected for that employee to work so the service credit calculates correctly.

EXAMPLE: A full time hourly secretary works for 9 months at 25 hours per week. The Expected Units for this employee is 900 (9 months x 100 hours). The employee will receive credit for a full year of service if the employer reports 900 hours in the Monthly Work Reports. This only applies to full time hourly employees who works 9 to 10 months.

If an employee is hired partway through the school year, enter the Expected Units that would apply if the position lasted an entire school year. The employee's service time will be determined from Work Reports, not from Expected Units.

EXAMPLE: If a full-time teacher is hired for a 9- or 10-month school year, the expected number of units would be 180 – 195 days. The range assumed there are 18-22 workdays per month. Entering a value outside this range will generate a Warning message. To determine expected units for a part-time, salaried position, such as a coach, search for *Reporting – Service Time*.

It is extremely important to correctly reflect a school employee's Expected Months and Expected Units.

This information is a component in the calculation of the final average salary and fulltime hourly employee's service credits as stated above.

 Voting Status: This field is required and should be set as "Certified" if this Member Contract Record describes a <u>position that requires certification</u> through the Pennsylvania Department of Education or other licensing agency, such as a teacher position. Otherwise, select "Non-Certified." This classification is used to determine in which election the employee will vote to fill a seat on the PSERS Board.

The job titles that shall be considered "**Certified**" as defined in the Public-School Code, Section 1101, 24 PS 11-1101 are as follows:

- ✓ Teachers
- \checkmark Substitute teachers
- ✓ Vocational instructors
- ✓ Supervisors (instructional)

- ✓ Principals
- ✓ Assistant principals
- ✓ Vice-principals

- ✓ Directors of Vocational education
- ✓ Superintendents
- ✓ Assistant Superintendents
- ✓ IU Executive Directors
- ✓ IU Assistant Executive Directors
- ✓ Dental hygienists
- ✓ School nurse

- ✓ Visiting teachers
- ✓ Home and school visitors
- ✓ School counselors
- Child nutrition program specialists
- ✓ School librarians

Even if a member's certification has recently expired or they have not formally attained certification, PSERS looks at the **position** the member holds, not the unique status of the individual member's certification. If the position does not require certification, then the member's voting status is "**non-certified**".

- **Contract Status:** The contract status will be Eligible for all new contracts except for an Active Waiver Record, in which case the contract status should be set to Pending Waiver or Waived.
- **BOC Flag:** This field is to be completed for a Termination or Deceased contract record. Employers must select either "**Yes**" or "**No**". Select "**Yes**" if additional salary is to be reported in the month(s) following termination or death of the employee; otherwise, select "**No**".
- Outstanding Service Credit Flag: This field is to be for a Termination or Deceased contract record. Only set this field to "Yes" if the employee has been terminated or has died and has additional service time to be reported after the month of termination or death; otherwise select "No."
- BOC/SVC End Date MM/YYYY: If either the BOC Flag or the Outstanding Service Credit Flag is set to "Yes," enter the month in which the last piece of information (e.g., salary, days, hours, etc.) will be reported to PSERS. After the Work Report for that month entered in the BOC Flag date field has been submitted, PSERS will assume that all information has been reported, and a Final Benefit Calculation will take place for the member.

The BOC/SVC End Date cannot be more than three (3) months from the Work Status Start Date.

EXAMPLE: If an employee terminates on June 3rd, the BOC/SVC End Date must be September or earlier.

If an employee works more than one job, it may or may not be necessary to enter multiple Member Contract Records for this employee. To determine this, see the Employee Working Multiple Jobs for One Employer section.

Work Status Descriptions

The School Code and the Retirement Code have very specific requirements regarding leaves of absence and their return requirements. PSERS needs employers to select the most accurate Work Status that explains the school employee's current work activity. Since school employees on a leave of absence may be eligible to select a contributing or non-contributing leave of absence, PSERS has created separate codes for each situation.

Work Statuses that describe leaves of absence are divided into two categories: contributing and non-contributing leave of absence. The final letter of the Work Status code for any leave is either "**C**" for contributing or "**N**" for non-contributing, based on if the employee is making retirement contributions while on leave or not. For employees on leave, select the Work Status that matches the reason for the leave, as well as whether the employee is contributing to their retirement account or not while on leave. Some of the non-contributing leaves are eligible for Purchase of Service, while others are not, as indicated for each.

- ACTIVE Actively Working: This is the most common status. It is used when an employee is actively working, whether the employee is making or not making contributions.
- ACTIVW Waiver: Part-time employees may waive PSERS membership once they
 reach qualification, provided they are able to certify they hold a qualified IRA.
 Electing to waive through an enrollment waiver is included in the class election
 process. After a part-time employee has successfully waived PSERS membership,
 employers will be unable to enter an ACTIVE part-time contract. ESS will provide
 an alert that the only contract that can be entered is an ACTIVW. If the
 employee begins a full-time position, then an Active full-time contract must be
 entered, and the member will no longer be eligible to waive.
- ACTMLC Activated Military Leave (Contributing): Employers must use this Work Status for employees who make retirement contributions while on a military leave activated prior to July 1, 2013, to fulfill an obligation in the Armed Forces of the United States in time of war or armed conflict. This leave also applies to a reserve member of the armed forces pursuant to an order on or after July 1, 1990, to enter active military service for an order other than active duty to meet periodic training requirements.

An employee serving the regular 15 days of active duty for Reserves may be reported as if in regular employment (with Work Status set to "**ACTIVE** - Actively Working" as work status changes within one pay period do not require a contract change).

Employees called to order on or after July 1, 2013 (this excludes military leaves reactivated or extended), may not be reported on "**ACTMLC** – Activated Military Contributing Leave". The passage of ACT 2013-120 (HEART Act) prohibits individuals who were activated under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights of 1994 (USERRA) Leave to make contributions to PSERS while on leave. The member may elect to purchase the leave at the time of return to active service. PSERS will contact the member and provide them with the requirements needed to make this purchase. When the member is billed for the USERRA leave, PSERS will send the employer a *Statement of Amount Due* to the employer contributions due for the period of leave. Members in class TG, TH or DC will also be required to contribute the DC portion of their contributions to the third-party administrator through payroll deduction.

 ACTMLN - Activated Military Leave (Non-Contributing): This Work Status is used for an employee who is on activated military leave and has decided to discontinue making or is not eligible to make retirement contributions to PSERS during the leave. The service time from this leave may be purchased later if the employee chooses.

Military leaves initiated prior to July 1, 2013, are different from other leaves in that the employer must continue to contribute the employer's share of retirement contributions whether the employee chooses to contribute or not contribute. In limited situations, employers may receive a credit for these contributions. For military leaves initiated on or after July 1, 2013, the employer may not make employer contributions while the school employee is on USERRA leave. When the member returns to active contributing status with PSERS and elects to purchase the USERRA leave, PSERS will send a *Statement of Amount Due* to the employer. You should not remit any funds associated with the USERRA leave until you receive the bill. Members in class TG, TH or DC will also be required to contribute the DC portion of their contributions to the third- party administrator through payroll deduction.

When the employee returns to school employment, the employee must provide a copy of the discharge documentation to their employer. The employer will update the Member Contract Record accordingly. **A copy of this documentation must be submitted to PSERS.**

• **DECESD – Deceased:** Select if the employee died while in active, waived, or leave status. Entering this status on any Member Contract Record automatically ends ALL Member Contract Records for the employee. Please enter the DECESD Contract Record within one day of the date in which you learn about the death. Do not wait until the next file of Member Contract Records is being submitted unless a file will be uploaded that day.

- EXCHGC Exchange Teacher Leave (Contributing): This leave is granted to a school employee who exchanges teaching positions with a teacher from another country and wishes to make retirement contributions while on leave. The foreign exchange teacher should not be added as a PSERS member and should not be reported through monthly Work Reports.
- **EXCHGN Exchange Teacher Leave (Non-Contributing):** This Work Status is used for an employee who exchanges teaching positions with a teacher from another country and who does NOT wish to make retirement contributions while on leave. The employee may choose to purchase the service time from this leave later.
- LEAVEN Any Other Leave Not Listed (Non-Contributing): Use this status when the employee is on a leave of absence not defined as one of the contributing or non-contributing leave codes. This leave may last up to 24 months. The employee may NOT purchase service time from this leave.

NOTE: Jury Duty is considered active employment rather than a leave. Report employees on Jury Duty as if they were working normally with a Work Status of "ACTIVE – Actively Working." If you have a policy of paying employees on Jury Duty the difference between their regular, full salary and the amount they are paid for Jury Duty, see *Reporting – Leaves of Absence*.

• **SABTLC - Sabbatical Leave (Contributing):** Select if the employee is on a sabbatical leave as defined in the School Code. The employee must receive at least one-half regular salary during the period of the sabbatical leave. Both you and the employee must make retirement contributions on the full salary that would have been earned had the employee been working.

To retain service credit for the period of the sabbatical, a member must return to the employer that granted a sabbatical leave for a period equal to at least one school term immediately following the end of the leave. PSERS defines the school term as 180 days, regardless of the fiscal year or the number of days the member is contracted to work.

• SSLSSC - Special Sick Leave, School Sponsored (Contributing): This leave is granted to an employee who is ill and wishes to receive credit towards retirement. Granting of special sick leave is optional and must be approved by the employer's board of directors on an individual case by case basis. The leave may not exceed one year.

To qualify for the leave, the employer must pay for disability insurance sufficient to provide the employee with at least one-half regular salary. Both you and the employee must be willing to contribute based on the employee's full contract salary.

• SSLSSN - Special Sick Leave, School Sponsored (Non-Contributing): This leave is granted to an employee who is ill and who does not wish to make retirement contributions while on leave. The employee may choose to purchase the

service time from this leave upon return to active PSERS membership. Granting of special sick leave is optional and must be approved by the employer's board of directors. The leave may not exceed one year.

To qualify for the leave, the employer must pay for disability insurance sufficient to provide the employee with at least one-half- regular salary.

• SSLWCC - Special Sick Leave, Worker's Compensation (Contributing): This leave is granted to an employee who has been injured on the job and wishes to receive credit towards retirement. Granting of special sick leave is optional and must be approved by the employer's board of directors. The leave may not exceed one year.

To qualify for the leave, the employee must receive at least one-half regular salary through Worker's Compensation. Both you and the employee must be willing to contribute based on the employee's full contract salary.

- SSLWCN Special Sick Leave, Worker's Compensation (Non-Contributing): This leave is granted to an employee who has been injured on the job and who does not wish to make retirement contributions while on leave. The employee may choose to purchase the service time from this leave upon return to active PSERS membership. Granting of special sick leave is optional and must be approved by employer's board of directors. The leave may not exceed one year. To qualify for the leave, the employee must receive at least one-half regular salary through Worker's Compensation.
- STUDYC Professional Study Leave (Contributing): This Work Status is used for an employee who has been granted a leave for professional study as defined in the School Code and who wishes to make retirement contributions while on leave. When employer's board of directors approves a Professional Study Leave, the board minutes should contain a note that the leave is for professional study.
- **STUDYN Professional Study Leave (Non-Contributing):** This Work Status is used for an employee who has been granted a leave for professional study and who does NOT wish to make retirement contributions while on leave. The employee may choose to purchase the service time from this leave upon return to active PSERS membership.

When employer's board of directors approves a Professional Study Leave, the board minutes should contain a note that the leave is for professional study.

• TRMNTN - Termination: Select if the employee has ended ALL work for the employer. Any other member Contract Records this employee has with the employer will be end-dated automatically. If the employee has only ended one position but is still working in another position, do not set the Work Status to "TRMNTN - Termination." Instead, set the Work Status End Date to indicate this position has ended. If necessary, enter another member Contract Record to describe the new continued employment.

- UNIONC Collective Bargaining Unit Leave (Contributing): Select if the employee has been granted a leave for collective bargaining unit. Only full-time work is permitted to use this leave type. Report the full contracted salary and service the employee would have worked for employer, not the salary the employee is earning from the collective bargaining unit.
- WKCMPN Worker's Compensation Non-Contributing Leave: This leave is granted to an employee who has been injured while on the job, is receiving Worker's Compensation, is not making retirement contributions while on leave or has exceeded the one-year time frame to contribute to PSERS and is NOT eligible to purchase service time from this leave. This leave may last up to two years. The employee may NOT purchase service time from this leave as a contributable or purchasable leave.

Purchasable Work Status codes for Non-Contributing Leaves

- ✓ ACTMLN Activated Military Leave (Non-Contributing)
- ✓ SSLSSN Special Sick Leave, School Sponsored (Non-Contributing)
- ✓ SSLWCN Special Sick Leave, Worker's Compensation (Non-Contributing)
- ✓ STUDYN Professional Study Leave (Non-Contributing)

NOTE: To be eligible to purchase a non-contributing leave, the employee must meet the eligibility criteria. See Policy Manual for requirements.

Non-Purchasable Work Status codes for Non-Contributing Leaves

- ✓ WKCMPN Worker's Compensation Non-Contributing Leave
- ✓ LEAVEN Any Other Leave Not Listed (Non-Contributing)

Work Status	Description
ACTIVE - Actively Working	The employee is actively working, whether contributing or not based on qualification of member.
ACTIVW - Waiver Request	A Waiver Request has been granted for a part time member through the Member Portal.

Work Status Quick Reference Table

Work Status	Description
ACTMLC - Activated Military	The employee is contributing while on activated military
Contributing Leave	leave. This work Status is to be used only for military leave
	which begun before July 1, 2013.
	This Work Status may <u>not</u> be used for any military leave
ACTMLN - Activated Military Leave	The employee is NOT contributing while on activated
(Non-Coning)	choose to purchase the service time .
DECESD - Deceased	The employee has died.
EXCHGC - Exchange Teacher	The employee is contributing while working in a foreign
Contributing Leave	teacher exchange program.
EXCHGN - Exchange Teacher	The employee is NOT contributing while working in a
Leave (Non-Contributing)	foreign teacher exchange program. The employee may
	choose to purchase the service time.
LEAVEN - Any Other Leave Not	The employee is on a leave of absence not defined as
Listed (Non-Contributing)	one of the contributing or non-contributing leave statuses.
	The employee CANNOT purchase the service time.
SABTLC - Sabbatical Leave	The employee is contributing while on sabbatical. The
(Contributing)	employee must receive at least 1/2 regular salary during
	this leave.
SSLSSC - Special Sick Leave, School	The employee is contributing while on a special sick leave.
Sponsored (Contributing)	The board of directors must approve this leave. The
	employer must pay for disability insurance sufficient to
	provide me employee with driedsi 1/2 regoldi saldry.
SSLSSN - Special Sick Leave, School	The employee is NOT contributing while on a special sick
sponsorea (1901-Contributing)	The employer must pay for disability insurance sufficient to
	provide the employee with at least 1/2 regular salary. The
	employee may choose to purchase the service time.

Work Status	Description
SSLWCC - Special Sick Leave,	The employee is contributing while on a special sick leave.
Worker's Compensation	The board of directors must approve this leave. The
(Contributing)	employee must be receiving at least 1/2 regular salary
	through Worker's Compensation.
SSLWCN - Special Sick Leave,	The employee is NOT contributing while on a special sick
Worker's Compensation (Non-	leave. The board of directors must approve this leave and
Contributing)	the employee must be receiving at least 1/2 regular salary
	through Worker's Compensation. The employee may
	choose to purchase the service time.
STUDYC - Professional Study Leave	The employee is contributing while on a leave for
(Contributing)	professional study.
STUDYN - Professional Study Leave	The employee is NOT contributing while on a leave for
(Non-Contributing)	professional study. The employee may choose to
	purchase the service time.
TRMNTN - Termination	The employee has ended ALL employment with you. If
	only some positions have ended, Do NOT ADD TRMNTN
	work status instead set the Work Status End Date on the
	Member Contract Record for the terminating position(s).
UNIONC - Collective Bargaining	The employee is contributing while on a leave for
Unit Leave (Contributing)	collective bargaining.
WKCMPN - Worker's Compensation	The employee is NOT contributing while on leave and
Leave (Non-Contributing)	receiving partial salary from Worker's Compensation. The
	employee CANNOT purchase the service time.

What if an Employee is Working Multiple Positions for the same Employer

It is not unusual for an employee to work multiple jobs for an employer. For example, a teacher may coach a sports team or tutor students after school. In this case, depending on the types of jobs worked, it may or may not be necessary to submit multiple Member Contract Records for the employee.

One Member Contract Record is needed for each full-time position held. Enter a Member Contract Record for the full-time position(s). If the full-time school employee holds a part-time position(s), no additional Member Contract Record is required, but

including the part-time contract will help explain supplemental wages that are reported, saving additional research and questions when the employee requests a benefit calculation.

EXAMPLE: A full-time teacher chaperones a school activity, takes tickets for an event, and oversees the yearbook club. Enter a single Member Contract Record for the full-time teaching position. Report the additional work on the employee's monthly Work Report as follows: Record the additional wages in the "**Supplemental Wages**" field. Record the extra contributions in the "**Contributions**" field. Record the extra service in the "**Hours**" or "**Days**" field.

NOTE: PSERS processing does review supplemental income to determine if it is retirement covered compensation. If there is not a contract that explains how the salary is earned, PSERS will contact the district to inquire. It is beneficial to the district to create contracts for each position the employee holds at the district.

What if Employee Works Multiple Part-Time Positions but NO Full-Time Position

Each part-time SALARIED position requires its own Member Contract Record. All other part-time positions require only one contract record per wage type (e.g., per diem or hourly).

- Member Contract Record is required for each part-time SALARIED position the employee works.
- Only one Member Contract Record is required for all part-time HOURLY positions the employee works.
- Only one Member Contract Record is required for all part-time PER DIEM positions the employee works.

EXAMPLE #1: An employee works a part-time per diem job as a substitute teacher. She also works a part-time hourly job in the cafeteria and another part-time hourly job teaching a high school science class. You would need to create two Member Contract Records for this employee: one for her per diem position and one for the two hourly positions.

EXAMPLE #2: An employee works a part-time per diem job as a substitute teacher. He also works a part-time salaried job teaching a high school English class and another part-time salaried job coaching a football team. You would need to create three Member Contract Records for this employee: one for his per diem position, one for his salaried teaching position, and one for his salaried coaching position.

In general, there is no harm in creating a Member Contract Record even if it is not required. If an employer finds it easier to create a Member Contract Record for every position an employee works, this is fine.

NOTE: When submitting the associated wages on your monthly Work Report, employers will need to report a separate record for each Member Contract Record/Wage Type combination.

- If multiple Member Contract Records for an employee have the same Wage Type (hourly, per diem, or salaried), earnings for these Member Contract Records will be reported on the same Work Report Record in the monthly Work Reports.
- If multiple Member Contract Records for an employee have different Wage Types (hourly, per diem, or salaried), earnings for these Member Contract Records will be reported on a separate row within the monthly Work Reports.

EXAMPLE #1: A member has two part-time hourly positions. The wages from both positions are reported on one line in the work report. The wage type for this member is hourly.

EXAMPLE #2: A member has two part-time positions, one hourly and one per diem. The wages from hourly positions are reported on one line within the work report. The wage type for this Member Contract Record is hourly. The wages from per diem positions are reported on another line within the work report. The wage type for this Member Contract Record is per diem.

How are Member Demographic Information and Contract Records Sent to PSERS?

All Member Demographic Information and Contract Records are transmitted to PSERS through the Employer Self-Service (ESS) portal. Demographic and contract information for new employees in Class T-G, Class T-H and Class DC is needed as soon as possible, so PSERS can transmit information for qualified members to Voya. This ensures a participant account is set up and ready for DC payroll reporting to begin.

There are two ways to submit member demographic information and contract records to PSERS using ESS:

 Upload File –Reporting units are able to upload as many demographic and contract record files during a month as needed. This is the best option when you are trying to update a group of employees at the same time. The files can be generated by the payroll/HR software system containing updated demographic and contract changes.

Demographic files should be submitted before contract record files. The file should only include new employees and any changes to existing employee demographic information.

Contract files should be submitted after the demographic files are processed. Contract files contain contract records for new employees who have already had their demographic information successfully processed and/or changes to existing member contract records. See *Importing/Uploading a File* section for instructions on demographic and contract record file uploads.

 Manual New Hire – for an individual employee or a small group of employees, less than 15-20, the manual new hire wizard will enter both the demographic and contract records for each employee in one step. Information is entered manually for everyone making for easy review.

Manual New Hire Instructions

Utilizing the Manual New Hire wizard is a great way to enter the demographic and contract information for new employees in one easy process. Use the Roster Page of ESS and select the "**Manual New Hire**" button highlighted below.

			-
☆ Home	Your ESC Representative: RAINEY, SCOTT		
🏛 Employer Info	Your Employees		Manual New Hire
Documents			
🖻 Roster		Q Member Name or SSN	
Work Reports			
📀 Import Files			
Transactions			
Forms and Reports			
? FAQs			
📮 Contact Us			
<		ESS Terms and Conditions - Desktop	0

After selecting "**Manual New Hire**" button from the Roster Page, a new window populates. Here you will enter the employee's social security number (SSN), first and last name and their Date of Birth. Once all information has been entered, select the "**NEXT**" button.



The 9-digit social security number (SSN) may be entered with or without dashes; the system will standardize it to include dashes following entry and immediately "**X**" out the first five digits for security.

NOTE: The SSN must be entered correctly. You *must* see proof confirming the school employee's SSN. If the SSN was previously reported incorrectly, submit the *Demographic Information Change Request* form (PSRS-1870) with both the incorrect and correct SSN numbers. A copy of the employee's valid proof **must** accompany the form. Continue to submit PSERS monthly Work Report Records and Voya work orders for the employee <u>using the originally registered SSN</u> until you have been notified by PSERS that the correction has been made.

First and Last Name: Field is limited to 50 characters (valid characters include an apostrophe and a hyphen). Make sure the employee has not changed their name. Middle Name: Field may be left blank. Entries are limited to 50 characters (valid characters include an apostrophe and a hyphen).

Date of Birth: Format MM/DD/YYYY or by using the date calendar. Employers **must** verify employee's date of birth by examining an acceptable proof document listed in the What is Member Demographic Information? section. If the birth date needs to be changed after an employee's record is already created, you must submit a Demographic Information Change Request.

After selecting the "**Next**" button - if the employee is new to PSERS - the phrase "**No Match is found. Create New Member**" will appear above the Entered Fields as below:

New Hire						×
informationNo match is found.	. Create a new member.	7				
Ø ——	2	- 0		6	6	Î
Identification	Demographics	Address	Phone Numbers	Contract Record	Confirmation	
#####9123 Prefix First Name						<u> </u>
Middle Name						_
Last Name Example						
Suffix						
Cancel					Previous	Next

Using the scroll bar, complete additional fields for gender and Employer provided email.

New Hire Step 2: Demographics		×
Information No match is found. Create a n Prefix First Name	ew member.	<u> </u>
Middle Name Last Name Example		
Suffix Birth Date 12/25/1985 Gender* Male		* *
Employer-Provided Email* Randy@test.net		
Cancel	Previou	Next

Gender: this field is required but may be altered if the wrong gender is currently on file. PSERS only has a male and female gender option.

Employer-Provided Email: This is not the employee's personal email address; it is the one given to the employee by the employer for business use.

Step 3: Address	
Address Demographics Address Phone Numbers Contract No.ord Confirmation Add Address Type Residence	
Add Address Type Residence	
Type Residence	
Residence	
Street*	
Ant (Cuitail	
Abt/Jante#	
Care Of	
Country*	
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA	
Zip* City*	
17011 CAMP HILL	
State County	

Click the "**Next**" button to continue the wizard.

Here you will be required to enter a **Residence Address**: By entering the ZIP code, the system will populate the city, State and County. In addition to street name, post office box or route number provide all information necessary to complete the applicable fields, including apartment/suite number or "**Care of**", required for accurate mail delivery. Click "**Next**" to continue wizard.

New Hire						×
Ø —	0	Ø	0	6	6	
Identification	Demographics	Address	Phone Numbers	Contract Record	Confirmation	
Edit Contact Info						
Country UNITED STATES O 👻	Day Phone (717) 555-1212	Ext				
Country UNITED STATES O 👻	Evening Phone	Ext				
JNITED STATES O 👻	Other Phone	Ext				
Country	Fax					
UNITED STATES O 👻	()·	_				
Cancel					Previou	Next

This screen is where phone number information is located. **Day/Evening/Other Phone:** Parentheses and dashes are not required - but may be entered. Only one phone number is required. Click **"Next"** to continue wizard. After completing all the necessary windows for the Demographic information, and selecting the "**Next**" button, employers will be transitioned to entering the member's Contract Record. The beginning of the **Contract Record Screens** appears below:

New Hire						×
0	0	0	0	0	0	
Identification	Demographics	Address	Phone Numbers	Contract Record	Confirmation	
job Title *						
Employment Type *		Ŧ	Wage Type *			-
Work Status *						
Start Date *			End Date			
Expected Months *			Expected Units *			
/oting Status *			Contract Status *			•
BOC Flag			Service Flag			-
SOC SVC Report						
larg Unit *			Cycle Definition			
MASTER AGREEMENT		*	Monthly Premium Cy	:le		
Cancel					Previo	Next

Use Scroll bar to see all available fields.

After having entered all the information required to create a member's contract record, you will need to select the "**Next**" button to move to the Confirmation page.

Using the Scroll bar, review all the demographic and contract information entered for the new employee. If the information is correct, select "**Confirm**" if there is any information that is not correct select "**Previous**" to go back and correct the information.

			•		•
Identificati	on Demographics	Address	Phone Numbers	Contract Record	Confirmation
lease review you	r information.				
Demographic Info	ormation	Address		Phone Numbers	
Masked SSN XXX-XX-9123 First Name	Prefix Last Name	Residence 123 ANY ST CAMP HILL, PA 17011		Day Phone US e (717) 555-1212	2
Randy Suffix	Example Birth Date 12/25/1985			Evening Phone US	
Sender Male	Employer-Provided Email Randv(@test.net			Other Phone US	
Contract Record					
Contract Record lob Title Administrater		Employment Type Full-Time		Wage Type Salaried	
Contract Record Job Title Administrater Work Status ACTIVE - Actively \	Vorking	Employment Type Full-Time Start Date 07/11/2023		Wage Type Salaried End Date	
Contract Record lob Title Administrater Work Status ACTIVE - Actively \ Expected Months 12		Employment Type Full-Time Start Date 07/11/2023 Expected Units 215		Wage Type Salaried End Date	
Contract Record Iob Title Administrater Work Status ACTIVE - Actively V Expected Months 12 Voting Status Non-Certified	Norking	Employment Type Full-Time Start Date 07/11/2023 Expected Units 215 Contract Status Eligible		Wage Type Salaried End Date	
Contract Record Job Title Administrater Work Status ACTIVE - Actively \ Expected Months 12 Voting Status Non-Certified BOC Flag		Employment Type Full-Time Start Date 07/11/2023 Expected Units 215 Contract Status Eligible Service Flag		Wage Type Salaried End Date BOC SVC Report	

After clicking "**Confirm**", the record has been saved. You may **not** make additional changes to the contract except to enter a contract end date and changes to the voting status.

View/Edit Demographic Information

To manually change demographic information or contract records for a member go to the Roster Page. Use the Member Search bar and enter the employee's name or social security number.

🛧 Home	Your ESC Representative: RAINEY, SCOTT	
💼 Employer Info	Your Employees Manual New Hire	0
Documents		-
🖻 Roster	Q Member Name or SSN	
Work Reports		
🛧 Import Files		
Transactions		
Forms and Reports		
🔁 FAQs		
- Contact Us		
<	ESS Terms and Conditions - Desktop	

The Search criteria will show in the grey bubble and possible matches will appear below. Click the eye to view full social security number.

	Your ESC Representative: RIDDLE,	RACHAEL			
 	Your Employees				Manual New Hire T
Roster	Search: member 🕲				
Work Reports		Masked SSN	Start Date	Stop Date Work Status	Job Title
Import Hies Transactions	MEMBER, EXAMPLE >	XXX-XX-9881 O	10/01/2019	ACTIVE - Actively Workin	ig lunch aide
Forms and Reports FAQs	MEMBER, EXAMPLE >	xxxx-9881 O	05/00/0001	ACTO/E - Assistabilitaski	g coach
🛁 Contact Us	MEMBER, EXAMPLE >	X00.4X.9004	123-56-9881 Full SSN for MEMBER, EXAMPL	E.	g Teacher
			You are required to conceal th proceeding.	is sensitive information before	
				Conceal	

Double click on the member's name to view/edit employment details.

This section has five boxes of employee information. **1. Employment Details/Contract Record –** if member has more than one employment details/contract record user must select contract to view/edit from the search, **2. Personal details** contains Name, SS#, gender, DOB and employer provided email address **3. Membership class and Rate** is where an employer will be able to determine if contributions are required for all qualified members or optional for part time employees which will indicate pending qualification **4. Contact Information** is the member's phone number and **5. Address Information** is the member's address. Please scroll down to view the address box.

PSERS	1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT				LYNN LT 🗃
	Roster / Employee Details				
Employer Info	Employment Details				Edit Add Contract Record
Documents Roster	job Title Custodian	Employment Type Part-Time	Wage Type Hourly		
Work Reports	Work Status ACTIVE - Actively Working	Start Date 10/04/2021	End Date		
Import Files	Expected Months 12	Expected Units 1100	voting Status Non-Certified		
Transactions	Contract Status Eligible	BOC Flag	Service Rag		
	BOC Sic Report				
Contact Us	Personal Details	Edit	Membership Class and Rates	0	Contact Information Edit ③
	Prefix		Current Class TG		Day Phone
	First Name HARRY		DB Control Rate 6.25 H		05 0 (77) 333 (212
	Middle Name TEST		DC Control Rate 2.75 %		
	Last Name BELL		2.25 %		
	Skiller		Atter Tax Def % 0 %		4
	30000-6821		Optional DB/No DC		
	04/28/1986 Gender		Address		
	Male Employer-Provided Email		Residence 5		
	harrybel@test.org		123 ANY ST APT#3 CAMP HILL, PA 17011		
			1		0

To edit any of the demographic information select the "Edit" action button in the upper

right of the box containing the information to be updated. **NOTE:** The address edit button is the pencil located under the member address. Membership Class and Rate information in Box 3 may not be adjusted; member class and rate are determined by the qualification date of the member.

A new window will populate where changes may be completed. Below is an example of the "**Edit this Address**" window. Entering the new zip will auto populate the US Post Office preferred City and State for that zip.

	1	2
E	nter Details	Confirm
Please fill in all the inform	nation and click "Save" to update the ad	dress.
Type*		
Residence		
Street *		
123 ANY ST		
Apt./Suite#		
APT#3		
Care Of		
Care Of		
Zip *	City*	County
47044	CAMP HILL	CUMBERLAND
17011		•
17011 	Country	
Pennsylvania	⊂ UNITED	D STATES OF AMERICA
Pennsylvania	⊂ountry* ✓ UNITED	D STATES OF AMERICA
Pennsylvania	v UNITED	D STATES OF AMERICA
Pennsylvania	Country * UNITED	D STATES OF AMERICA

Click "Next"

Jpdate an Existing Address		×
Information		
Address has been standardized		
	•	
	2	
Enter Details	Confirm	
Residence		
123 NEW ST		
LEMOYNE, PA 17043		
Cancel	Previo	Confirm

Review the new address and click "**Confirm**" to be taken back to the Employment Details

When to Edit a Member Contract Record

As a member works for an employer there may be times when the contract record needs to be changed or edited. Once a contract record has been saved there are only two edits that may occur meaning the employer may need to add a new contract record to describe the member's new work history.

- Employers can end date an employee's position when the employee is not terminating all employment with you. This should be done prior to submitting the new position information in a new Member Contract Record.
- Employers can correct an employee's Voting Status.

For this reason, employers should only approve contract record files approved if the display indicates that ALL the records in the file are valid. and submit them for processing after having made all the necessary changes. The number in the "**Invalid Rows**" column of the Import Summary Box should be zero. If you approve the file but some of the records still contain errors, those records will **NOT** be posted to the system and may require a manual contract entry.

If the file contains any invalid records, those will be indicated in the "**Invalid Rows**" column. In this case, follow the instructions for Error Correction under *Importing Files*.

When to Change/Add a Member Contract for an Employee...

When an Employee...

- goes on leave.
- terminates all jobs with you.
- dies
- is furloughed.

Submit a single new Member Contract Record with Work Status set to the appropriate leave, or "**TRMNTN** - Termination," or "**DECESD** - Deceased." Set the Work Status Start Date to the date the leave began, or the date of termination or the date of death. In the case of termination or death, also set the BOC Flag, Outstanding Service Credit Flag, and BOC/Svc End Date fields to appropriate values. **All the employee's other Member Contract Records will be end-dated automatically.**

When an Employee...

- returns from a leave.
- begins a new job with you.

Submit a new Member Contract Record for each job the employee will be working for the employer. If the employee is returning from leave, the Member Contract Record(s) showing the leave will be end-dated automatically. If member furloughs, submit a LEAVEN record.

When an Employee...

• terminates one job with the employer but continues working in another job.

End-date the Member Contract Record for the position being ended. Contact the Employer Service Center for further assistance.

Correcting an Error in a Member Contract Record

If an employer makes an error when submitting a Member Contract Record, and it has been less than 24 hours since adding the contract record and there is no reporting against the contract record, any field may be corrected by the employer. In most cases, contract errors are not discovered until later and only the end date and voting status may be changed. In this case the contract record should be voided by making the start and end dates the same date. Then create the correct contract record for the employee.

Member Contract Records cannot be changed once they are created. Employers may only edit the End Date and voting status of a contract.

If an error in an old contract record is discovered, contact your ESC Representative

Examples of When Employee Contract Records Should be Added and Existing Contracts Changed.

The following examples detail how to create Member Contract Records when an employee's work status changes.

EXAMPLE #1: A teacher takes on a job as Principal, which involves leaving the teaching job. End-date the existing teacher Member Contract Record by setting Work Status End Date to the last date the employee will work as a teacher. Then, create a new Member Contract Record for the Principal position, with Work Status Start Date as the following day. (The first day the employee works as a principal.)

EXAMPLE #2: An employee works multiple positions for an employer and goes on leave. Submit a single new Member Contract Record with Work Status set to the appropriate type of leave and Work Status Start Date set to the date the leave began. PSERS will modify all the employee's existing Member Contract Records automatically to reflect the leave. If an employee works multiple positions and is only going on leave from one or some of these positions, contact PSERS to set just the appropriate Member Contract Records to leave and keep the others open. It is suggested employers review PSERS Leave policy in the Policy Employer Reference Manual before adjusting to contracts.

When an employee returns from leave, submit new Member Contract Records for the position(s) being resumed. PSERS will automatically end-date all the leave Contract Records.

EXAMPLE #3: An employee dies. Submit a single new Member Contract Record with Work Status set to "**DECESD** – Deceased" and Work Status Start Date set to the date of death. Also set the BOC Flag, Outstanding Service Credit Flag, and BOC/Svc End Date fields to appropriate values. PSERS will modify all the employee's existing Member Contract Records automatically.

Any Member Contract Records the employee has with other employers will not be affected, since the employee may have different Balance of Contract and Outstanding Service values with each employer.

EXAMPLE #4: An employee terminates all employment. Submit a single new Member Contract Record with Work Status set to "**TRMNTN** – Termination" and Work Status Start Date set to the date of termination. Also set the BOC Flag, Outstanding Service Credit Flag, and BOC/Svc End Date fields to appropriate values. PSERS will modify all the employee's existing Member Contract Records automatically.

If the employee is only terminating one or more positions and is still working another position, **do not set the Work Status to "TRMNTN -** Termination." Instead, change the Work Status End Date for the positions that are ending.

EXAMPLE #5: A Full-Time employee will only be working half days for a period over two weeks due to illness or other circumstances. The employer will add a part time contract and end date the Full-time contract the first day the employee reports to work under part time hours/days. The employer should report all service for the Full-time contract with the last work report including the FT service. All part time service should be reported with each work report the employee is working part time until the employee is able to return to FT service, when a new FT contract should be entered.

View/Edit Existing Member Contract Record

It is important for an employer to know and understand contract elements and their descriptions **BEFORE** editing or entering new contract records. To avoid errors in reporting that may be difficult to correct, please review *Member Contract Record Descriptions* found earlier in this manual **BEFORE** attempting to edit or add contracts for your employees.

From the Roster Page enter the member's name or social security number in the search bar.

PSERS	ED 1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT	
♠ Home	Your ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN	
🏦 Employer Info	Your Employees	
Documents		
🙆 Roster	Q 198620123	
Work Reports		
← Import Files		

A list of matches will appear under the grey filter bubble. Double click on the member to view or edit their contract record.



The Employee Details for the open contract will appear.

PSERS	1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT			LYNN	LT Đ User Profile Lagout
A Home	Roster / Employee Details				
1 Employer Info	Employment Details			Edit Ac	Contract Record
Documents	job Title	Employment Type	Wage Type		
Roster	Teacher	Part-Time	Per Diem		
Work Reports	ACTIVE - Actively Working	05/10/2021	LIN LARE		
 Import Files 	Expected Months 10	Expected Units 180	Voting Status Certified		
C Transactions	Contract Status Eligible	BOC Flag	Service Flag		
Forms and Reports	BOC Svc Report				
🛜 FAQs					

To edit the open contract, click "**Edit**" in the Employment Details box.

Employers may not make changes to the contract except to enter a contract end date and/or change the voting status.

Edit Member Contract	:		×
Job Title *			
Teacher			
Employment Type *		Wage Type *	
Part-Time	Ŧ	Per Diem	*
Work Status *			
ACTIVE - Actively Working	ş		Ŧ
Start Date *			
05/10/2021	İ	End Date	i i
Expected Months *		Expected Units*	
	_		
Voting Status *		Contract Status *	
Certified	*	Eligible	*
BOC Flag	*	Service Flag	•
BOC Svc Rpt			

If an employer needs to **VOID** a contract record for some reason, this may be done by making the start date and the end date the same date.

Manually Add New Member Contract

From the Roster Page search the member as described above. Open any contract record by clicking on the member's name. This will take you to the Employee Details.

In the Employment Details box in the upper right corner is the "Add Contract Record" action button.

Roster / Employee Details			A
Employment Details			Edit Add Contract Record
job Title Teacher	Employment Type Part-Time	Wage Type Per Diem	
Work Status ACTIVE - Actively Working	Start Date 05/10/2021	End Date	
Expected Months	Expected Units	Voting Status	

Click the "Add Contract Record" button.

The Add member Contract window will open. Complete all required fields (designated with an *.) Field explanations may be found in *Member Contract Field Information Descriptions* section of this manual.

dd Member Contract		×
Contract Record	Confirm	nation
ob Title *		
mployment Type *	▼ Wage Type *	
Vork Status *		
Start Date *	End Date	
pected Months *	Expected Units *	
ting Status *	Contract Status *	<u> </u>
DC Flag	← Service Flag	*
30C Svc Report		
arg Unit*	Cycle Definition	

Be sure to use the scroll bar on the left to enter all fields. Click "Next"

Add Member Contract			×
		2	
Contrac	t Record	Confirmation	
Please review your information.			
Job Title ParaProffesional	Employment Type Full-Time	Wage Type Salaried	
Work Status ACTIVE - Actively Working	Start Date 12/06/2021	End Date	
Expected Months 10	Expected Units 180	Voting Status Non-Certified	
Contract Status Eligible	BOC Flag	Service Flag	
BOC Svc Report			
Cancel		[Pevious Confirm

Review contract information. Click "Previous" to make changes or "**Confirm**" to save.

To view the member's new list of contracts, click "**Roster**" in the side menu bar, the previous search will still be there, and the new contract will be listed.



Employers will want to make sure they are end dating any contract records that no longer apply to the member. Stop and Start dates are listed along with work status and Job Title making it easy to determine which contracts are valid for the member.

Your ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN	1	1		
Your Employees				Mar
Search: bell 🛞	+	+		
Name	Start Date	Stop Date	Work Status	Job Title
BELL HARRY TEST >	12/06/2021		ACTIVE - Actively Working	ParaProffesional
BELL HARRY TEST >	10/04/2021	11/26/2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working	Custodian
BELL_HARRY TEST >	05/10/2021		ACTIVE - Actively Working	Teacher
BELL, HARRY TEST >	06/06/2019	06/06/2019	ACTIVE - Actively Working	Administrator

NOTE: Voided contracts will have the same start and end date. Once contracts are entered, they cannot be deleted only voided. If assistance is needed in changing a contract record, reach out to your ESC Representative.



Importing/Uploading a File

All file types are uploaded through the Imports Files Page.

It is important to remember files must be loaded in the right order, this allows information to be accurately read by the system. Below is the order files should be uploaded.

- 1. Member Demographic (D)
- 2. Member Contract Records (C)
- 3. Work Reports (R)
- 4. Adjustments (A) (only if needed).

Each file must be processed and released prior to uploading and processing the next file.

If an employer opts to use Manual New Hire to enter all member demographic and contract information, there is no need to upload a demographic or contract record file from the payroll system. The Manual New Hire wizard has added this information already.

How to Import/Upload Any Type of File

From the Imports Page click on the "**Add Import**" button in the upper right-hand side of the screen.

A Home	Your ESC R	r ESC Representative: RIDDLE, RACHAEL							
Employer Info Documents	Import H	nport History Add Import Export Import List							
Roster	Filter: Impor	t Start Date (01/18/2023 🛞							
Work Reports	ID	Description	Header Status	Process Flag	Import Start Date 🗐	Import Type	Rows Imported	Rows Processed	Submitted By
Import Files	<u>568035</u> >	R001200	Voided	Completed	06/02/2023 8:12:10 AM	Work Report	2	0	RARIDDLE
Transactions	<u>568018</u> >	Test 1 52023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors	05/31/2023 2:07:02 PM	Work Report	2	10	RARIDDLE

Select file type using the drop down in the File Type field.

Upload a File		×
1 Import Selection	Confirmation	
File Type*		Ŧ
Choose file for upload *		BROWSE
Description*		
Cancel		Next

There may only be one Work Report submitted and processed each month. If an employer processes an Adjustment and incorrectly uses the Work Report file type, the adjustment becomes the only work report allowed for that month. The employer will then be required to report normal monthly reporting information as an adjustment for the month the error occurred.

For this reason, it is important to make sure to select the correct file type when uploading information to the system.

		^
0	2	
Import Selection	Confirmation	
File Type*		*
Adjustment		
Contract Import		
Member Demographic Import		
Work Report		
Cancel		Next

Click "Next" after selecting the file type to be uploaded.

Use the Browse button beside the "Chose File for Upload" field to look through files on your computer for the file to be imported.

Import Selection Confirmation File Type* Work Report Choose file for upload * Description* R001200	Upload a Fi	le		×
Import Selection Confirmation File Type* Work Report Choose file for upload * Description* R001200		0	2	
File Type* Work Report Choose file for upload * Description* R001200		Import Selection	Confirmation	
Work Report Choose file for upload * BROWSE Description* R001200	File Type*			
Choose file for upload * BROWSE Description* R001200	Work Report			Ŧ
Description* R001200	Choose file fo	or upload *		BROWSE
R001200	Description*			
	R001200			
	Cancel			Next
Cancel	concer			INCAL

т п	inaria r Deskin	νγ V	× ×	Jearch Des	and a		nution_10=1740300	
Organize • New fold	ler			8		0		
This PC	Name	^		Date modifi	ed	Typ *	`	
3D Objects	PSERS A	nyConnect		1/26/2021 2	25 PM	File		
Desktop	pshuat	adm01.pa.lclV3_Batch_	DataV3UA	9/30/2021 1	0:31 AM	Mi	_	
Documents	10.docx			10/6/2021 5	26 PM	Mi		×
- Downloads	📥 Board R	oom Streaming.xspf		3/6/2019 6:2	7 PM	XSI		
h Music	DARTBu	ndle_0126_1440.zip		1/26/2021 2	45 PM	Co		
Ji Music	debug.l	og		1/27/2021 3	00 PM	Tex	0	
Pictures	ESS has	a new Look.docx		9/22/2021 4	00 PM	Mi	Confirmatio	n
Videos	ESS has	a New Look.pptx		10/9/2021 7	16 PM	Mi		
Windows (C:)	FireEye.	bat		8/29/2019 1	231 AM	Wi		
\\pspacsfile01\h	Genesys	Cloud		10/9/2021 8	47 PM	Shi		
The PUBLIC \\pspacs	S Internet	Evolution		2/15/2010 1	47 AM	ch. V		-
TUBLIC 2 \\pspa 🗸	<				at r aprov	>		BROWSE
Filer	name:		~ All	Files (*.*)		~		
				Open	Cancel			
							<u>a</u>].	
	495719 >	2269 D 061121	Processed	51				
	495190 >	2269 C 06.04.21	Processed	5:				
	495188 >	2269 D 06.04.21	Processed	11				7_
				Cancel				Next

When the file to import is located, Click "**Open.**" The file will show in the Chose file for upload field. Employer will want to identify the file for late by changing the description.

Upload a File	2
0	2
Import Selection	Confirmation
File Type*	_
Choose file for upload * KP-RU1006 WORK REPORT TEST1.txt	BROWS
Description#	
Work Report test	

The Description entered in this step will be what appears on the Imports and Work Reports page to quickly identify imported files.

Click the "**Next**" button at the bottom right of the screen to continue.

Upload a File		×	
Import Selection	2 Confirmation		Poviow File Type, File Name and Description
File Type Work Report Filename KP-RU1006 WORK REPORT TEST1.txt			then click "CONFIRM."
Description Work Report test			User will receive a message "Your Import file been submitted."
			Sour Import file has been submitted X
Cancel	Previous	onfirm	

To view the file, Return to Import History and click on the ID# for the import. It should be the first file listed on the page.

Employer Info Documents	Import History								
2 Roster	Filter: Impor	Filter: Import Start Date (01/18/2023 💿							
U Work Reports	ID	Description	Header Status	Process Flag					
Import Files	<u>568118</u> >	Work Report test	Validated with Errors	Validated					
Transactions	<u>568035</u> >	R001200	Voided	Completed (
Eorms and Penorts	<u>568018</u> >	Test 1 52023	Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors (

Clicking ID will open the file which has two boxes to review before processing the file. If you see the message below, your file is still being uploaded, please wait until the process is complete.

ld 573503	Import Header Status Validated with Exceptions	R 9
Description demographic		L K
Your file is currently being p	rocessed. You will be notified when this has been completed	ł.

Below are the two boxes for viewing and review your imported file. These boxes must be reviewed prior to submitting your import to PSERS to avoid errors in reporting that will require corrections later.

The Import Summary box displays:

Import Summary						
ld 566068	Import Header Status Processed with Exceptions	Rows Imported	Invalid Rows	Valid Rows 1892	Rows Deleted 15	Rows Added O
Description RSD February 2023 Work Report		Last Updated By DRODRIGUEZ2			Last Updated On 03/15/2023 12:14:59 PM	

NOTE: It is important to review and **verify the Header Row processed successfully**. See *Header Row Error Correction* later in this manual for help in correcting header row.

Rows Imported, Valid Rows, Rows deleted, Rows added.

Rows Imported	Invalid Rows	Valid Rows	Rows Deleted	Rows Added
12	0	11		

NOTE: The number of rows imported includes the header row and will be one number higher than the combination of valid and invalid rows. Invalid rows will need to be addressed. Please see *Error Correction* found later in this manual for how to correct invalid rows.

The Import Details box displays:

A Home	Import Files / File Details			Validate E
Employer Info				
Documents	Hie Details Hie Header			
Roster				
UWork Reports				
 Import File Transactic s 	Import Details			Edit : T
Forms and Reports	SSN Errors Numb Status Delett SSN	Member Eliscal Year Ending	Wage El Work Status	BASE LI URCC LI
🖓 FAQs	2 Not Processed No 200620123	11041972 2021	Hourly ACTIVE - Actively Working	1000.00 0.00 •
- Contact Us	3 Not Processed No 199724123	11111986 2021	Salaried ACTIVE - Actively Working	1000.00 0.00
	4 Not No 198745123 Processed	11161993 2021	Salaried ACTIVE - Actively Working	1000.00 0.00
	5 Not No 197589123 Processed No 197589123	11091966 2021	Salaried ACTIVE - Actively Working	1000.00 0.00
	6 Not 196605123 Processed No 196605123	11221954 2021	Salaried ACTIVE - Actively Working	1000.00 0.00
	7 Not Processed No 195766123	11141994 2021	Hourly ACTIVE - Actively Working	1000.00 0.00
	Not		ACTIVE - Actively	•••••

The following are descriptions of the Work Report's columns **prior** to processing.

Actions: Indicates if an Error/Warning occurs on the row

Error: Indicates if the row has an error or a warning. **ERRORS** must be corrected prior to submitting and processing file. If errors are not corrected the row containing the error will drop from file and not be sent to PSERS. **WARNINGS** must be reviewed for accuracy. If the information is correct, there is no need to change it will be submitted to PSERS. **Sequence:** Signifies the order of information on the file

Detail Status: Validated Successfully – sequence is ready to process.

Validated with Errors – sequence has errors to be corrected before processing

Delete: "Yes" for row deleted or "No"

Social Security Number: Can be edited within the Work Report Record window. If this information does not match, verify demographic information in ESS with employment files.

Date of Birth: Can be edited within the Work Report Record window. If this information does not match, verify demographic information in ESS with employment files.

YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): A fiscal year starts July 1st and ends June 30th. Enter the ending year of the fiscal year in which the salary and service was **earned** (not paid). Enter the fiscal year in YYYY format, with no spaces, dashes, or other characters.

 If an employee is getting paid for two different fiscal years on one monthly work report, two records must be submitted. In July, August and September the work report permits two fiscal year reporting. All other months will require a work history adjustment be completed for the second FY reporting.

 Contract settlements must be reported in the correct fiscal year(s). Therefore,

- If a settlement is for the current fiscal year, you can include it in your current work report.
- If the settlement is for a prior fiscal year(s) and is paid in the current/different fiscal year, a Work History Adjustment must be submitted for the correct fiscal year(s) that the contract settlement applies to so that the correct Employer Share cost is calculated.

Wage Type: Select "**Hourly**," "**Per Diem**," or "**Salary**" from the drop-down menu based on how this position is paid. This information must match the current or most recent open active contract record for the employee. If not an error of "No Contract Record on file" will occur.

Work Status: Select the appropriate Work Status from the drop-down menu. This information must match the current or most recent open active contract record for the employee. If not an error of "No Contract Record on file" will occur.

BASE: Enter the employee's base salary earned during the period being reported. Do not include any earnings above the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations (see *EXSAL* for more information). Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

EXAMPLE: If the employee earned \$1,233.00, enter: 1233.00.

URCC (Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation): The Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation value equals the difference between the member's contracted salary

and the actual wages paid to the school employee while on a contributing leave of absence. Enter any salary/wages that were not paid due to a **contributing leave of absence**, but on which contributions were paid by the employee. Enter the amount up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

If you are paying partial salary to the employee during the leave, enter the actual amount you pay into the BASE field. In the URCC field, enter the *difference* between the actual amount you pay the employee and the full, regular salary the employee would have earned if not on leave. Contributions must be made on the employee's full, regular salary.

EXAMPLE: An employee with a 7.5%-member contribution rate who normally earns \$3,500 per month is earning \$2,000 per month while on sabbatical. Enter 2000.00 in the **BASE** field and 1500.00 in the **URCC** field. Calculate contributions based on \$3,500 and enter the amount due (262.50) into the **CONTRIB** field.

OT (Overtime): Enter any compensation paid to the employee over and above the regular salary **for additional hours worked**. Do not include any earnings above the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations (See *EXSAL* for more information). Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

SUP (Supplemental): Enter any compensation paid to the employee over and above the regular salary, **for additional duties performed**. Service time over the employee's regular hours associated with the additional duties should also be entered when entering any Supplemental wages. Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

NOTE: Only enter earnings into this field if they are eligible for retirement contributions.

EXAMPLE: Use this field to enter earnings from a part-time hourly or per diem position who worked in addition to a salaried position. In this case, enter the supplemental hours worked in the HRS (Hours) field or the supplemental days worked in the DAYS field. Include contributions on the Supplemental wages in the CONTRIB (Contributions) field.

CONTRIB (Contributions): This section does not apply to DC only employees. Their contributions field will be left blank. Enter the contributions withheld from the employee's paycheck based on their DB member contribution rate for the member's class. Contributions must be calculated on the combined total amount entered in all the following fields: BASE, SUP (Supplemental), OT (Overtime), and URCC (Unpaid
Retirement Covered Compensation). Enter the amount up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

HRS (Hours): Enter the number of hours the school employee worked during the reporting month. If the employee is on an approved leave of absence, enter the number of hours the school employee would have worked if the employee was not on leave.

DAYS: Enter the number of days the school employee worked during the reporting month. If the employee is on an approved leave of absence, enter the number of days the school employee would have worked if the employee was not on leave. If reporting for a salaried employee all days may be reported on the June work report. Terminating salaried employees require their days to be reported on their final work report. WNC (Wages No Contributions): Enter the employee's base salary earned during the period being reported. This field is used for nonqualified part time employees, noncontributing leaves, and uncredited school service reason code adjustments. Do not include any earnings above the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations (see *EXSAL* for more information). Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

EXAMPLE: If the employee earned \$1,233.00, enter: 1233.00. **POS (Purchase of Service):** Enter any payroll deductions from the member's salary to satisfy a purchase of service debt.

EXSAL (Excess Salary): Enter any compensation more than the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations. The earnings limitation under 401(a)(17) is an annual limitation on what PSERS can recognize as retirement-covered compensation. This limitation is set by the IRS annually and is announced for the calendar year in which such fiscal year begins. If an employee earns more in a fiscal year than the limit, all salary that exceeds this limit should be reported in the EXSAL (Excess Salary) field on the employee's Work Report Records for the remainder of that fiscal year. No retirement contributions should be made on this excess salary. Any member who was enrolled prior to July 1, 1996, regardless of a break in service or membership, is not subject to the compensation limits set forth by the Internal Revenue Service in IRC Section 401(a)(17).

NRCC (Non-Retirement Covered Compensation): This field is optional. Enter any unqualified compensation as defined in *the Reporting – Retirement Covered Compensation* section of the Policy Employer Reference Manual. If you want to ensure that all salaries, qualified or unqualified, are mapped to a specific wage field within the monthly work report, this field gives you the ability to capture the values paid, but not eligible for retirement contribution deductions. See PSERS Policy Manual for Retirement Covered Compensation.

Each Column on imported files with the sort button

First Name = 1 may be used to sort

in ascending or descending order by clicking on the column header.

The sort may be removed by clicking the "X" in the grey bubble found under Import Details title.

Import Details
Sort: First Name (Ascending) 😒

Header Row Error Correction

Files are accepted into ESS even if there is a corrupted file header row. In this situation the Import Summary box will show the header row has been Validated with Errors or Warnings.

PSERS	1 1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT	1.00	5. 			
🕈 Home 🏛 Employer Info	Import Files / File Details File Details - File Details					
Documents	Import Summary					
Work Reports	M 497003	Import Heater Status Validaced with Errors	Rows imported 8	treated Rower S	Valid Rows 2	Road Deleted
Transactions	Import Details					
Forms and Reports FAQs	Actions Sequence Detail Status	Deleted? SSN	Last Name	First Name	Middle Name	Suffix S

At this point, rows included in the file have not been reviewed against the rest of the system validations. The header must be corrected to continue. If a file is processed with a Header row error no records will be transmitted to PSERS.

To view Header row error, click "File Header" button.

Import Files / Fi	le Header		Validate	E More
File Details	File Header			
Import Head	ler		Edit	T Riters
Actions	Sequence Number Detail Status	Header		
Error/Warnings	1 Errors -	D005525000008010120171401		

Click "Error/Warnings" to view error.

ctions	Sequence Number	Detail Statu	s	He	ader			
or/Warnings		Validated	Import I	Detail Err	ror			×
			Row 1	Type Error	Seq No 1	Exception Filter	Message Employer code does not match record on file	Attribute Name

Review error message in window and then "X" out to begin correction.

In order make a change the "Edit" button in the right-hand corner must be selected

Import Files / File	e Header			Validate	1 More
File Details	File H	leader		_	
Import Head	er			Edit	The state
Actions	Sequence Number	Detail Status	Header		
Error/Warnings	1	Validated With Errors 👻	D005525000008010120171401		
4					- F

A new window will open permitting the Header field correction. Sometimes this field will have extra blank spaces behind the title that may interfere with the validation process. These extra spaces should be deleted.

Nence Index Validated With Erro = D005525000008010120171401	ort Head	lers		
Validated With Emp - 0005525000008010120171401	equence Jumber	Detail Status	Header	
		Validated With Erro	D005525000008010120171401	

When corrected, click the "**Apply**" button wait for the system to validate your change. Once the Header Detail Status shows as "**Validated Successful**." click "**Save**" to save changes. Employers should wait for the 2nd green message before attempting to make additional changes to the file.



Remember to validate the entire file again after correcting the Header Row Error by clicking "**Validate**" in the upper right corner.

_				
Imj	oort Files / File He	ader	Validate	Me
R	le Details File He	ader		
Ir	nport Header		Edit	Filters
Si N	equ Detail um Status ^{±‡}	Header El		
1	Validated Successful	8005045032023000015000015000.0000000000.0000000000.00000000		

The ESS system will check the specific file records to see if they validate.

Return to File Details to review individual row validations.



File Error Correction

It is best to determine which error Correction method is beneficial. If there are only a few errors the Row-by-Row correction would save time. If there are several errors with the same error, the filter error correction Method would be optimal. See below for instructions on each method of correction.

Row-by-Row File Error Correction

To complete error correction(s) row by row, locate the rows containing an error by using the column sort feature in the Detail Status column.

Import Detai	ls				
Sort: Detail Statu	is (Des <mark>r</mark> a	ending)	8		
Actions	Erros	Seque Numb	Detail Status ±↑	Deete	SS
Errors/Warnings	Error	13	With Errors	No	19
Errors/Warnings	Error	14	Validated With Errors	No	18
Errors/Warnings	Error	16	Validated With Errors	No	19

To determine why the row did not validate successfully, click the "**Error/Warnings**" in the Action Column.



A new window will open displaying the error/warning.

	Import E	rrors ar	nd Exce	ptions (for more information, click the "?")	Ì
Impor	Seq No	Туре	Row	Message	
Sort: E	13	Error	1	Member Demographic Record File must be sent and processed prior to receiving and processing the Contract Record File	
Actions	En	ors Numb	Status		

After determining the reason for the validation errors, close the window using the "X" in the upper right-hand corner of the window.

To begin the correction(s), click the "**Edit**" action button in the upper right of the Import Details box.

Import Detail	S s (Descending)	8					Edit Min Filters
Actions	Errors Sequ Num	e Detail b Status ≐↑	Delet	€ SSN ≟Ĵ	Last Name \exists 1	First Name 💷	Birth Date 🗐
Errors/Warnings	Error 13	Validated With Errors	No	198524123	OLLY	Test	11231986
Errors/Warnings	Error 14	Validated With	No	189237123	SCOTT	TEST	11101976

The selected row will remain outlined. Proceed to edit the file and make corrections by using the scroll bar to reach the column(s) where correction is required.

Import Details							Add Row Filters ×
Sort: Detail Status (Desce	ending) 🔇						
Actions	Errors	eque Detail	.† Dele	te SSN ≘‡	Last Name $\exists 1$	First Name	Birth D
: Errors/Warnings	Error	Validate 3 With Errors		198524123	OLLY	Test	112319
Errors/Warnings	Error	Validate 4 With Errors		189237123	SCOTT	TEST	111015
Errors/Warnings	Error	Validate 6 With Errors		193682123	WAR	Test	<u>110719</u>
:	1	2 Validate Success	u D	198620123	BATISTA	Test	<u>110419</u>
:	3	Validate Success	a 🗆	160724123	BELICK	Test	111115
:	4	Validate Success		177745123	BERESNIEWICZ	Test	111619
:	-	Validate Success	d ul	172589123	GLAZE	Test	110915
4						c	ancel Save Apply

If a row needs to be deleted, click the three dots next to the "**Error/Warnings**" in the Actions Column to expose the "**Delete**" button.



NOTE: It is important to "Apply" after deleting a row to re-validate the Header Row Detail Count. If validation does not occur, the Header Row will show with Errors and the file will not process successfully.

To add a missed row, click "Add Row" in the upper right corner of the edit window.



NOTE: It is important to "Apply" after adding a row to re-validate the Header Row Detail Count. If validation does not occur, the Header Row will show with Errors and the file will not process successfully.

Click "**Save**" when all corrections are completed, or the user must leave the file and finish corrections later.



Your selected Sort or Filter will still be applied. To remove the sort or filter click the "X" in the grey bubble.



Filtered Error Correction

It is recommended filtered error correction be used if there are several errors on the file with the same error type. This allows an employer to research a specific error type all at once. Click the "**Filter**" button in the upper right corner of the import details box.



A filter and sort menu will open. "**Errors**" followed by error types will be the default selection. Only errors that occur on this report will be listed.

Filter by				
Errors/Warnings				
None				
Any				
Any Error				
Any Exception	lf you are lookir	ha for ad	Iditional filters	i usa th
Any Informational	scroll bar Belov	v is the liv	st of Filter Ont	tions
ERR- Member Demographic Record File must be sent and processed prior				10113.
ERR- No valid member contract found for the	Sequence Number	~	URCC	
report period/fiscal year	Detail Status	~	ОТ	
ERR- Wage type does not match member contract	Deleted?	~	SUP	
0.11				
ERR- Contribution Rate Must Be different	Member SSN	~	CONTRIB	
ERR- Contribution Rate Must Be different ERR- Hours must be greater than zero	Member SSN Member Name	~	CONTRIB Hours	
ERR- Contribution Rate Must Be different ERR- Hours must be greater than zero	Member SSN Member Name Member DOB	* * *	CONTRIB Hours Days	
ERR- Contribution Rate Must Be different ERR- Hours must be greater than zero Sequence Number	Member SSN Member Name Member DOB Fiscal Year Ending	~ ~ ~	CONTRIB Hours Days WNC	
ERR- Contribution Rate Must Be different ERR- Hours must be greater than zero Sequence Number	Member SSN Member Name Member DOB Fiscal Year Ending Wage Type	~ ~ ~ ~	CONTRIB Hours Days WNC POS	
ERR- Contribution Rate Must Be different ERR- Hours must be greater than zero Sequence Number	Member SSN Member Name Member DOB Fiscal Year Ending Wage Type Work Status	~ ~ ~ ~	CONTRIB Hours Days WNC POS EXSAL	

Select "**Any**" to display all Invalid (Errors) or Exception (Warning) messages within the file. Or select a specific item to show only records with that type of error or warning.

Followed by the "**Apply**" action button.



The Import Details page will display the filter in a grey bubble letting the user know a filter is in place.

	Import Detail	s						
	Filter: Errors/Warn	nings (An						
	Actions	Errors	Seque Numb	Detail Status	Delete	Member SSN	ΞĴ	Member Name $\exists \hat{\downarrow}$
	Errors/Warnings	Error	3	Validated With	No	160724123		BELICK, TEST

Click "**Edit**" to begin the correction process and continue with correcting the errors/warnings as instructed above in the row-by-row instructions.

Import Detai	S	Edit	: More Filters
Actions	ngs(Any) ③ Errors Seque Detail = 〕 Delet: Member = 〕 Numb Status = 〕 Delet: SSN = 〕 Member Name = 〕	Member Ending E V W	age ≞‡ Wo
Errors/Warnings	Validated Error 3 With No 160724123 BELICK, TEST Errors	11111986 2023 S	laried LEA List

Validating and Processing a File

Once all corrections are complete, the file needs to be Validated ensuring the corrections have eliminated all errors on the file. Validation checks that the records in the uploaded file are in the correct format and that all necessary information is included and matches the most recent open active contract for each employee. Any records that do not pass the validation check should be reviewed and corrected before the file can be submitted to PSERS.

Click "Validate" in the upper most right corner of the page.

🛅 1006 - ABC SCHO	OL DISTRICT						LYNN LT	ofile Logout
Import Files / File Deta	ails						Validate	Nire
File Details	File Header							
Import Summary								Filters
ld 497241	Import Header Status Validated with Errors	Rows Imported	Invalid Rows 5	Valid Rows 10	Rows Deleted	Rows Added	Description R001006	
Import Details							Edit	Filters

While the file is validating there will be a red message displayed as a reminder the system is working and the file cannot be accessed until validation is completed.



A green message will appear acknowledging the validation is complete.



NOTE: If records were added to or deleted from the report prior to saving, the validation will stop at the Header Record row for a Detail Record Count error.



The detail count within the header record will need to be corrected as described earlier in this manual. The file will need validated again so that the detail records re-validate.

To process the file and send it to PSERS

locate the three dots beside the Validation button in the upper right corner and click on the dots to reveal the "**Process**" action button.

🖿 1006 - ABC	SCHOOL DIST	IRICT		LYNN	LT User Profile	Đ Logout
Import Files / Fi	ile Header				Validat	More.
File Details	File F	Header			ļ	_
Import Head	der					5
Actions	Sequence Number	Detail Status	Header	LYNN User Prof	ile Loj	gout
Error/Warnings	1	Validated With Errors 👻	C00100600800008010120151034	Validat	Deer	
4				Tanual	Proc	.855
OTE: †	ne " V	' oid '' actio	n button is also found		Void	1

NOTE: the "**Void**" action button is also found under the three dots. This can only be done **before** a file has been approved for submission to PSERS. The file will show as "Initial" status. Use "**Void**" if a file contains too many errors to correct or is blank and you want to delete it.



T

Filters

Edit

A green message will show while file is processing and a second one after the file has successfully processed.

	✓ Import Header Queued for Processing ×	_
) In	nport "Work Report" (568127) Process action completed.	×

Employers will also notice a red message advising the file has processed and no further changes including voiding the file may occur.

This file can no longer be edited, since it has been submitted to PSERS.	

If changes are required after a file has been submitted a work history adjustment will need to be processed after this file shows "**Released**". See How Are Work History Adjustments Submitted to PSERS later in this manual.

After successfully processing the file upload, it will appear as "**Processed Successfully**" in the Header Status of the Imports Summary box.



When viewing the file on the Imports Page the Header Status Column and Process Flag column should be reviewed to ensure the file shows "**Processed Successfully**" and "**Completed**". This indicates your file has been submitted and has no errors.

	Import His	story		
Roster	Filter: Import S	5tart Date (01/22/2	023 🕲	
Work Reports	ID	Description	Header Status	Process Flag
Import Files	575165 >		Processed with Errors	Processed with Errors
Transactions	572762 >		Processed Successfully	Completed
Forms and Reports	<u>570004</u> >		Processed with Exceptions	Completed

Uploads showing "**Processed with Errors**" in both the Header and Process Flag columns have not been submitted to PSERS. Files will need to be reloaded and errors corrected, or work history adjustments will need to be completed to have wages and service reported for employees on this file.

Uploads showing "**Processed with Exceptions**" in the Header Status indicates an exception or warning was successfully processed on this file. These exceptions should be reviewed prior to processing as they are a possible typo or error in reporting.

Uploaded Work Reports and adjustments may also be viewed on the Work Reports Page.

Employer Info Documents	Wor	rk Reports (including	g Adjustments)			
Destar	lter	: Activity Date (07/21/2022 to	07 🛞			
Work Reports	C	Posting Date	Activity Date 🗐	Trans # ≟Ĵ	Туре	Identifier
A Import Files		<u>07/12/2023</u> >	06/01/2023	2662681	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-06
Transactions		<u>06/07/2023</u> >	05/01/2023	2650858	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-05
Forms and Peparts		<u>05/08/2023</u> >	05/08/2023	2642401	WH Adj.	POS Adjustment
		<u>05/01/2023</u> >	05/01/2023	2640224	WH Adj.	POS Adjustment
? FAQs		<u>04/28/2023</u> >	04/01/2023	2639619	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-04

It is important for an employer to verify reports have been successfully processed by viewing the Report Status Column on the <u>Work Reports Page</u> after PSERS has released files. PSERS releases files midday and overnight. Reports will appear as "Initial", "Pending" or "Released".

Posting Date	Trans #	Туре	ldentifier	Status	Report Status
<u>12/28/2021</u> >	2476728	WH Adj.	Cor Amons 2567	Open	Pending
<u>12/28/2021</u> >	2476697	WH Adj.	COR Rutledge 0234 FY 2001	Open	Pending
<u>12/27/2021</u> >	2476664	WH Adj.	Cor Lancaster 7262 FY10-13	Closed	Released
<u>12/23/2021</u> >	2475817	WH Adj.	SDPADJNOVWR7915RB	Open	Initial

Reports in "**Initial**" status have not yet been submitted for processing and may still have changes or edits completed. Reports in "**Pending**" status have been submitted for processing and may no longer have changes or edits made. Reports in "**Released**" status have been accepted by PSERS and may no longer be edited or deleted.

PSERS releases reports midday and overnight.

From time to time an employer may make a change to a contract record **BEFORE** verifying their work report has been released. This will bounce a work report back into "Initial" status because the work report contract information no longer matches for that employee. Contact your ESC Representative for corrective actions.

Can I continue working on my file later?

Yes. If you are working within your file and realize that you can't complete it during this sitting be sure to "**Apply**" all edits made, "**Save**", and "**X**" out of the import details.





PSERS Monthly Work Report (DB)

Member demographic and contract record changes must be entered and processed in ESS prior to submitting the PSERS monthly work report. The PSERS Work Report includes all members, even if an employee is part of Class DC or a part time employee who has not yet qualified for membership. However, only the defined benefit (DB) contributions are reported alongside the wages on the PSERS work report. For more information on Defined Contribution (DC) reporting to Voya, please review the Voya PayCloud User Guide, located on the PSERS website under the Employer tab, in the DC Plan/Voya Resources section.

Each month employers are required to report <u>all</u> eligible school employees' wages to PSERS, including all part-time employees and any **Class DC only employees**.

Employers may exclude employees who have been approved to waive PSERS membership, or PSERS retirees working under one of the six Return to Service exceptions under the provisions of Act 2004-63. More information on Return to Service can be found in the *Return to Service Exceptions* publication found on the PSERS website under Publications.

All eligible school employees' retirement-covered compensation is needed for calculating the blended employer rate, which is calculated across payroll for all classes, and assists in reconciliation of information reported to Voya for the DC component of membership classes TG, TH and DC.

Work reports may be submitted through an upload process or by creating a manual work report via Employer Self-Service (ESS) by the 10th of each month and then approved/submitted to PSERS no later than the 20th of the month for the prior month's activity. PSERS recommends employers submit work reports prior to the due date for Member (Employee) Contributions and Member (Employee) Purchase of Service Installment amounts due. When a work report is submitted, PSERS calculates the amount due charged to the Employer's PSERS Account. This knowledge will aid with timely and accurate payment submissions and will enable PSERS to apply the total billed amounts accurately on the Transactions Page and the monthly Statement of Account.

How are Work Reports Submitted to PSERS?

All work reports are submitted to PSERS through the ESS system in one of two methods.

- Manual Report created through the Work Reports Page by entering work history data into the ESS system one row at a time. See below for instructions on entering a Manual Work Report.
- 2. **Upload File** created by employers HR/Payroll system and uploaded through the Import Files Page. See Importing/Uploading a File found earlier in this manual for instructions.

Creating a Manual Work Report:

Some employers prefer or need to enter their Work Report Records manually rather than uploading a file to PSERS. Small employers, who do not have a payroll/HR software system to create importable files, typically use this option. Creating a manual work report means manually entering the work records for each member by keying the data into the system.

From the Work Reports Page

A PSERS	1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT) 1006-ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT								
A Home	Your ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN									
Employer Info Documents	Enployer Info Work Reports (including Adjustments) Manual Work Report									
E Roster	Fiber: Type (All Work Reports)									
Work Reports	Posting Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Report Status				
 Import Files 	<u>12/01/2021</u> >	2419330	WH Adj.	ADJUSTMENT #1	Open	Released				

select the "Manual Work Report" Action button in the upper right corner of the screen.

The Create Manual Work Report window will open.

Create Manual Work Report		×
1	2	
Dates	Confirmation	
Importa	ant Note:	
You are creating a <u>Manual Work Report</u> , not a Work Histo instead, press <i>Cancel</i> below and click the "Manual Adjust	ory Adjustment. If you wish to create an Adjustment ment" action.	
Identifier Billing Report 4/30/2023		
Report Start Date 04/01/2023		
Report Stop Date 04/30/2023		
Last Report Date March 2023		
Agreement Name MASTER AGREEMENT		
	_	
	ſ	
Cancel		Next
,	eet is to be the	

A Red message identifies the employer is creating a Manual Work Report and not an Adjustment. The system auto fills the next monthly work report based on the date of the last processed work report. Click "**Next**" to view Report Start Date, Report Stop Date, and the last processed monthly report.



A green message will populate stating you have created a new Manual Work Report



The new work report will appear on the list of reports on the Work Reports Page and show a report status of "**Initial**". Click on the Posting date of the new report.

Posting Date	Activity Date $\exists 1$	Trans # \pm	Туре	Identifier	Status	Report Status
<u>07/21/2023</u> >	04/01/2023	2639387	WH Report	Billing Report 4/30/2023	Ope	Initial
<u>07/21/2023</u> >	03/01/2023	2639386	WH Report	Billing Rpt 2023-03	Open	Pending

Work Report Details will open. A red alert message populate to advise you are creating a manual work report and not an adjustment. This report will be used as the only Monthly Work Report for this reporting period.

Work Reports / Work Report Details			Validate	More
Work Report Details Work Report Summary	Work Report Transaction Details			
Work History Exceptions Count Sur	nmary			
Validation	Туре	Count #		
No data lounu				
This is a work report submission, not an adju	stment. Please verify that you intend to submit a work report.	If not, delete this report and create an adjustment instead.		•
This is a work report submission, not an adju Work History	stment. Please verify that you intend to submit a work report.	If not, delete this report and create an adjustment instead.	Edit :	Filters
This is a work report submission, not an adju Work History Errors 는 I SSN 는 I Name 는 I	istment. Please verify that you intend to submit a work report. Wage 는 I FY 는 I Work Status 는 I Type	If not, delete this report and create an adjustment instead. Base EI URCC EI OT EI SUPP EI CONTRI	Edit More	▼ Filters C 三↑ PC

Click "Edit" in the Work History box to begin entering data.

A new window will open, click the three dots in top right corner. Select "Add Member" to add a row or "Delete Selected" to remove a row



Do not select "Add Ten Members" unless you have ten members to add. This will cause errors in your report.

Enter the Social Security number of your employee in the Search/SSN column.

Edit	Work Histo	ry Details							
	Errors =1	Search/SSN 🗐	Name 🗐	Wage Type ∃↓ F	Y≞Ĵ	Work Status ^{≞‡}	Base ≞‡	URCC 🗐	OT≞‡
Tot	al for All Recor	ra					\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00

The search results will pop open a window.

Edit Work H	listory	Details												
Erro	rs Se	arch/SSN		Name	Wage Indicator	Wage Type	Work Status	FY	ł	Base	URCC	от	SUPP	HRS
	12	15010025	0											
Total for A	l Record	5							S	0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	0
														-
									Search	n			×	
										Sort Na	ame	SSN	Birth Date	_
									0	SAPPH	IRE, JANE	XXX-XX-0025	10/10/1980	

Click the radio dot to add the member. The Name, SSN and Birth Date columns will populate.

Continue completing each required field until all information to be reported for this member has been added. The Tab Key may be used to move across the row quickly. For field descriptions see *Work Report Record Fields* found later in this manual.

Edi	t Work H	listory Details	5															More Fil	r ×
	Errors	Search/SSN		Name	Wage Indicator	Wage Type	Work Status	FY	Base	URCC	ОТ	SUPP	HRS	DAYS	WNC	POS	CONTRIB	EXSAL	NRCC
		XXX-XX-002:	0	SAPPHIRE, JANE	Yes 👻	Hourly +	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	2021	\$100.00				10				\$7.50		
Total	for All Re	cords							\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	0	0	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00

After adding each employee click "**Apply**", this will validate all information before moving on to the next row. Repeat the process to "**Add Member**" for the next employee to be reported.

If after hitting Apply, you see an Exclamation Point in a Circle in the Error column, there is an error on the file that requires correction before moving on to the next row. Click the Exclamation point to see the error.

Edit V	Vork History	Details								: More
ſ	Errors	Search/SSN 🗐 🕺 Nan	me≞‡ <mark>Wage</mark> ≞‡ FY≞‡	Work Status	Base ≞‡	URCC $\exists \ddagger$	OT ≞‡	SUPP \mathbb{R}^{1} contrib \mathbb{R}^{1} hrs \mathbb{R}^{1}	DAYS 🗄 🕽	v
D	0	00X-XX-9123 💿 GLA	AZE, Hourly 👻 2023	ACTIVE -	\$1,000.00			\$62.50		
10	tor Air Necords	Work History	Validations						×	
		Message Type	Error/Exception Message	2						
		Error	Wage type [HR] does not	: match memb	er contract [SA]				
		Error	Hours must be greater t	han zero if waş	ge type is Ho	urly and either	Contribution	n amount or WNC amount is greater	r than zero	
		For more inform	nation, click <u>here</u> .							
									Close	

After the error is determined close Work History Validation window and scroll to error column and correct data.

If there is a triangle with an Exclamation point in the Error column, there is an Exception or Warning on your record. Click the triangle to view the warning.

Edit Work History Details			
Errors I Search/SSN I Name I	Wage Type ≟I FY ≟I	Work Base URCE OT SUPPER CONTRIBERING	DAYS
XXX-XX-9123 • GLAZE, TEST	Salaried - 2023	ACTIVE - \$1,000.00 \$62.50	320.00
Tot I for All Reords	Work History Va	alidations ×	320.00
	Message Type	Error/Exception Message	
	Warning	Verify Days: January - June Work Reports can not report more than 280 days	
	For more informat	close	

After reviewing the warning, close the Work History Validations window, review data and determine if information is correct. If correct, the information should remain, if it is not correct, change the data to the correct information. After each employee has been added and all errors have been corrected it is time to save the report.

it Work Histo	ory Details														More	Titters X
ort: Search/SSN (As	cending) 💮															
Errors	Search/SSN 个	Name	Wage Type	FY	Work Status	Base	URCC	OT	SUPP	CONTRIB	HRS	DAYS	WNC	POS	EXSAL	NRCC
	XXX-XX-5123	GUERRERO, TEST	Salaried 👻	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +					\$6.25						
	XXX-XX-5123	BERESNIEWICZ, TEST	Salaried 👻	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working *	\$1,000.00				\$6.25						
	X000-X00-9123	GLAZE, TEST	Salaried +	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	\$1,000.00				\$6.25						
	X0X-XX-0123	BATISTA, TEST	Salaried +	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	\$1,000.00				\$6.25						
Total for All Rec	cords					\$3,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	0	0	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
															Cancel 4	vp Sa

Click "Save" to leave edit mode and return to Work Report Details

NOTE: If you have records that are marked as "**Warnings**," these rows will still process and be submitted to PSERS. If records are marked as "**Errors**," the report will not be available for processing. All errors must be corrected before the file may be submitted.

Work History Exceptions Count Summary will show all errors and exceptions on file.

Work Reports / Work Report Details				Validate	More
Work Report Details Work Report Summary Work Report Transactio	n Details				
Work History Exceptions Count Summary					
Validation		Туре	Count #		
ERR- Hours must be greater than zero		Error	1		
ERR- Wage type does not match member contract		Error	1		
This is a work report submission, not an adjustment. Please verify th	hat you intend to submit a work report. If not, delete this rep	port and create an adjustment instead.			
Work History			Edit	More	Filters
Sort: URCC (Ascending)					
Errors 🗄 SSN 🗄 🚺 Name 🗄 🛛	Wage ≟∏ FY ≟∏ Work Status ≟∏ Type	Base ≟1 URCC ≟↓ OT ≟1 SUPP ≟1	Contrib 🗐	HRS≞‡ D	AYS ≞‡

If an employer attempts to process a manual work report without correcting errors, they will see the following message.

Submit Work Report	×
Errors	
Please fix the error records before submitting the file.	
	Close

Window should be closed, by clicking "Close" and errors corrected.

If you have any questions regarding any error or warning messages, you can contact your Employer Service Center Representative.

After completing and correcting all the manual entries, it is a good Idea to validate the work report for one final error check. Click "**Validate**" in the upper right corner.

1006 - ABC SCHOOL DIS	TRICT																LYNN	LT User Pro	Hile Logout
Work Reports / Work Report	Details																Γ	Validate	E More
Work Report Details Work Re	port Summary Work	Report Transa	action Deta	ils													_		
Work History Exception	ns Count Summa	iry																	
Validation					Ту	be					G	ount #							
No data found																			
Work History																	Edit	E More	Filters
SSN	Name	Wage Type	FY	Work Status	Base	URCC	от	SUPP	CONTRIB	HRS	DAYS	WNC	POS	EXSAL	NRCC	Enroll Dt		Mem Class	DB Contrib Rt

To process/submit the file click the three dots in the upper right corner above More

V	alidate :	
	Submit	
	Delete	
	Comments	

You will be asked to confirm you are ready to process the manual work report.

Select "Submit"

Submit Work Report	×
Are you sure you want to submit this report?	
Cancel	Confirm

Click "Confirm" followed by close when window goes blank. Click "Close".

Work Report will appear on the Work Reports Page as "**Pending**" Report Status until PSERS Releases the report over midday or overnight.

Work Reports (including Adjustments)					al Work Report Manual Adjustment	Filters	0
Posting Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Report Status		
<u>11/18/2021</u> >	2414406	WH Report	Billing Report 11/30/2021	Open	Pending	ר	

Deleting an Unsubmitted Report

Only Reports showing in "initial" status may be deleted. Reports in a "**Pending**" or "**Released**" status may not be deleted. If errors are found after submitting a work report, an adjustment must be completed to correct the error after the original report has been released.

Delete an "**initial**" status work report by clicking the three dots beside the Validate action button.

Select "Delete" A confirmation window will open.



Validate : More	
Delete	
Comments	

Click "Yes" a green message will confirm the report's deletion.



Adding Comments to a Work Report

Comments may be added to a work report either before processing or after the report has been submitted to PSERS. Comments gives an employer a place to make notes on a work report or adjustment for future information. For example: making a note that a certain employee was on LEAVE and had half pay reported in monthly work report and half through an adjustment due to timing of the reporting might assist in account reconciliation later.

Adding comments while the report is in Initial status is done by clicking the three dots next to Validate.

Select "**Comments**" type in any notes for future reference or explanation.

Comments	T ×
To comment here, just enter below	
employee name was on Special Sick Leave for half month, reported additional SSLC wages on an adjustment	>
Maximum 4,000 characters allowed	_
	Close



Click Arrow to post the notes to report.

Once posted, notes may be edited or deleted by clicking "Edit" and "Delete" action buttons.

Comments (1) T ×
employee name was on Special Sick Leave for half month, reported additional SSLC wages on an adjustment 7/21/2023 at 12:45 PM
Edit Delete
Add a comment
Maximum 4,000 characters allowed
Close

Additional comments may also be added and posted to the report. This feature may be helpful for employers who have more than one staff member who works on reports.

To add comments for "Pending" or "Released" work reports click "comments" action button in the top right corner of the report.

Work Reports / Work Report Details	Comments
Work Report Details Work Report Summary Work Report Transaction Details	
Work History	Export Titers

Work Report Record Fields

Each Work Report Record contains the following fields:

Social Security Number: Can be edited within the Work Report Record window. If this information does not match, verify demographic information in ESS with employment files.

Date of Birth: Can be edited within the Work Report Record window. If this information does not match, verify demographic information in ESS with employment files. **YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending):** A fiscal year starts July 1st and ends June 30th. Enter the ending year of the fiscal year in which the salary and service was **earned** (not paid).

Enter the fiscal year in YYYY format, with no spaces, dashes, or other characters.

- If an employee is getting paid for two different fiscal years on one monthly work report, two records must be submitted. In July, August and September the work report permits two fiscal year reporting. All other months will require a work history adjustment be completed for the second FY reporting.
- Contract settlements must be reported in the correct fiscal year(s). Therefore,
 - If a settlement is for the current fiscal year, you can include it in your current work report.
 - If the settlement is for a prior fiscal year(s) and is paid in the current/different fiscal year, a Work History Adjustment must be submitted for the correct fiscal year(s) that the contract settlement applies to so that the correct Employer Share cost is calculated.

Wage Type: Select "**Hourly**," "**Per Diem**," or "**Salary**" from the drop-down menu based on how this position is paid. This information must match the current or most recent open active contract record for the employee. If not an error of "No Contract Record on file" will occur. Work Status: Select the appropriate Work Status from the drop-down menu. This information must match the current or most recent open active contract record for the employee. If not an error of "No Contract Record on file" will occur.
BASE: Enter the employee's base salary earned during the period being reported. Do not include any earnings above the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations (see EXSAL for more information). Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

EXAMPLE: If the employee earned \$1,233.00, enter: 1233.00.

This field must be higher than zero if **any** of the following is true:

URCC (Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation): The Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation value equals the difference between the member's contracted salary and the actual wages paid to the school employee while on a contributing leave of absence. Enter any salary/wages that were not paid due to a **contributing leave of absence**, but on which contributions were paid by the employee. Enter the amount up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

If you are paying partial salary to the employee during the leave, enter the actual amount you pay into the BASE field. In the URCC field, enter the *difference* between the actual amount you pay the employee and the full, regular salary the employee would have earned if not on leave. Contributions must be made on the employee's full, regular salary.

EXAMPLE: An employee with a 7.5%-member contribution rate who normally earns \$3,500 per month is earning \$2,000 per month while on sabbatical. Enter 2000.00 in the **BASE** field and 1500.00 in the **URCC** field. Calculate contributions based on \$3,500 and enter the amount due (262.50) into the **CONTRIB** field.

OT (Overtime): Enter any compensation paid to the employee over and above the regular salary **for additional hours worked**. Do not include any earnings above the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations (See *EXSAL* for more information). Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

SUP (Supplemental): Enter any compensation paid to the employee over and above the regular salary, **for additional duties performed**. Service time over the employee's regular hours associated with the additional duties should also be entered when entering any Supplemental wages. Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

NOTE: Only enter earnings into this field if they are eligible for retirement contributions.

EXAMPLE: Use this field to enter earnings from a part-time hourly or per diem position who worked in addition to a salaried position. In this case, enter the supplemental hours worked in the HRS (Hours) field or the supplemental days worked in the DAYS field. Include contributions on the Supplemental wages in the CONTRIB (Contributions) field.

CONTRIB (Contributions): This section does not apply to DC only employees. Their contributions field will be left blank. Enter the contributions withheld from the employee's paycheck based on their DB member contribution rate for the member's class. Contributions must be calculated on the combined total amount entered in all the following fields: BASE, SUP (Supplemental), OT (Overtime), and URCC (Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation). Enter the amount up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

HRS (Hours): Enter the number of hours the school employee worked during the reporting month. If the employee is on an approved leave of absence, enter the number of hours the school employee would have worked if the employee was not on leave.

DAYS: Enter the number of days the school employee worked during the reporting month. If the employee is on an approved leave of absence, enter the number of days the school employee would have worked if the employee was not on leave. If reporting for a salaried employee all days may be reported on the June work report. Terminating salaried employees require their days to be reported on their final work report. **WNC (Wages No Contributions)**: Enter the employee's base salary earned during the

period being reported. This field is used for nonqualified part time employees, noncontributing leaves, and uncredited school service reason code adjustments. Do not include any earnings above the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations (see *EXSAL* for more information). Enter the earnings up to 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2-cent digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the single decimal point.

EXAMPLE: If the employee earned \$1,233.00, enter: 1233.00. **POS (Purchase of Service):** Enter any payroll deductions from the member's salary to satisfy a purchase of service debt.

EXSAL (Excess Salary): Enter any compensation more than the IRS 401(a) (17) limitations. The earnings limitation under 401(a)(17) is an annual limitation on what PSERS can recognize as retirement-covered compensation. This limitation is set by the

IRS annually and is announced for the calendar year in which such fiscal year begins. If an employee earns more in a fiscal year than the limit, all salary that exceeds this limit should be reported in the EXSAL (Excess Salary) field on the employee's Work Report Records for the remainder of that fiscal year. No retirement contributions should be made on this excess salary. Any member who was enrolled prior to July 1, 1996, regardless of a break in service or membership, is not subject to the compensation limits set forth by the Internal Revenue Service in IRC Section 401(a)(17). **NRCC (Non-Retirement Covered Compensation): This field is optional.** Enter any unqualified compensation as defined in *the Reporting – Retirement Covered Compensation* section of the Policy Employer Reference Manual. If you want to ensure that all salaries, qualified or unqualified, are mapped to a specific wage field within the monthly work report, this field gives you the ability to capture the values paid, but not eligible for retirement contribution deductions. See PSERS Policy Manual for Retirement Covered Compensation.

Uploading a Work Report File

To upload the monthly report file generated by an employer HR/Payroll software, see instructions under *Importing/Uploading a File* found earlier in this manual.

If employers would like to submit work reports using an Excel template to create an unloadable file, contact your ESC Representative for a template.

Process files only after all necessary changes have been made because once a file is processed, it cannot be deleted or changed.

In an emergency, employers can contact their Employer Service Center Representative and request a file that was approved but is still in a "**Pending**" status be deleted. **This is only possible on the same day that the file is approved and if the file has not been released.** Once the file status is "**Released**", no one can delete it.

If an employer approves/submits a file with errors, those records with errors will NOT be **posted to the system.** Employers must create a work report adjustment file with the corrected information.

Delays in reporting/paying Member (Employee) Contributions may cause employers to be charged delinquency interest. If employers are late reporting or making payments, PSERS may apply a delinquency interest charge to employer's PSERS account for both the employer's and the employee's portion of the contributions. The delinquency interest is prorated for the number of days the payment was late.

Exporting a Work Report

Work Reports may be exported into Excel while in "Initial" status or after they are submitted and in "Pending" or "Released" status. This is preformed from the **Work Reports Page** of ESS.

Exporting a file to excel is useful when making several error corrections or to maintain a paper copy of reporting for future reference.

Exporting a work report while it is in "initial" status is done through the Work History details tab in the Work History box. Under the three dots above "More" is the "Export" action button.

Work History Exceptions Count Su	mmary		
Validation	Туре	Count #	
No data found			
This is a work report submission not an adju	iustment. Please verify that you intend to submit a work report. If not	delete this report and create an adjustment instage	
This is a work report submission, not an auj		delete this report and create an adjustment instead	1.
Work History			Ed Ed



Exporting a work report that has been submitted is completed from the Work Reports Details Tab Work History box. As shown above the file will appear in the lower left-hand corner of the screen.

Work Reports / Work Report Details	Com
Work History	Export



Work History Adjustments

Use Work History Adjustments when a correction is needed to an employee's wages, contributions, service time, or Member Purchase of Service Installment payments. Submit the Work History Adjustment Record as soon as the incorrect information in reporting is discovered. Reporting submitted must be reconciled between PSERS, the district payroll and reporting to the Third-Party Administrator of the Defined Contribution component. In other words, the wage, contribution, and service time totals must match in all systems for reporting time periods.

PSERS always requires that contributions be withheld on all qualifying wages (including salary that had not been previously reported to the system nor had contributions withheld). The additional wages and contributions associated with the correction may not result in the member receiving additional service credit unless the service had not been reported and/or the member has not already been credited with the maximum of 1.00 for the fiscal year.

If the Reason Code UNCRDT (Uncredited school service) is used, PSERS will not process the correction if the qualifying wage amount is less than or equal to \$15 and if less than 0.01 additional service would be credited for the year. When completing an adjustment, employers must report the **difference** between what was reported erroneously and what **should have been** reported. The employer will be responsible for collecting or refunding any member contributions associated with the salary correction for a member whether PSERS or the employer makes the required correction to previously reported retirement-covered compensation.

NOTE: If the employer cannot collect or refund the contributions, contact PSERS immediately to determine the best plan of action.

EXAMPLE: Employer submitted a Work Report for January that listed an employee's salary as \$1,000, but the employee really earned \$1,700. Correct this by submitting a Work History Adjustment with the BASE field set to \$700, so the net amount in the employee's account will be \$1,700. Always include the corresponding member contributions for the salary. Adjustments reflect amounts reported for a school year and not for a specific month.

A description of each of the adjustment fields is described in Work History Adjustment Record Fields later in this manual.

When to Submit a Work History Adjustment

Submit a Work History Adjustment if any of the following occurs:

- A retroactive lump sum adjustment needs to be made for an employee.
- An error was made in a previous report to PSERS, and this error cannot be corrected through employer payroll system in the same fiscal year the error occurred.
- An error was made in reporting an employee's information in a previous fiscal year.
- An employee's Member Purchase of Service Installment was reported incorrectly in a previous report.
- An employee's service time (days and/or hours) was reported incorrectly in a previous report.
- Arbitration is settled or court award settlement completed.
- A Work Report record was invalid for a member at the time of approval.
- NRCC was improperly reported as wages.

How Are Work History Adjustments Submitted to PSERS?

All Work History Adjustment Records are submitted to PSERS through the online system. When an employer discovers an error that needs to be corrected, they can choose to create Work History Adjustment Records manually or by importing a formatted file from their payroll/HR software system. There are two ways to submit adjustments to PSERS using the PSERS ESS online System:

- 1. Manual Report created in the Work Report Page by entering employee information into the system one row at a time. See below for instructions on a manual report.
- 2. File Upload imported on the Import Files Page by uploading a file that was exported from your payroll/HR software system. See Importing/Uploading a *File* earlier in this manual.

Create Manual Work History Adjustment

If employers need to submit a Work History Adjustment Record for one employee or only a few employees, they may prefer to enter these adjustments directly online rather than uploading a file to PSERS. This section describes how to create a manual work history adjustment.

From the Work Reports Page

🗯 PSERS	1006 - ABC SCHOOL DIS	1006 - ABC SCHOOL DISTRICT								
슈 Home	Your ESC Representative: WA	four ESC Representative: WADLEY, LYNN								
 Employer Info Documents 	Work Reports (includin	ng Adjustments)	Manual Work Rep	rt Manual Adjustment 📍 🗿						
2 Roster	Posting Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Report Status				
Work Reports	<u>12/01/2021</u> >	2419330	WH Adj.	ADJUSTMENT #1	Open	Released				
 Import Files 	<u>11/29/2021</u> >	2419325	WH Report	Billing Report 12/31/2021	Open	Initial				
Transactions Forms and Reports	<u>11/18/2021</u> >	2414406	WH Report	Billing Report 11/30/2021	Open	Released				

Select the "Manual Adjustment" action button in the upper right corner.

The Create Manual Work History Adjustment window will open.

Enter a description of the Adjustment in the Identifier field. If the employer does not change the description the default description will remain. The description should clearly reflect why the adjustment was created (this description will appear on the monthly Employer Statement of Accounts and the Transaction Page).

EXAMPLE: Jane Elk had two lines with the same wage type on the October Work Report, one line became invalid when the Work Report was processed. The description could be: "Adj ElkJane"



Green alert messages will confirm your adjustment has been created on the Work Reports Page.



The newly created adjustment will appear on the Work Reports Page

▲ Home	Your ESC Representative: Ta	our ESC Representative: Tapia-Ortiz, Daniel									
 Employer Info Documents 	Work Reports (includi	ng Adjustments)				Manual Work Report	Manual Adju	istment Filters	0		
🚊 Roster	Filter: Activity Date (07/21/202	2 to 07 🛞									
Work Reports	Posting Date	Ac vity Date 💷	Trans # 🗐	Туре	Identifier		Status	Report Status			
🛧 Import Files	07/21/2023 >	07 1/2023	2639391	WH Adj.	adjustment		Open	Initial			

Click on the Posting date to open adjustment.

Vork Reports / Work Report Details								
Work Report Details Work Report Summary Work Report Transaction Details								
Work History Exceptions Count Summary								
Validation Type Count #								
No data found								
Work History	Edit E	Filters						
SSN Name Reason Wage Contrib Payroll Wage FY Work Base URCC OT SUPP CONTRIB HRS DAYS WNC Indicator Withheld In Type FY Status	POS EXSAL	NRCC						

To begin entering data into the adjustment, click "**Edit**" in the Work History box upper right corner. A new window will open.

	Edit Work History Details			E T ×
	Errors 1 Search/SSN 1 Name 1 Reason 1 Mage Indicator Withhe	Payroll Id ≞î Corrected ≞î Wage ≞î FY ≞î In	Work Status =1 Base =1 URCC =1	
	No data found			
	<			Cancel Apply Save
Click the corner the	three dots in the upper right en select " Add Member ."	69-9727-40 Supp	19-a485-55e7b275ea76?barg_ur	it j • Q 🛠 🔅 🏝 🗄 it j • Q 🛠 🌸 🏝 🗄 it j • Para × Add Member Copy Selected Delete Selected Export Work History Details

Under the Search/SSN column enter the social security number of the first member to be reported on the adjustment.

Edit W	dit Work History Details							Mor	e Ribers	×			
	En rs 🗄 Search/SSN 🗄	lame ∃‡ Reason ∃‡	Wage Indicator	Contrib Withheld	Payroll Corrected In	↓ Wage Type	FYE	Work Status	Base 🗐		OT ≞‡	SUPP = 1	CONTI
	172589123	~	Ť	Ť	mm/dd/yyy	<u> </u>		Ť					
Total 1	for A Records								\$0,00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	
4													÷
											Cancel	Apply	Save

The match for the social security number will appear in a pop-up window.

Click on the radio dot to add the member to the adjustment. The member's name and social security number will auto populate.





The next seven fields are required fields.

The first required field is **Reason**. The most common reason code is "Payroll Correction." See Work History Adjustment Record Fields later in this manual to ensure correct reason is entered.

Using the Drop down select the appropriate reason code.

Wage Indicator is the second required field. Use the Drop-down menu to select "**Yes**" or "**No**" indicating if wages are being reported in this adjustment.



The third required field is **Contrib Withheld**. This indicates if contributions were withheld for the reporting on the adjustment.

Reason =	Wage Indicator	Contrib Withheld
Payroll Correction -	Yes v	Yes No

The fourth required field is **Payroll Corrected In** field.

Wage Indicator [≞] ‡	Contrit Withhe	o eld ≞‡	Pay Coi In	yroll rrecte	d ∃	⊥î W Ty	age pe
Yes 👻	Yes	Ŧ	mr	n/dd/	yy: (÷
	July 2	2023	•			<	>
	s	М	Т	W	Т	F	s
							1
	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
	16	17	18	19	20	21	22
	23	24	25	26	27	28	29
	30	31					

The fifth required field is **Wage Type**.

This field is only required for members in class TG, TH and DC.

The date may be entered manually without dashes (12012021)

Or

click on the calendar to enter the date.

See descriptions later in the manual to determine what date should be entered in this field.

Contrib Withheld	Payroll Corrected In	û Wage ⊐î Fî Type
Yes •	07/21/2023	
		Hourly Per Diem Salaried

Using the drop-down menu select the wage type that matches the employee's open contract record for the time the wages or service in the adjustment were earned or worked.

The sixth required field is **FY**.

Type in the four-digit fiscal year the wages or service time should be credited. This should be the time the wages and/or service were earned or worked not when paid.

.1	Payroll Corrected In	ΞĴ	Wage ∃⊥ FY ≟↓ Type	
*	07/21/2023		Salaried 👻	



The seventh required field is Work Status. Using the drop-

down menu select the Work Status that matches the time frame for when the adjustment is being made. **Remember** wages and/or service is being adjusted for a time when the member was actively employed not what the employee's work status is now.
The remaining fields are all optional depending on what is being adjusted on the employee's account. The entries should reflect the **difference** of what was reported versus what was reported already.

Base ≟‡	URCC E	OT≞‡	SUPP ≞‡	CONTRIB	DAYS 🗐	WNC ≞‡	POS 🗐	EXSAL 🗄 🕽	NRCC $\exists \uparrow$
\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00 0	0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00

Once all fields have been completed. Click "**Apply**" to validate the row before moving on to the next member.

Edit Work History	Details									More	Filters ×
Sort: Work Status (Desce	ending) 🔇										
Wage Type ≟‡ FY≟‡	Work Status ≟†	Base ≟‡		OT ≞‡	SUPP E C	ONTRIB	DAYS 🚉	WNC E	POS 🚉	EXSAL 🗐	NRCC 1
Salaried ¥ 2023	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	\$1,000.00				\$62.50	5,00				
		\$1,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$62.50 0	5.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
4											•
										Canc Ap	ply ave

If the record contains an error or warning an alert will show under the **Errors** column at the beginning of the row.

A triangle **Warning/Exception** should be reviewed to ensure the adjustment is reporting correctly before approving and submitting the adjustment.



To view the warning/exception click on the triangle.

A Work History Adjustment validation window will open.

Review the reason for the warning, close the window and verify the data entered.



If it needs changed, make corrections. if not, the record will process even though a warning alert is present.

A circle hard stop **Error** will require a correction before the adjustment may be processed.



To review the reason for the error, click on the circle.

A Work History Adjustment validation window will open.



Review the reason for the error, close the Work History Validation window and make the corrections accordingly. Continue the process until all members needing corrections have been entered.

Records may be deleted by highlighting the record and marking the box in the beginning of the record. Select the three dots over More and then elect "Delete Selected."

0	Errors 🗐	Search/SSN = 1	Name 🗐	Reason 🗐	Wage	ΞĴ	Contrib		Payroll Corrected	±1	Wage	FY 🗄 🕽	Work	Base ≟‡	URCC	Add	Ten Mem	bers
\checkmark	0	XXX-XX-9123 (0	GLAZE,	Pavroll Correction 👻	Yes		Yes	- I	In 07/21/2023	H	Salaried v	2023	ACTIVE -	\$1.000.00	_	Cop Dele	y Selected te Selecte	:d
		XXX-XX-4123 💿	BELICK,	Payroll Correction 👻	No	•	No	-	07/21/2023		Salaried 👻	2023	ACTIVE -	\$1,000.00		Expo	OFT WORK P	11500
Total f	for All Recor	ds												\$2,000.00	\$	0.00	\$0.00	D

A confirmation window will appear.



When all corrections and edits have been completed click "Save"

dit V	Vork Histo	ory Details														i More	T ×
Sort S	earch/SSN (As	cending) 🔘															
	Errors	Search/SSN \uparrow	Name	Wage Type	FY	Work Status	Base	URCC	от	SUPP	CONTRIB	HRS	DAYS	WNC	POS	EXSAL	NRCC
		2000-200-5123	GUERRERO, TEST	Salaried +	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +					\$6.25						
		<u>x00(-30(-5123</u>	BERESNIEWICZ, TEST	Salaried ¥	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	\$1,000.00				\$6.25						
		006-06-9123	GLAZE, TEST	Salaried +	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	\$1,000.00				\$6.25						
		000-00-0123	BATISTA, TEST	Salaried +	2021	ACTIVE - Actively Working +	\$1,000.00				\$6.25						
Tota	al for All Rec	cords					\$3,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	0	0	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
																Cancel A	pp) Save

The editing window will close, and screen will return to the Work Report Details. Any Warning/Exceptions and Errors will show in the Validation box.

	Work Reports / Work Report Detail	S								Validate	More
	Work Report Details Work Report S	ummary Work Report Transaction Deta	sils								
	Work History Exceptions Co	ount Summary									
Í	Validation						Туре		Count #		
Ч	WBN Constitution of should be	Amount					Warning		1		
	Work History								Edit	More	Filters
	Errors ET SSN ET Name	e≟‡ Re	ason ≞1 Wage Indicator ≞1	Contrib Withheld	Payroll Corrected 🗐	Wage Type	FY 🚉	Work Status 🗐		Base ≟‡ U	JRCC 11
	▲ XXX-XX-4123 ④ BELIC	CK, TEST Pa Co	yroll No rrection	No	07212023	Salaried	2023	ACTIVE		\$1,000.00	
	Total for All Records		_							\$1,000.00	\$0.00

If warnings are acceptable, click "**Validate**" to do one final validation before submitting the adjustment.

Click "Confirm" to continue validation process.



Wait for the successful validation message before attempting to do anything further with the adjustment.





Once report has been validated successfully, and no other errors need addressed, approve by Submitting the report.

Click the three dots beside "Validate" to reveal the "Submit" action.



ſ	Work Reports (including Adjus	tments)			Manual Work Report	Manual Adjustment	Filters	0
	Posting Date	Trans #	Туре	Identifier	Status	Report Status		
	<u>12/30/2021</u> >	2420089	WH Adj.	Adjustment	Open	Pending		
L								

The adjustment will now show as "**Pending**" status.

To **add comments** to an adjustment see Adding Comments on a Work Report earlier in this manual, the process is the same.

Exporting a Work History Adjustment Report

Work History Adjustments may be exported from the Work Reports Page. Select the adjustment for Export from the Work History Details Tab select "Export" found in the Work History box.





If the adjustment is still in "initial" status the Export action button will be found under the three dots over "More"

The exported adjustment will appear at bottom left of screen, click to open export.



Work History Adjustment Record Fields

Work History Adjustment Records contain the same fields as Work Report Records, with the addition of four fields (the Reason Code, Wage Indicator, Contributions Withheld Indicator and Payroll Corrected in), but these fields are used in a slightly different way. When employers make an adjustment to correct original information reported, **employers must ensure the Fiscal Year, Wage Type, and Contribution Rate are identical to the original Work Report transaction being corrected**. Like transactions may be consolidated to one adjustment when all original values match; otherwise create an adjustment for each unique combination.

Work History Adjustment fields are described below:

Reason Code: Use the drop-down menu to select the reason the adjustment is necessary. The Reason Code names in parenthesis are found in manual adjustment files and may differ slightly from adjustments created by payroll/HR software system.

If there are several reasons for making this adjustment, select the most important reason as indicated in the Reason Codes below:

NOTE: The names in parenthesis are used when making manual adjustments. **SALARY (Payroll Correction):** Use this code if you are correcting any salary/wages and associated contributions that were previously reported to PSERS incorrectly. Service units (days/hours) and purchase of service installment payments may also be corrected in the same Work History Adjustment Record. **NOTE:** If only service units or purchase of service installment payments need corrected, use the more appropriate Reason Code defined below.

CNTRCT (Missing Member Contract Record): Use this code if submitting a Work Report Record that was rejected on the monthly Work Report because the employee did not have a corresponding Member Contract Record. Submit the correct Member Contract Record first and then submit the employee's work information on the next monthly Work Report or in a Work History Adjustment Record.

LMPSUM (Lump Sum / Retro Pay Adjustment): Use this code if the employee receives a non-court awarded adjustment, such as a contract settlement, that needs to be applied to a prior fiscal year or cannot be reported in a Work Report Record for some other reason.

NOTE: If the non-court awarded adjustment spans fiscal years and/or contribution periods, then submit a Work History Adjustment Record for **each** fiscal year with the corresponding salary and service reported in each.

SVCADJ (Service Adjustment): Use this code if correcting service units (days/hours) that were previously reported to PSERS for this employee. This may be used to adjust hours, days, or both. If correcting service units reported with wages reported in the Wages No Contribution (WNC) field, include \$0.01 in the WNC field (this will associate the service unit correction with the original WNC, and service units reported). If the \$0.01 in the WNC field is forgotten, the service units correction will not fix the account as intended.

NOTE: If this adjustment includes both a change to service units and a change to salary, use the SALARY code rather than the SVCADJ code.

Reminder: Service corrections for the **2003/2004** school year and prior must be submitted by using the appropriate adjustment form

LATRPT (Late Report): Use this code if reporting an employee's wages/salary and contributions (if any) after the monthly Work Report in which this should have been reported has been submitted. This code is only used when reporting information late for an existing employee. If a qualified employee was never entered as a member or reported to PSERS, use the "UNCRDT" code to report this employee's salary, contributions, and service units.

All other codes supersede the "LATRPT" code so "LATRPT" should only be used when no other Reason Code applies.

MEMPOS (Member Purchase of Service Installments Correction): Use this code if correcting Member Purchase of Service Installments information that was previously reported to PSERS incorrectly or did not report to PSERS when they should have been reported.

UNCRDT (Uncredited School Service): Use this code if, due to an administrative error, member contributions were not withheld from a qualified member. **NOTE:** If retirement contributions were withheld from the employee, use the Reason Code "**SALARY**" instead of "**UNCRDT**". The Reason Code "**UNCRDT**" is used to create the bill for both the school employee and the employer. The charges will not be directly applied to the PSERS Employer Account at the time the Work History Adjustment is approved. If the Reason Code "**SALARY**" is used both the employee's and the employer's retirement contribution charges will be immediately applied to PSERS accounts accordingly.

NOTE: If the Reason Code "**UNCRDT**" is used, PSERS will not process this correction if the qualifying salary amount is less than or equal to \$15 and if less than 0.01 additional service would be credited for the year.

CAWARD (Court Award): Use this code if reporting the results of an arbitration relating to a rate grievance, improper termination, etc. PSERS must review the court award/order before releasing any credit or debit to the employer and/or the employee account. Before submitting the Court Award adjustment to PSERS,

send the award/order documentation to PSERS Employer Service Center attention the Regional Representative for employer's region.

If the court award spans fiscal years and/or contribution periods, submit a Work History Adjustment Record for **each** fiscal year with the corresponding salary and service reported for each fiscal year included in the settlement.

- Report the total amount representing only the employee's reinstated full contract salary even though the amount of the award may have included interest or punitive damages. Do not report any of these other awarded claims.
- Interest payments received as part of the award are NOT subject to retirement deductions. Report these in the NRCC (Non-Retirement-Covered Compensation) field of the employee's Work History Adjustment Record.
- Retirement contributions must be withheld on the gross contract salary awarded amount, *not* the net salary received by the employee. If an award amount is reduced because of other outside income, employer and employee must still pay contributions on the full award amount.

Wage Indicator: This indicates if the salary/wages in this Work History Adjustment Record were paid during the fiscal year in which they were earned.

Yes: Select "**Yes**" if the salary/wages were earned and paid in the adjustment fiscal year.

No: Select "**No**" if the salary/wages were earned in a prior fiscal year but were paid in the current fiscal year (when the mistake was discovered).

NOTE: This field can only be left blank if Reason Code is set to "**SVCADJ**" or "**MEMPOS**."

Contributions Withheld: This indicates whether contributions were withheld from the salary/wages at the time they were paid to the employee.

Yes: Select "**Yes**" if contributions were withheld when the salary/wages were paid whether that was in a past fiscal year or in the current fiscal year.

No: Select "**No**" if contributions were not withheld from the salary/wages when they were paid to the employee.

NOTE: This field can only be left blank if Reason Code is set to "**SVCADJ**" or "**MEMPOS**."

Wage Type: Select "**Hourly**," "**Per Diem**" or "**Salary**" from the drop-down menu. If wages were originally reported under multiple Wage Types, then the Work History Adjustment to correct the information must be done with multiple transactions (i.e., one adjustment for each Wage Type). Do not leave this field blank.

If the Reason Code is set to "**UNCRDT**", Wage Type should match the employee's current Wage Type as set in the employee's Member Contract Record. If Reason Code is anything other than "**UNCRDT**", Wage Type should match the Wage Type that was in effect during the period being adjusted.

Payroll Corrected In: The date in this field represents when the information was corrected with Voya. For instance, an employee was actually paid on 9/27, but in uploading the file to Voya it is realized there is no participant account created. Voya will now receive this information in the 10/4 pay cycle. The Payroll Corrected In field in WHA should be 10/4.

Work Status: Use the drop-down menu to select the Work Status for the employee during the period being adjusted. Do not leave this field blank.

If the Reason Code is set to "**UNCRDT**", Work Status should match the employee's current Work Status as set in the employee's Member Contract Record. *If this Work Status is not ACTIVE, contact PSERS for assistance.*

If Reason Code is anything other than "**UNCRDT**", Work Status should match the Work Status that was in effect during the time being adjusted.

YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): Enter the ending year of the fiscal year in which the salary and service were earned (when the work was performed, or the leave of absence took place). Enter the year in YYYY format, with no spaces, dashes, or other characters. This field cannot be left blank.

EXAMPLE: For the 2021-2022 fiscal year, enter 2022.

If employer reported the initial information with the wrong fiscal year, correct this by submitting an Adjustment Record that subtracts all reported information from the year it was erroneously reported in, and then submit a second Adjustment Record that adds the same information to the correct fiscal year.

BASE: Enter the *difference* between what was originally reported as the employee's base salary and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if BASE does not need to be corrected. Leading zeroes are not required for any field in a manual adjustment file.

EXAMPLE #1: If an employee was reported as earning \$1,233.00 less than she earned, enter 1233.00 to add this amount to her earnings for the fiscal year. **EXAMPLE #2:** If an employee was reported as earning \$1,500 more than she earned, enter -1500.00 to subtract these earnings.

The total amount of the BASE, OT, SUP, and URCC fields for the fiscal year, after adjustments, cannot exceed the IRS 401(a)(17) limitations. See the EXSAL field.

URCC (Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation): Enter the *difference* between what was originally reported as the employee's URCC and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if URCC does not need to be corrected.

The total amount of the BASE, OT, SUP, and URCC fields for the fiscal year, after

adjustments, cannot exceed the IRS 401(a)(17) limitations. See the EXSAL field. **OT (Overtime):** Enter the difference between what was originally reported as the employee's OT and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if OT does not need to be corrected.

The total amount of the BASE, OT, SUP, and URCC fields for the fiscal year, after adjustments, cannot exceed the IRS 401(a)(17) limitations. See the EXSAL field. **SUP (Supplemental):** Enter the difference between what was originally reported as the

employee's SUP and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if SUP does not need to be corrected.

The total amount of the BASE, OT, SUP, and URCC fields for the fiscal year, after adjustments, cannot exceed the IRS 401(a)(17) limitations. See the EXSAL field. **CONTRIB (Contributions):** If adjusting an employee's salary, adjust the contributions appropriately. A positive or negative amount must be entered as 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if the Contributions do not need to be corrected.

The CONTRIB field must be adjusted if **any** of the following is true:

- ✓ BASE is not zero.
- ✓ SUP (Supplemental) is not zero.
- ✓ OT (Overtime) is not zero.

✓ URCC (Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation) is not zero. Do not adjust an employee's contributions unless also adjusting salary. If an employer withheld contributions from an employee's paycheck at an incorrect rate, remember PSERS requires correct contributions be reported and will display an error message if an incorrect amount is entered on a work report. **HRS (Hours):** Enter the *difference* between what was originally reported as the employee's hours of service time and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed) and 4-hour digits. Hours must be rounded up or down. Do not enter any punctuation other than the minus sign. Leave this field blank or enter 00000 if the hours do not need to be corrected.

Only enter hours that count as Service Time (service earned, service that may qualify later, or service that can be purchased).

NOTE: If you are correcting hours originally reported with wages reported in the Wages No Contribution (WNC) field, adjustment must include \$0.01 in the WNC field (this will associate the service unit correction with the original WNC, and service units reported). If the WNC \$0.01 is forgotten, the service units correction will not fix the account as intended.

DAYS: Enter the difference between what was originally reported as the employee's days of service time and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the days as a minus sign (if needed), 3-day digits, a decimal point, and two partial-day digits. Do not enter any punctuation other than the minus sign. Leave this field blank or enter 0000.00 if the days do not need to be corrected.

EXAMPLE: Enter 19.50 for a per diem employee who worked 19 ½ days more during the fiscal year than originally reported.

Only enter days that count as Service Time (service earned, service that may qualify later, or service that can be purchased).

NOTE: If you are correcting days originally reported with wages reported in the Wages No Contribution (WNC) field, you must include \$0.01 in the WNC field (this will associate the service unit correction with the original WNC, and service units reported). If you forget to include the WNC \$0.01, the service units correction will not fix the account as intended.

WNC (Wages No Contribution): Enter the difference between what was originally reported as the employee's WNC and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if WNC does not need to be corrected.

POS (Member Purchase of Service Installments): Enter the difference between what was originally reported as the employee's Member POS Installment and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter

the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if POS does not need to be corrected.

The POS field must be adjusted if the Reason Code is set to "**MEMPOS**." **EXSAL (Excess Salary):** Enter the *difference* between what was originally reported as the employee's "**EXSAL**" and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if EXSAL does not need to be corrected.

The *total amount* of the BASE, OT, SUP, and URCC fields for the fiscal year, after adjustments, cannot exceed the IRS 401(a)(17) limitations. If the total of these fields, after adjustments, exceeds the IRS 401(a)(17) limit, reduce the amount in the BASE, URCC, OT, and/or SUP fields so that the total of these fields is equal to the IRS 401(a)(17) limit, and enter the remainder of the employee's earnings in the EXSAL field.

NRCC (Non-Retirement-Covered Compensation): Enter the difference between what was originally reported as the employee's "NRCC" and what should have been reported. This amount can be positive or negative. Enter the amount as a minus sign (if needed), 6-dollar digits, a decimal point, and 2 cents digits. Do not enter the dollar sign or any punctuation other than the minus sign and a single decimal point. Leave this field blank or enter 0000000.00 if NRCC does not need to be corrected.

Uploading an Adjustment File

To upload an Adjustment file generated by an employer HR/Payroll software, see instructions under *Importing a File*.

If employers would like to submit Work Report History Adjustments using an Excel template (using the file import method) instead of submitting the adjustment manually, please contact the Employer Service Center Representative for the employer's region.

Employers should only process files after all the necessary changes have been made because once the file is processed, it cannot be deleted or changed. **PSERS releases work reports and work report adjustments twice daily (mid-day and overnight).** Once the file status is "**Released**", no one can delete it and only an additional adjustment can correct errors in reporting. **If an employer approves a file with errors, those records with errors will NOT be posted to the system.** For all of these reasons, a file should only be processed if the display indicates that ALL of the records in the file are valid. The number in the "**Invalid Rows**" column should show "**0**."

Releasing the information to the Employees' PSERS Record

PSERS releases all Work Reports and Work History Adjustments that have been submitted through ESS by employers twice a day (mid-day and after business hours), except for Court Awards which must be reviewed before being released. This automatically applies the information contained in the Work Report and/or Work History Adjustment to employer and employee accounts with PSERS. After that time, employers cannot make changes to the information submitted.

When employers approve Work Reports and Work History Adjustments, PSERS applies the corrected information to the fiscal year indicated in the "**YEAR**" field within the record. If there are any associated Member (Employee) Contributions and Employer Contributions, the charges will be applied based on the due amounts for that fiscal year with an associated due date of the next monthly member savings due date.

Examples of Work History Adjustments

This section provides examples of how employers would correct errors made in reporting work-related information to PSERS.

Salary/Contributions Not Reported

There may be times when an employer did not report the salary and/or contributions for an employee at the correct time.

EXAMPLE #1: A full-time, salaried employee earned \$3,000 during the first quarter of the 2020 – 2021 fiscal year. The employee was entered as a PSERS member at the time, but due to an administrative error, this employee was left off the Monthly Report. The employer paid the employee properly and reported the employee's service time for the year correctly at the end of the year. Employer withheld \$225 of retirement contributions and remitted these to PSERS along with other withholdings, but since the employer did not report the employee, these withholdings were not credited to their account. When the employee requests a retirement estimate, they bring the missing quarter to the employer's attention.

Correct this situation by submitting a **Work History Adjustment Record** with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: SALARY (Payroll Correction)
- Wage Indicator: Yes
- Contributions Withheld: Yes
- Wage Type: Salary
- Work Status: ACTIVE

- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): **2021** (the ending year of the 2020 2021 fiscal year)
- BASE: **3000.00**
- CONTRIB (Contributions): 225.00
- DAYS: 60.00

Since the employer withheld contributions properly and remitted these to PSERS at the correct time, no interest charges apply (unless these contributions were refunded to the employer as having been paid in error). If this happened, PSERS will apply a delinquency to employer's account for both employer and the employee's portion of the contributions. This includes interest prorated for the number of days the payment was late from the original date it was due.

EXAMPLE #2: Using the same situation as Example #1, if employer withheld contributions from the employee's paycheck but did NOT remit these contributions to PSERS, the following applies:

Since employer withheld contributions from the original payment to the employee but did not remit these contributions to PSERS, a delinquency will be applied to employer's PSERS account for both employer and the employee portion of the contributions. This includes interest prorated for the number of days the payment was late after the end of the fiscal year.

From the employee's perspective, the wages, and contributions in both of these examples would be credited to the correct fiscal year and would earn interest as if they had been in the account from June 30 of that year.

EXAMPLE #3: Using the same situation as Example #1, if the employer did not withhold contributions from the employee's paycheck and the salary qualified for contributions, the following applies:

- Reason Code: UNCRDT (Uncredited School Service)
- Wage Indicator: Yes
- Contributions Withheld: No
- CONTRIB (Contributions): 0.00
- WNC (Wages No Contribution): **3000.00**
- DAYS: **60.00**

NOTE: Days and/or Hours must be submitted when submitting WNC (so PSERS can calculate the purchase of service billings correctly).

This Work History Adjustment will trigger PSERS to begin a Purchase of Service process for the employee. PSERS will generate a *Statement of Amount Due* to the employee for

the retirement contributions that were never withheld but should have been. PSERS will also generate a *Statement of Amount Due* for the employer's share.

Incorrect Salary/Contributions Previously Reported

In some situations, an employee's salary, contributions, service units, and/or Member Purchase of Service Installments may have been reported to PSERS incorrectly.

EXAMPLE: A full-time, salaried employee was paid \$3,500 in September 2016 but was accidentally reported as \$5,300 in the monthly Work Report. Employer reported the contributions correctly.

To correct the salary, submit a **Work History Adjustment Record** with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: SALARY (Correction to Previously Reported Salary or Contributions)
- Wage Indicator: Yes
- Contributions Withheld: Yes
- Wage Type: **Salary (**note that the Wage Type must match the Wage Type at the time the work was performed)
- Work Status: ACTIVE
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): **2017** (2016 2017 fiscal year)
- BASE: -1800.00 (3,500 minus the 5,300 originally reported)
- CONTRIB (Contributions): -135.00 (When PSERS applied the original reported information of 5,300, PSERS charged and applied the Contributions due amount calculated on the value in original BASE.)

NOTE: ESS will no longer permit incorrect reporting of contributions on a work report, this would only happen for situations prior to FY 2020.

Incorrect Service Time was Previously Reported When the Salary was Reported in Base, URCC, SUP, or OT Field

EXAMPLE: A full-time, salaried employee worked 190 days during the 2019 – 2020 fiscal year but was accidentally reported 195 days of service time.

To correct this, submit a **Work History Adjustment Record** with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: SVCADJ (Service Adjustment)
- Wage Type: **Salary (**note that the Wage Type must match the Wage Type at the time the work was performed)
- Work Status: ACTIVE
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): 2020

• DAYS: -5.00 (190 – the 195 originally reported)

NOTE: If the Adjustment Record includes both a change to service time and a change to salary, use the SALARY code rather than the "**SVCADJ**" code.

Incorrect Service Time was Previously Reported When the Salary was Reported in WNC Field

EXAMPLE: A part-time, hourly employee worked 195 hours during the 2020 – 2021 fiscal year but was accidentally reported 195 days of service time.

To correct this, submit a Work History Adjustment Record with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: SVCADJ (Service Adjustment)
- Wage Type: **Salary (**note that the Wage Type must match the Wage Type at the time the work was performed)
- Work Status: ACTIVE
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): 2021
- WNC: .01
- DAYS: -195 (195 days originally reported)
- HOURS: 195

NOTE: If the Adjustment Record needs to correct days or hours when the original values were reported with the wages in the Wages No Contributions (WNC) field, employer **must** add 1 cent to the WNC field whether adding or subtracting service time.

Incorrect Member Purchase of Service Installments

EXAMPLE: A part-time, hourly employee is paying Member Purchase of Service Installments of \$95 per month. Employer accidentally reported \$59 per month to PSERS for September and October 2021 before the employee calls the mistake to employer's attention.

To correct this, submit a Work History Adjustment Record with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: MEMPOS (Member Purchase of Service Installments Correction)
- Wage Type: Hourly
- Work Status: **ACTIVE**
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): 2021
- Member POS Installment: 72.00 (\$95 \$59, times 2 months)

• **NOTE:** If the Adjustment Record includes both a change to Member Purchase of Service Installments and a change to salary, use the SALARY code rather than the "**MEMPOS**" code.

Arbitration and Court Decision Adjustments/Payments

Contract salary awarded to an employee because of arbitration, or a court decision is compensation for retirement purposes if the employee receives full back pay and benefits. Search for "Reporting – Retirement Covered Compensation" for more information.

- Report the total amount that represents only the employee's reinstated full contract salary even though the amount of the award may have included interest or punitive damages. Do not report any other awarded claims such as interest.
- Interest payments received as part of the award are NOT subject to retirement deductions. Report these in the NRCC field on the employee's Work History Adjustment Record.
- Employers must withhold retirement contributions on the gross amount of contract salary awarded, not on the net salary received by the employee. If an award amount is reduced because of other outside income, employer must still pay contributions on the full award amount.

EXAMPLE: An employee was awarded \$20,000 (representing the six months of wages lost due to a suspension), but this amount was reduced by other outside income. The employee must pay retirement contributions on the full \$20,000 award.

- Employer must show the total amount of the award, the salary breakdown by year, and the days or hours of service time to be credited.
- If the court award spans fiscal years and/or contribution periods, then submit a Work History Adjustment Record for **each** fiscal year and/or contribution period with the corresponding salary and service reported in each fiscal year.
- PSERS must review the court award/order before releasing any credit or debit to employer and/or the employee accounts.
- Regardless of the Wage Indicator value, the employee and employer contribution rate will be based on the fiscal year in the adjustment record.

EXAMPLE: A salaried employee is terminated on December 17, 2018. The employee feels the termination is wrongful and sues for full back pay, benefits, interest, and penalties. The case goes to arbitration in August 2019, where it is decided that the employee will receive back pay and benefits for the remainder of his contract, from December 18, 2018, through June 10, 2019, as a \$21,000 lump sum. Since the employee has been working at another job since May 15, 2018, and received \$3,000 in salary, the

employer payment amount is reduced by \$3,000, bringing the total the employer pays down to \$18,000. Employer and employee must still pay retirement contributions on the full \$21,000 award, so the employer will withhold \$1,575 from the lump sum payment. The employee will earn 49 days of service time (the remainder of the contract for which he is being paid).

Submit a Work History Adjustment Record with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: CAWARD (Court Award)
- Wage Indicator: No
- Contributions Withheld: Yes
- Wage Type: Salary
- Work Status: TRMNTN
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): 2019
- BASE: **18000.00**
- CONTRIB: 1575.00 (at 7.5%)
- DAYS: **49.00**

Retroactive Salary Increases Due to Late Collective Bargaining Unit Contract Settlement

Lump-sum payments that represent the difference between the old contract salary and the new contract salary are compensation for retirement benefits. If the back salary increase spans fiscal years and/or contribution periods, then employers must submit a Work History Adjustment Record for **each** fiscal year and/or contribution period with the corresponding salary and service reported in each fiscal year.

NOTE: When a contract is settled and payments are made retroactively, employer must withhold and report member contributions in the year earned. If the employee has retired or received a refund, PSERS will make any necessary adjustments to a retiree's benefit or additional payments to a refunded member.

Back Pay Award-without a court award

Lump-sum payments also include back pay awards that are privately negotiated with a (former) employee without a court order (See Arbitration and Court Decision Adjustments/Payments above for an example with a court order.) If the back-pay settlement spans fiscal years and/or contribution periods, then employers must submit a Work History Adjustment Record for **each** fiscal year and/or contribution period with the corresponding salary and service reported in each fiscal year.

EXAMPLE: Employer terminated a salaried coach in April 2019. The coach disputes the termination, seeking payment and service time for the remainder of his contract,

through June 2019. In August 2019, employer agrees to the terms. Employer pays the coach a lump sum of \$4,500, from which \$292.50 in retirement contributions are withheld. The coach will receive 12 days of service time.

Submit a Work History Adjustment Record with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: LMPSUM (Lump Sum / Retro Pay Adjustment)
- Wage Indicator: No
- Contributions Withheld: Yes
- Wage Type: Salary
- Work Status: TRMNTN
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): 2019
- BASE: **4500.00**
- CONTRIB: 292.50
- DAYS: **12.00**

Suspension Settlement Agreement

Lump-sum payments that are privately negotiated with an employee **as part of a disciplinary settlement agreement are usually not retirement covered compensation**. If the employer reported the settlement pay and PSERS determines the salary was not retirement covered compensation, then the employer must submit a Work History Adjustment Record for **each** fiscal year and/or contribution period with the corresponding salary and service reported in each.

EXAMPLE: Employer terminated an administrator in April 2019. PSERS discovers you reported the salary associated with the termination agreement in the amount of \$54,000. Submit a **Work History Adjustment Record** with the fields set as follows:

- Reason Code: SALARY (Correction to Previously Reported Salary or Contributions)
- Wage Indicator: Yes
- Contributions Withheld: Yes
- Wage Type: Salary
- Work Status: TRMNTN
- YEAR (Fiscal Year Ending): 2019
- BASE: -**54000.00**
- CONTRIB: -4050.00
- DAYS: -**62.00**

Reporting Administrative Leave Making Employee Whole after Settlement Agreement approved as RCC

The following examples illustrate the proper procedure in the initial reporting of an administrative leave and then the proper steps to make an employee's account whole

after determining the allegations were unfounded and the administrative leave was unjust.

Table #1	Work Status	Base	Service Days
Sep	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Oct	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Nov	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Dec	ACTIVE	\$5,325.00	
Jan	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Feb	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Mar	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Apr	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
May	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Jun	ACTIVE	\$5,325.00	180
Jul	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Aug	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00	
Total		\$46,150.00	180

Table #1: This example is of a paid administrative leave that is less than one full payperiod. The table below illustrates a 10-month employee, paid over 12 months. A fullyear was worked and reported without incident.

Table #2: This example is of an administrative leave that is greater than a full pay period(15 days). The table below illustrates a 10-month employee, paid over 12 months.During the months of March and April, the employee was suspended. The salary paid tothe member while on administrative leave is to be reported in the NRCC field on yourWork Report. The Service Days are reduced by the length of the administrative leave.

Table #2	Work Status	Base	Service Days	NRCC
Sep	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Oct	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Nov	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Dec	ACTIVE	\$5,325.00		
Jan	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Feb	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Mar	LEAVEN	\$1,775.00		\$1,775.00
Apr	ACTIVE	\$2,662.50		\$ 887.50
May	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Jun	ACTIVE	\$5,325.00	165	
Jul	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Aug	ACTIVE	\$3,550.00		
Total		\$43,487.50	165	\$2,662.50
WHA		\$2,662.50	15	-\$2,662.50
Total		\$46,150.00	180	0.00

- The highlighted rows illustrate how to adjust the record reversing the effects of the administrative leave because the investigation determined the allegations were unfounded.
- The salary and service that would have been earned in the 15-day suspension must be returned to the member's account through a Work History Adjustment (WHA). **NOTE:** A settlement agreement is not necessarily the same as finding the allegations to be unjust or unfounded.

Adjustments Prior to Fiscal Years 2004-2005

Member records in existence prior to July 2004 were created and converted from PSERS' previous software system. The logic rules governing converted data are a little different from the logic rules in existence today. For that reason, employers must report all **service corrections** prior to fiscal year 2004-2005 using paper forms instead of the Work History Adjustment record method. The forms available for your use are:

- 1. Service Adjustments (For Years 1977-2004) (PSRS-726)
- 2. Service Adjustments (Prior to FY 1977) (PSRS-1310)
- 3. Merged Employer Salary and Service Adjustment (PSRS-1307)

If correcting both salary and service, attach a letter explaining the salary correction.

NOTE: This method of correction does not include corrections for a school employee who was not reported to PSERS at all. For questions on the method in which to use to correct previously reported information, contact your PSERS Employer Service Center Regional Representative for assistance.



Remitting Payments to PSERS

There are four funds where employers are required to make payments to PSERS during each fiscal year:

- Member (Employee) Contributions: Pick-up contributions withheld from school employee's salary/wages based on membership class.
- Member (Employee) Purchase of Service (POS) Installments: POS Installments deducted from school employee's payroll check to purchase member service, eliminate the effects of a frozen present value, or correct a rate discrepancy.
- Employer Contributions: Contributions remitted by an employer to help fund member retirement benefits. Employer Contributions are made up of two parts:
 - Employer Share this represents the standard actuarial rate to ensure benefits can be paid to the member.
 - Employer Premium Assistance this represents the contributions to fund the healthcare premium offset.
- **Employer POS:** Employer-share purchase of service (POS) payments made for part time employees who have qualified or are purchasing previous part time service or leave. This is the employer's share of the purchased service time.

Employers must remit all payments to PSERS by the due dates described below using ACH. Use the Internet remittance method described under Methods of Remittance.

PSERS will calculate the amount due using the Employer and Member Contribution Rates based on the fiscal year the member **earned** the funds regardless of the process used to notify PSERS of an administrative error (i.e., a Work History Adjustment or a purchase of service application).

EXAMPLE 1: Member earned and was paid \$2,000 in Fiscal Year 2019; employer did not report the wages until Fiscal Year 2023. The member and the employer would be charged the contribution rate in effect in Fiscal Year 2019.

EXAMPLE 2: Member was paid a contract settlement in Fiscal Year 2021 for wages that were earned in Fiscal Year 2019. The employer reported the wages upon contract settlement. The member and the employer would be charged the contribution rate in effect in Fiscal Year 2023.

Due Dates

Member and employer contributions remittance Due Dates are set by the Retirement Code. PSERS realizes a Due Date set by the Code could fall on a weekend or holiday (i.e., PSERS, school, or bank). If a Due Date falls on a weekend or holiday, employers must initiate a transaction at least two business days in advance of the due date (the system will not accept weekends and bank holidays as the payment receipt date).

EXAMPLE: If the Due Date is Saturday, October 10, then payment must be initiated by Thursday, October 8 so that PSERS has the funds on Friday, October 9 (the last business day before the Due Date).

Member (Employee) Contributions: Remit no later than 10 days after the close of the month for which deductions were withheld.

EXAMPLE: For Contributions withheld from payroll in the month of March, remit contributions no later than April 10.

Member (Employee) Purchase of Service (POS) Installments: Remit no later than 10 days after the close of the month for which deductions were withheld. EXAMPLE: POS Installments were deducted from a school employee's paycheck in the month of September. Remit payment no later than October 10.

Employer Contributions

Employers must pay (the employer) share of retirement contributions on a quarterly basis. The amount due is based on the total salaries (fields: Base, URCC, OT, and SUP)

reported for that quarter in all monthly Work Reports and Work Report Adjustments released during the quarter.

PSERS posts the Employer Statement of Account in the Documents Page approximately the 10th of each month. Employers are encouraged to use the Transaction Page for determining their current amount due. The Employer Statement of Account is helpful in reconciliation of accounts and monitoring the quarter as it progresses and after it has ended.

All Employer Contribution payments will be applied based on employer payment designation outlined on PNC Cash Con when making payment. For instructions on making PNC Cash Con payments see PNC Cash Con Instructions on the Employer accounting Tab of PSERS Public Web under the Employer Tab.

Employer contribution receivables include the PSERS total reported within a quarter for all salary/wages reported (fields: Base, URCC, OT, and SUP) the sum is multiplied by the Employer Contribution Rate for the fiscal year. The system posts the Employer Contributions due to the employer's account with each work report or adjustment processed. If payments are not received by the due date, PSERS may charge delinquent interest per annum on any remaining due amount.

Employer Contribution Due Dates:

- Standard Share Payments for actual billings are due quarterly. Payment must be received at PSERS five business days after the Commonwealth pays their retirement contribution subsidies.
 - **Employer Purchase of Service** Payments are due no later than 90 days from the creation date of the *Employer Statement of Amount Due*.

Quarter	Employer Contribution Due Date
3 rd (July-September)	5 business days after the December Subsidy Payment
4 th (October- December)	5 business days after the March Subsidy Payment
1 st (January-March)	5 business days after the June Subsidy Payment
2 nd (April-June)	5 business days after the September Subsidy Payment
NOTE: PSERS offers a plannin	g calendar on the PSERS Public Web under Employer
Resources to assist employers	s in remitting payments timely

Employer Purchase of Service (POS)/LumpSum payments and due dates:

At any given time, current or past employees may be purchasing service credit for previously uncredited school service or a non-contributing leave permitting service purchase or employers may be adjusting an employee's account using "Uncredited School Service" reason code. This transaction is created by PSERS when a part time employee qualifies within a FY or has received and approved an application for purchase from a member or the employer has added previously missed reporting where contributions were not withheld for whatever administrative reason. PSERS will calculate the amount due using the Employer Contribution rates based on the fiscal year the member earned the funds regardless of the year of purchase.

Employer Statements of Amount Due for POS may be viewed on the Documents page. Searching the posting date from the transaction page will allow employer to find the statement easily. The statement includes the total amount due, the wages earned, and the FY associated with the purchase.

Employer Purchase of Service payments are due with the quarterly payment within the posting date of transaction.

EXAMPLE: A transaction description of Lump/Sum POS: XXX-XX-1234 is posted to the employer account on June 25th showing an amount due of \$54.29 for Employer POS. This payment is required to be paid with the employers 2 QTR Employer Share payment 5 days after subsidy received in September.

Member (Employee) Contributions:

These are the required employees' portion of their retirement contributions. PSERS will calculate the amount due each month from the salaries reported in the monthly Work Reports and Work Report Adjustments based on each employee's contribution rate.

In most cases, the charges PSERS calculated, and the contributions withheld from employees' paychecks will match. If withholdings do not match the amount that PSERS calculates is due, review the itemized charges on the report to find the discrepancy. The discrepancy may be caused by rounding, an addition error, incorrect withholdings (retirement-covered compensation multiplied by Member Contribution Rate) or a rate error.

- If the discrepancy is caused by rounding or an addition error, correct the value before approving your report and reconcile with the employee on the next paycheck.
- If the discrepancy is caused by incorrect withholdings, correct the problem by deducting or refunding the difference in the next payroll cycle and report the correct contributions on the current Work Report.
- If the discrepancy is caused by a rate error, review the employee's contract on the Roster Page. Once the correct rate is determined correct the Work Report and rectify the difference on the next paycheck for the employee.

PSERS will charge employer's account the calculated amount, **not the amount withheld** based on the payroll system reported value. It is important to ensure any class/rate differences are corrected quickly.

Member (Employee) Contributions Due Dates:

- Member (Employee) Contributions are due at PSERS by the 10th of each month for the previous month.
- PSERS applies payment of Member (Employee) Contributions based on the payment designation outlined below in the Payment Designation Method section.
- Member (Employee) Contribution fund receivables include:
 - Monthly Member (Employee) Contributions amount calculated by PSERS using the reported member's salary/wages (Work Report / Work Report Adjustment fields: Base, URCC, OT, and SUP) from the Work Report and any Work Report Adjustments released during the month multiplied by the Member Contribution Rate.
 - Employer Purchase of Service Debts, as reported in the Statement of Amount Due sent to an employer to satisfy an employee's purchase of qualifying fulltime, part-time, approved leave of absence, or USERRA leave where the employer is in possession of the Member (Employee) Contributions. These situations are rare and usually discussed in advance of the transaction.
- If payments are not received by the due date, PSERS may charge delinquent interest per annum on any remaining due amount.

Member (Employee) Purchase of Service (POS) Installments and due dates.

At any given time, some employees may be purchasing service credit through payroll deductions. In this case, the monthly Work Reports must include these deductions and these installment payments must be remitted to PSERS as follows:

 Member Purchase of Service (POS) Installment payments are due at PSERS by the 10th of each month for the previous month.

- All Member POS Installment payments will be applied based on the payment designation outlined below in the Payment Designation Method section.
- Member POS Installment fund receivables include. The value of each month's Member POS Installment, as reported in that month's Work Report and in any Work Report Adjustments approved during the month.
- If payments are not received by the due date, PSERS may charge delinquent interest per annum on any remaining due amount.

Method of Remittance

Payment by Automated Clearing House (ACH) using PNC Cash Con

ACH is PSERS only method of payment where funds from the employer's bank account are transferred directly to PSERS through the Federal Reserve System.

The Authorization Agreement for Restricted (ACH) Debits (PSRS-610) form must be completed if:

- The employer has a new staff member assigned to making payments through PNC Cash Con. The form authorizes the staff member be issued a password and username.
- If an employer changes banks or account numbers. **The employer should keep the old account open** until the first transfer is approved from the new account.

To make a payment via ACH log on to PNC Cash Concentration website. This web address is included the instructions sent with authorization to use PNC Cash Con. For detailed instructions on the usage of the PNC Cash Con system, visit PSERS Public Web, Employer Accounting, <u>PNC (pa.gov)</u>.

For challenges and concerns regarding ACH payments, please contact the PSERS Employer Accounting Section at

RA-PSERSEMPACCT@pa.gov

What If Payments Are Not Received by PSERS

School Districts

Unpaid contributions and subsequent interest charges may be recovered from your Basic Education Subsidy and/or Retirement Subsidy distribution(s) from the Department of Education.

Charter Schools

Unpaid contributions and subsequent interest charges may be recovered from your Basic Education Subsidy distribution from the Department of Education.

Payment Designation Methods

Employers may designate payments in one of three ways:

- Payments may be targeted to a specific Transaction Number taken from the Transaction Page by entering the below information in PNC Cash Con.
 - the Fund/Unit
 - Payment Amount- be sure to verify amount shown on the Transaction
 Page as showing due for this transaction.
 - Transaction Type,
 - Trans# from the Transaction Page or Work Report MMYYYY

NOTE: If payment is not exact, Employer will see a credit or a remaining debit on the Transaction Page for this transaction.

- Payments may be applied to a specific Transaction Type paying the oldest due amount with the Transaction Type by entering the below information in PNC Cash Con. If this method of payment is chosen it will only apply the remittance to this Transaction Type.
 - The Fund/Unit
 - Total Payment being made
 - select Transaction Type,
 - enter 0 (zero) in the Trans# or Work Report MMYYYY

EXAMPLE: If there are multiple Transaction Types (Work Report and Work History Adjustment) and you select "**Work Report**" as the Transaction Type, the payment will **only** be applied to open receivables equal to "**Work Report**" for Transaction Type it will not pay Work History adjustments.

- Payments can be applied at a Fund level paying the oldest due amount within the Fund. This option will pay multiple Transaction Types with one payment by entering the below information in PNC Cash Con.
 - the Fund/Unit
 - Payment Amount
 - select "Oldest Open Receivable(s)" in the Transaction Type,
 - enter 0 (zero) in the Trans# or Work Report MMYYYY

EXAMPLE: If there are multiple Transaction Types to be paid with one payment (Work Report and Work History Adjustment) select "**Oldest Open Receivables(s**)" as the

Transaction Type. The payment will be applied to all open receivables until all moneys are applied regardless of the Transaction Type.

Employer Share Income Aid Ratio & Reimbursements – Act 29 of 1994

With the passage of Act 29, all PSERS employers that are designated as school entities (i.e., public school districts, intermediate units, vocational – technical institutes, and charter schools) are subject to the following:

- The school entity is billed for 100% of the Employer Contribution due amount.
- The Commonwealth reimburses the school entity (except Charter Schools) for 50% of the Employer Contributions due amount for their **EXISTING** employees.
- The Commonwealth reimburses the school entity (except Charter Schools) for the Employer Contributions multiplied by the employer's income/aid ratio (or 50%, *whichever is greater*) for their NEW employees. All Aid Ratios are calculated by the Department of Education.
- With the Passage of the 2014-15 Commonwealth Budget, legislation was passed that eliminates the Retirement Subsidy Reimbursement to all Charter Schools. The sponsoring school reimburses the Charter School through their regular per student rate.

NOTE: The date used to determine "**New**" and "**Existing**" employees is the initial date of PSERS membership. This can be found on approved work reports.

- Existing Initial PSERS Membership date is earlier than 07/01/1994.
- New Initial PSERS Membership date is equal to or later than 07/01/1994Administering Act 29 Subsidies

The Pennsylvania Department of Education is responsible for administering subsidies. Please contact the Department of Education regarding all subsidy inquiries.

Income Aid Ratio

All questions related to the income aid ratio formula should be directed to:

Department of Education Division of Subsidy Data & Administration 717.787.5423

Subsidy Distribution

Questions pertaining to retirement subsidy distributions and their payment should be directed to:

Comptroller's Operations Office 717.425.6568

Questions pertaining to PSERS member salaries used in subsidy distributions should be directed to: Employer Accounting Unit: <u>RA-PSERSEMPACCT@pa.gov</u>

Non-School Entities

This change in billing and reimbursement of the employer's share of retirement contributions does not affect non-school entities (e.g., State System of Higher Education). Non-School Entities and the Commonwealth will continue to be billed for 50% of the Employer Contributions.



What do the Errors/Warnings Messages Mean?

Troubleshooting for file uploads

Condition	Action Required
The word "WEB" appears in	Delete the file. Re-upload verifying description has correct
the Import Description	exchange. (.txt)
instead of the Import	
Description you entered	

"Invalid Rows" has a value	delete the file. Re-upload.
equal to Imported Rows	
No "Successfully Uploaded	View Import Files Page to determine if file was successful or
Message" displayed	not. If no file is present, then re-upload.
"Invalid Rows" matches	Don't panic! Please contact ESC for instructions.
"Rows Imported" after	
Approval	
Duplicate Files with the	Delete them all!
same name displayed in	Re-upload.
Work Area	
"Invalid Rows" other than	Click Edit in the Details Box; filter on "Any" error; correct all
zero prior to Approval	invalid records.
"Invalid Rows" other than	This condition will occur:
zero after Approval	 if the Invalid records were not corrected prior to approval
	 if there are more than one record with the same Wage Type
	After the Work Report is released, you need to submit a Work Report Adjustment for the records that were dropped (not processed).

Troubleshooting for Header Record Error

Listed below are the validation messages that could be displayed when submitting a Member Demographic, Contract Record, Work Report, or Work Report Adjustment record.

Message	Possible Action Required
Header record has invalid	The Header Record has too many or not have enough
length.	characters. Check Header Row Format for possible
	correction
Invalid header record	The Record being submitted doesn't match the Header
type.	Record Type of the file.
	• D = Demographic File
	C = Contract Record File

Message	Possible Action Required
	R = Work Report File
	 A = Work Report Adjustment File
Incorrect Detail records count.	The Header Record Details doesn't match the Record Count of the File. Check to make sure none of the records dropped a character.
Employer code does not match record on file.	Check to make sure Employer Code is typed correctly.
Employer Code in the header record does not match the parameter.	Employer Code is missing or does not match the Log in ID. Check to make sure Employer Code is typed correctly. Enter the Employer Code in the proper placement within the file.
Detail record does not match expected length.	This is a fixed length file. The Detail Records do not have enough characters. Check to make sure none of the digits dropped.
Identical file already processed.	An exact match of the import is already uploaded in V3. Check to make sure the correct file for uploading is selected.
Error - Invalid fiscal year. Must be in current fiscal year.	The Fiscal Year within the file must coincide with the Work Report Month/Year combination. If the month and year in the Header Record is July, August, or September, then the Fiscal Year can only be the current year or the prior Fiscal Year. EXAMPLE: If the Header Record is July 2021, then the Fiscal Year Detail Record can only be 2021 or 2022. If the month and year in the Header Record is October through June, then the Fiscal Year can only be the current Fiscal Year. EXAMPLE: If the Header Record is November 2021, then the Fiscal Year Detail Record can only be 2022.

Message	Possible Action Required
Error processing file. Invalid period date format	The Month and Year of the Work Report must be in the Header Record. The information is either missing or has an invalid date format. Date format must be MMYYYY.
Error - Invalid fiscal year must be YYYY format	The Month and Year of the Work Report in the Header Record is either missing or has an invalid date format.
Identical file already processed.	Another Processed Work Report contains the same Month and Year combination as the uploaded file. Check to make sure you selected the correct file for uploading.
Work Reports in the future cannot be created.	The Work Report Header Record contains a future dated Month and Year. Employers may only report the current and previous months. Either hold the Work Report until the first day of the month to be reported or confirm the Month and Year values in the Work Report Header Record. Code logic – if work report date is in the future,then stop the import process.
	EXAMPLE: If the current month is December 2021, and a future date of January 2022 is submitted, the system will reject all work reports that are submitted with a date later than December 2021.
Total BASE in the header record does not match with Totals in detail records.	Check to see if any detail record was dropped or a typographical error occurred. The Total Base field in the Header Record must match the sum of all Base fields within the Work Report or the Work Report Adjustment file.
Total URCC in the header record does not match with Totals in detail records.	Check to see if any detail record was dropped or a typographical error occurred. The Total Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation (URCC) field in the Header Record must match the sum of all Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation fields within the Work Report or the Work Report Adjustment file.

Message	Possible Action Required
Total OT in the header record does not match with Totals in detail records.	Check to see if any detail record was dropped or a typographical error occurred. The Total Overtime (OT) field in the Header Record must match the sum of all Overtime fields within the Work Report or the Work Report Adjustment file.
Total SUPP in the header record does not match with Totals in detail records.	Check to see if any detail record was dropped or a typographical error occurred. The Total Supplemental (SUPP) field in the Header Record must match the sum of all Supplemental fields within the Work Report or the Work Report Adjustment file.
Total WNC in the header record does not match with Totals in detail records.	Check to see if any detail record was dropped or a typographical error occurred. The Total Wages No Contributions (WNC) field in the Header Record must match the sum of all Wages fields within the Work Report or the Work Report Adjustment file.
Total MEMBER POS in the header record does not match with Totals in detail records.	Check to see if any detail record was dropped or a typographical error occurred. The Total Member POS Installment field in the Header Record must match the sum of all Member POS Installment fields within the Work Report or the Work Report Adjustment file.

Troubleshooting for Detail Record Error

Listed below are the validation messages that could be displayed when submitting a Member Demographic, Contract Record, Work Report, or Work Report Adjustment record.

Message	Possible Action Required
Member Demographic	Confirm the initial Contract Record has been submitted.
Record must be sent and processed prior to receiving and processing the Contract Record	 If there is no demographic information on file, submit the record before approving the Contract Record File. If there is a demographic record, verify the address is valid.

Message	Possible Action Required
SSN must be 9 digits	Make sure the social security number field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, doesn't contain alpha characters, or has less than 9 digits.
	The Social Security Administration has set up specific rules for the designation of the SSN. SSA uses the following rules for establishing the individual's SSN the: Area Number (first three digits):
	- The area number cannot be 000
	- The area number cannot be 666
	- The area number cannot fall in the 900 series (i.e., area cannot start with 9).
	Group Number (fourth and fifth digits):
SSN [Member SSN] not in	- The group number cannot be all zeros (i.e., 00).
specified range	Serial Number (the last four digits):
	- The serial number cannot be all zeros (i.e., 0000).
	Check to see that a typographical error didn't occur to create the error condition.
	NOTE: As SSA changes its rules, PSERS updates the system validations; however, PSERS is not always able to have the validations updated before you need to report an individual with the new designation. If that happens, contact ESC and PSERS will work with you to create the Member Demographic Record.
Invalid SSN [Member SSN] numeric format	Populate the SSN field. The SSN is a required value.
No contract record on file for this member.	The SSN on the file does not match an SSN / Employer combination. Check to see:
	- If a Contract Record is required.
	 If a typographical error was made in the inputting of the SSN.
	 If a typographical error was made in the Header Record regarding the placement of the Employer ID.

Message	Possible Action Required
Duplicate records submitted for SSN, Wage type, and Fiscal Year combination. Combination must be unique or combined into one record.	The SSN / Contract Record (i.e., Wage Type and Fiscal Year) combination already exists.
	 If you confirm the existing record supports the reporting of wages, contribution (if applicable), and service units, delete the Contract Record from the file
	 If you determine the existing record does not support the reporting of wages, contributions (if applicable), and service units, correct the Contract Record being submitted
Retired member. Please contact ESC for instructions.	Once a member retires, PSERS restricts the reporting of Member Demographic and Contract Record information.
	 If you need to enroll a retired member who returned to work outside the emergency, work shortage, or extracurricular situation, you need to complete the PSRS-1299.
	- If the situation is other than a return to work of a retiree, contact ESC.
Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.	Make sure the birth date field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, doesn't contain an invalid date format, or has less than 8 digits.
Invalid birth date. Age must be greater than 10.	Confirm the school employee's birth year doesn't contain a typographical error.
Invalid birth date. Age must be less than 111	Confirm the school employee's birth year doesn't contain a typographical error.
Age calculated is greater than 69. Confirm Date of Birth	It is unusual, but not impossible, for a school employee to be older than age 69 at time of enrollment. Confirm the school employee's birth year doesn't contain a typographical error.
Date of Birth does not match existing record.	When your file is compared to the records in the pension administration system (V3), the existing SSN / Date of Birth combination does not match the incoming SSN / Date of Birth combination. Confirm the record doesn't contain any typographical errors. If you need to correct either the SSN or the Date of Birth, you must complete the Demographic Information Change Request (PSRS-1870). Continue to report
Message	Possible Action Required
---	--
	the record as originally submitted until you are contacted that the record has been updated.
Gender must be M or F	Make sure the gender field is not blank (null) or doesn't contain a character other than 'M' or 'F'.
Gender does not match existing record	When your file is compared to the records in the pension administration system (V3), the existing SSN / Gender combination does not match the incoming SSN / Gender combination. Confirm the record doesn't contain any typographical errors. If not changed, the record will be updated.
First name cannot be blank	Populate the First Name field. The First Name is a required value.
First Name does not match existing record.	When your file is compared to the records in the pension administration system (V3), the existing SSN / First Name combination does not match the incoming SSN / First Name combination. Confirm the record doesn't contain any typographical errors. If not changed, the record will be updated.
Middle name does not match existing record	When your file is compared to the records in the pension administration system (V3), the existing SSN / Middle Name combination does not match the incoming SSN / Middle Name combination. Confirm the record doesn't contain any typographical errors. If not changed, the record will be updated.
Last name cannot be blank	Populate the Last Name field. The Last Name is a required value.
Last name does not match existing file	When your file is compared to the records in the pension administration system (V3), the existing SSN / Last Name combination does not match the incoming SSN / Last Name combination. Confirm the record doesn't contain any typographical errors. If not changed, the record will be updated.
Invalid Suffix	Populate the Suffix field from the valid values list.

Message	Possible Action Required
Suffix does not match existing record	When your file is compared to the records in the pension administration system (V3), the existing SSN / Suffix combination does not match the incoming SSN / Suffix combination. Confirm the record doesn't contain any typographical errors. If not changed, the record will be updated.
Street Address cannot be blank	Validate the school employees' address and input the information.
City cannot be blank	Validate the school employees' address and input the information.
Invalid City, State, Zip Code Combination	The City/Zip Code or the City/State/Zip Code or the State/Zip Code is not valid according to USPS. Confirm the school employee's address doesn't contain a typographical error.
State cannot be blank	Validate the school employees' address and input the information.
Zip cannot be blank	Validate the school employees' address and input the information.
Invalid Address	Change the word "and" to an ampersand sign "&". The system doesn't recognize "and" as valid record in Address 1, Address 2 and/ or Address 3.
The member's address matches an undeliverable address already on file.	The address in this record matches an invalid address PSERS already has on file for this school employee. Validate the school employees' address and input the information.
Day Phone must be 10 digits	The phone number must contain the area code and the standard 7 digits, without the dash.
Day Phone Extension must be numeric	The Extension must be 5 digits or less; if the extension you are inputting is greater than 5 digits, make the extension 00000.
Evening Phone must be 10 digits	The phone number must contain the area code and the standard 7 digits, without the dash.
Evening Phone Extension must be numeric	The Extension must be 5 digits or less; if the extension you are inputting is greater than 5 digits, make the extension 00000.

Message	Possible Action Required
Other # must be 10 digits	The phone number must contain the area code and the standard 7 digits, without the dash.
Fax must be 10 digits	The fax number must contain the area code and the standard 7 digits, without the dash.
Invalid E-mail. Email Address must contain @ symbol	The email address is missing the @ symbol. Validate the email address and correct the record.
Job Title cannot be blank	Input the Job Title. The file indicates this member is Active or requesting to waive PSERS Membership.
Invalid Employment Type. Must equal "PT" or "FT"	Make sure the Employment Type field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "PT" or "FT". Employment Type must be based on PSERS definition of part time and full time.
Invalid Wage Type. Must equal "SA", "HR", or "PD"	Make sure the Wage Type field is not blank (null) or is equal to "SA", "PD", or "HR" based on employee's contract.
Invalid Work Status.	Make sure the Work Status field is not blank (null) or is equal to ACTIVE, ACTIVW, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN, or DECESD. The Wage Status value must be set based on the employee's contract.
Invalid Work Status Start Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.	Make sure the Work Status Start Date field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, an invalid date format, or is less than 8 digits.
Work Status Start Date should not be earlier than July, 2004	Confirm the employee's Work Status Start Date doesn't contain a typographical error. If correcting a Contract Period prior to 07/01/2004, then contact ESC for assistance.
Start Date cannot be earlier than 07/01/2004. Please contact ESC for instructions if you need to enroll a member with a Start Date prior to 07/01/2004.	Confirm the school employee's Work Status Start Date doesn't contain a typographical error. If you are correcting a Contract Period prior to 07/01/2004, then contact ESC for assistance.

Message	Possible Action Required
Invalid Work Status Start Date. Member must be	Confirm the school employee's Work Status Start Date or Birth Date doesn't contain a typographical error.
greater than 10 years of age.	If the Start Date and Birth Date are correct, the school employee is too young to be enrolled.
Start Date cannot be more than 6 months in the future.	Confirm the school employee's Work Status Start Date doesn't contain a typographical error. If the Start Date is correct, hold the Contract Record. PSERS will not accept a contract record Start Date that is greater than 6 months in the future.
Invalid Work Status End Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.	Make sure the Work Status End Date field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, an invalid date format, or is less than 8 digits.
The Work Status End Date must be greater than or equal to the Work Status Start Date.	Confirm the school employee's Work Status Start Date or End Date doesn't contain a typographical error.
Expected Months must be "9 - 12".	Make sure the Expected Months field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "9", "10", "11", or "12". based on the position's full time equivalent.
Expected Units must be "180-275".	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the days the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units must be "900" or greater.	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the hours the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units must be "180" or greater.	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the days the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units should be "900-2,600".	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the hours the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units should be "180-217".	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the days the school employee is working in the school year.

Message	Possible Action Required
Expected Units should be "200-230".	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the days the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units should be "231-275".	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the days the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units should be "900 – 1440"	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the hours the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units should be "1000 – 1600"	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the hours the school employee is working in the school year.
Expected Units should be "1100 – 1760"	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the hours the school employee is working in the school year
Expected Units should be "1200 – 2100"	Make sure the Expected Units field is not blank (null) or is equal to the Expected Units for position's full time equivalent, not the hours the school employee is working in the school year.
Invalid Voting Status. Must be "Y" (Certified) or "N" (Non-Certified).	 Make sure the Voting Status field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "Y" or "N". "Y" should be used when the position is 'Certified' by the Department of Education (do not use 'C'). "N" should be used when the position is '<u>NOT</u> Certified' by the Department of Education.
Invalid BOC Flag. BOC Flag must equal "Y" or "N"	Make sure the BOC Flag field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "Y" or "N". PSERS needs to know whether or not you need to report additional salary for this school employee after the termination month or month of death.
Invalid BOC Flag. BOC Flag and Outstanding Service Flag mismatch.	Make sure the BOC Flag field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "Y" or "N". PSERS needs to know whether or not you need to report additional salary for this school employee after the termination month or month of death.

Message	Possible Action Required
Invalid BOC/Svc End Date. Must be in MMYYYY format.	Make sure the BOC/Svc End Date field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, doesn't contain an invalid date format, or has less than 6 digits.
	PSERS needs to know when this school employee's salary, contributions (if applicable), and service reporting will be completed. This date should represent the last Work Report in which this school employee will be present.
BOC End Date cannot be more than 3 months in the future.	It is understood by PSERS that some payroll systems collect and report service units (days and/or hours) at the end of the fiscal year in June for Salaried employees; however, PSERS needs the information to finalize retirement benefits for our members.
	The Balance of Contract (BOC) for both service and salary must be reported to PSERS within 3 months of the school employee's termination month.
Invalid Outstanding Service Flag. Must equal "Y" or "N"	Make sure the BOC Flag field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "Y" or "N". PSERS needs to know whether or not you need to report additional service units for this school employee after the termination month or month of death.
Invalid fiscal year. Must be in YYYY format.	Make sure the Fiscal Year Ending (Year) field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, and contains 4 digits. The Fiscal Year must be greater than 1919 and less than or equal to the current Fiscal Year.
	PSERS needs to know to which fiscal (school) year the detail record being submitted for the school employee apples. The Year should represent the year the service was rendered, not the year the money was paid.
Invalid fiscal year. Fiscal year must be between 1919 and current fiscal year	Make sure the Fiscal Year Ending (Year) field is not blank (null), doesn't contain all zeros, and contains 4 digits. The Fiscal Year must be greater than 1919 and less than or equal to the current Fiscal Year.
	A July Work History Adjustment when a July Work Report record has not been submitted would be an exception to the rule. If no Work Report has been submitted for the current

Message	Possible Action Required
	fiscal year, then no adjustments can be made to the current fiscal year detail record.
	EXAMPLE 1: If the Header Record is November 2021, then the Work History Adjustment Fiscal Year Detail Record can contain any fiscal year from 1920 to 2021
	EXAMPLE 2: If the Header Record is July 2021 and no July 2021 Work Report has been approved, then the Work History Adjustment Fiscal Year Detail Record can contain any Fiscal Year from 1920 to 2020.
	EXAMPLE 3: If the Header Record is July 2021 and the July 2021 Work Report has been approved, then the Work History Adjustment Fiscal Year Detail Record can contain any Fiscal Year from 1920 to 2022.
Invalid wage type. Must be in (SA, PD, HR).	Make sure the Work Type field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value Salaried (SA), Per Diem (PD), or Hourly (HR). The Wage Type value must be set based on the school employee's contract.
Wage Type does not match Contract Record	Make sure the Work Type field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value Salaried (SA), Per Diem (PD), or Hourly (HR). The Wage Type value must be set based on the school employee's contract.
Invalid work status	Make sure the Work Status field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value ACTIVE, ACTIVW, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN, or DECESD. The Wage Status value must be set based on the school employee's contract.
NOWORK is not a valid work status	NOWORK is no longer a valid Work Status. If the school employee did not work during the Month/Year of the Work Report being submitted, delete the school employee from the record.
	Make sure the Work Status field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value ACTIVE, ACTIVW, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN,

Message	Possible Action Required
	STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN, or DECESD. The Wage Status value must be set based on the school employee's contract.
Work Status does not match Contract Record	The Work Status on the Work Report must match the Contract Record that you submitted for the time period being reported. There are four fields on the Work Report that <u>must match</u> the Contract Record on file to ensure accurate reporting for the school employee: Employer, Wage Type, Work Status, and Year. All Work Status Codes on the report must be within the Contract Record Start and End Date.
	Make sure the Work Status field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value ACTIVE, ACTIVW, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN, or DECESD. The Wage Status value must be set based on the school employee's contract.
Work Status does not match the Contract Record in effect for the Adjustment Period.	The Work Status on the Work Report Adjustment must match the Contract Record that you submitted for the time period being reported. There are four fields on the Work Report Adjustment that <u>must match</u> the Contract Record on file to ensure accurate reporting for the school employee: Employer, Wage Type, Work Status, and Year. All Work Status Codes on the report must be within the Contract Record Start and End Date.
	Make sure the Work Status field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value ACTIVE, ACTIVW, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN, or DECESD. The Wage Status value must be set based on the school employee's contract.
Report period is after BOC Service End date.	According to the BOC Service End Date you submitted for this school employee, PSERS is not expecting to be receiving any additional Work Reports. Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.

Message	Possible Action Required
Contact ESC when reporting after the BOC End date.	According to the BOC Service End Date you submitted for this school employee, PSERS is not expecting to be receiving any additional Work Reports. Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.
Active Waiver contract record cannot have Wages or Service	According to the Work Status on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS is not expecting to be receiving any Wages or Days or Hours. Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.
Base, Supplemental, and WNC amounts cannot all equal zero if status is ACTIVE	According to the Work Status 'Active' on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS expects to be receiving Wages. Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.
Base amount cannot be zero if status is SABTLC	According to the Work Status SABTLC on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS expects to be receiving Wages in both the Base and URCC fields of the Work Report. Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.
Base and URCC amounts cannot both equal zero if status is < <code>></code>	According to the Work Status ACTMLC, EXCHGC, SSLSSC, SSLWCC, STUDYC, or UNIONC on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS expects to be receiving Wages in either the URCC field or both the Base and URCC fields of the Work Report. Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.
Maximum Base wages cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month	Confirm the school employee's Base Salary reported in the Work Report doesn't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed \$50,000 per month. Determine if the wages being reported are exactly retirement covered compensation or should be reported in the Non- Retirement Covered Compensation (NRCC) field.

Message	Possible Action Required
URCC amount cannot equal zero if status is SABTLC	If you reported the Work Status of SABTLC on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS is expecting to be receiving Wages in both the Base and URCC fields of the Work Report.
	If you reported the Work Status of ACTMLC, EXCHGC, SSLSSC, SSLWCC, STUDYC, or UNIONC on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS expects to be receiving Wages in either the URCC field or both the Base and URCC fields of the Work Report.
	Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.
Maximum URCC wages cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month	Confirm the school employee's URCC Salary reported in the Work Report doesn't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed \$50,000 per month.
	Determine if the wages being reported are exactly retirement covered compensation or should be reported in the Non- Retirement Covered Compensation (NRCC) field.
Overtime amount cannot be greater than zero if base is zero	The employee cannot work overtime without working the school employee's regular position. Determine if the wages being reported should be supplemental income rather than Overtime. If the overtime wages are correct, then the Base salary must be reported on this same record.
Maximum overtime wages cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month	Confirm the school employee's Overtime Salary reported in the Work Report doesn't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed \$50,000 per month.
	Determine if the wages being reported are exactly retirement covered compensation or should be reported in the Non- Retirement Covered Compensation (NRCC) field.
Maximum supplemental wages cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month	Confirm the school employee's Supplemental Salary reported in the Work Report doesn't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed \$50,000 per month.

Message	Possible Action Required
	Determine if the wages being reported are exactly retirement covered compensation or should be reported in the Non- Retirement Covered Compensation (NRCC) field.
Contributions cannot equal zero when an amount has been specified for Base, Supplemental, Overtime, or URCC.	 Wages were reported in the Base, URCC, OT, and/or SUP field(s) on the Work Report or Work Report Adjustment record. You must deduct retirement contributions from these wages. If the wages being reported are not retirement covered compensation, then the wages should be reported in the NRCC field. If the school employee is working part-time and has not met the minimum qualifications for PSERS membership, then you may choose not to withhold retirement contributions until the school employee qualifies for PSERS membership.
Contribution rate should be << % >>	According to the Member Contribution Rate (Rate) PSERS has on record for this school employee, the sum of the Base, URCC, OT, and SUP fields multiplied by the Rate does not equal the value reported in the Contributions field. Confirm your calculation. If your calculation is correct, review the employee's contract record details on the Roster Page to confirm the school employee's Member Contribution Rate.
Invalid Reason Code	The Reason Code on this record is not a valid PSERS Reason Code. Make sure the Reason Code field is not blank (null) or is equal to a valid value: SALARY, CNTRCT, LMPSUM, SVCADJ, LATRPT, MEMPOS, UNCRDT, or CAWARD.
Base, URCC, OT, SUP, CONTRIB, POS, EXSAL and NRCC must be zero if Reason code is UNCRDT.	The Reason Code UNCRDT is used to report salary and service units (i.e., days and hours) for a previous fiscal year when the school employee was accidentally not reported to PSERS. PSERS will send both you and the school employee a Statement of Amount Due. NOTE: Only service (Days/ months) and WNC should be allowed for UNCRDT for all wage types.
Wage Indicator and Contrib Withheld Flags both must be specified for	Make sure the Wage Indicator field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "Y" or "N".

Message	Possible Action Required
Reason Code < <reason CODE>>.</reason 	Make sure the Contributions Withheld field is not blank (null) or is equal to the valid value of "Y" or "N".
Hours must be greater than zero if wage type is Hourly	When the Wage Type is equal to Hourly, you must report hours.
Max hours should not exceed 300 in any month	Confirm the school employee's hours reported in the Work Report don't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed 300 hours per month.
Days must be greater than zero if wage type is Per Diem	When the Wage Type is equal to Per Diem, you must report days.
Annual service must be reported in June	When the Wage Type is equal to Salaried, you must report days in the month of June if you haven't reported the service units throughout the fiscal (school) year.
Days cannot be greater than 365	Confirm the school employee's days reported in the Work Report don't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed 365 days per month.
verify days July -December work reports cannot report more than130 days	Confirm the school employee's days reported in the Work Report don't contain a typographical error. The reported amount shouldn't exceed 130 days in a July through December Work Report month.
Verify Days; January - June work reports cannot report more than 280 days	Confirm the school employee's days reported in the Work Report don't contain a typographical error. The reported amount shouldn't exceed 280 days in a January through May Work Report month.
WNC amount cannot be zero if work status is < <work status="">> (Work Status Valid Values: ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, or EXCHGN)</work>	According to the Work Status on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS expects to be receiving Wages in the WNC field of the Work Report. Confirm the information on the Work Report.

Message	Possible Action Required			
WNC must equal zero for this leave status	According to the Work Status of LEAVEN or WKCMPN on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee, PSERS does not expect to be receiving Wages in the WNC field of the Work Report. This Administrative Leave type is not retirement covered compensation and may not be purchased when the school employee returns to an active contribution status with PSERS and therefore should not be reported at all or in the NRCC column.			
WNC amount must be zero for Full-time members	According to the Full-time Employment Type on the Contract Record you must withhold contributions from the employee's salary/wages. The salary/wages needs to be reported in the Base or SUP fields on the Work Report.			
WNC amount must be zero for Salaried members	According to the Salaried Wage Type on the Contract Record you submitted for this school employee; you must withhold contributions from the school employee's salary/wages. The salary/wages needs to be reported in the Base or SUP fields on the Work Report.			
	Confirm the information on the Work Report. If the information contained in the Work Report is correct, contact ESC for assistance.			
Member is Qualified; begin withholding	The school employee has met the minimum service requirements to be a member of PSERS. You must withhold contributions from the member's salary/wages. The member's qualification is reported on the CROQ report. Report as if contributions were withheld and recoup from the employee. Begin withholding contributions on your next payroll cycle.			
Member is Qualified; WNC should not be reported	The school employee has met the minimum service requirements to be a member of PSERS. You must withhold contributions from the member's salary/wages. The member's qualification is reported on the CROQ report. Report as if contributions were withheld and recoup from the employee. Begin withholding contributions on your next payroll cycle.			
Base, Supplemental, and WNC amounts cannot all be zero if status is ACTIVE	According to the Contract Record, this school employee has an ACTIVE Work Status with either an Hourly or Per Diem Wage Type. You must report the salary/wages earned by this school			

Message	Possible Action Required
and wage type is either Hourly or Per Diem	employee in one of the following wage fields: Base, SUP, or WNC.
Base, Supplemental, URCC and WNC amounts cannot all be zero if status is < <work status="">> and wage type is either Hourly or Per Diem (Work Status Valid Values: ACTMLC, EXCHGC, STUDYC, SSLSSC, SSLWCC, SABTLC, UNIONC, TRMNTN, or DECESD)</work>	According to the Work Status on the Contract Record for this school employee and the Wage Type of Hourly or Per Diem. You must report the salary/wages earned by this school employee in one of the following wage fields: Base, SUP, URCC, or WNC.
Maximum wages w/o contributions cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month.	Confirm the school employee's WNC (Wages No Contributions) reported in the Work Report doesn't contain a typographical error. The reported amount cannot exceed \$50,000 per month. Determine if the wages being reported are retirement covered compensation or should be reported in the Non- Retirement Covered Compensation (NRCC) field.
Negative member POS [- NNN] amount. NOTE: Here NNN is the amount displayed in the POS field.	The Purchase of Service Installment amount must be positive when reported in a Work Report. Confirm the Work Report doesn't contain a typographical error. If the amount is to remain a negative, then delete the value from the Work Report and submit a Work Report Adjustment to report the negative purchase of service installment.
The member POS installment cannot be blank.	When reporting a Work Report Adjustment with the Reason Code of 'MEMPOS', you must report either a positive or negative purchase of service installment amount.
Member has no POS balance due, MEMPOS must be zero.	According to PSERS records, the member doesn't have any purchase of service debts. Confirm the MEMPOS reported doesn't contain any typographical errors.

nessage	Possible Action Required
Nember has no POS	According to PSERS records, the member doesn't have any
palance due; MEMPOS	purchase of service debts. Confirm the MEMPOS reported
an't be greater than zero.	doesn't contain any typographical errors.
valance due; MEMPOS can't be greater than zero.	purchase of service debts. Confirm the MEMPOS reported doesn't contain any typographical errors.



File Formats for Imported Files

To transmit a file to PSERS for the DB information, all information in the file must be in the correct format, as follows:

• Save the file as a plain text (ASCII) file that contains only Member Demographic Information, Member Contract Record, Work Report, or Work History Adjustment.

DO NOT mix Member Demographic Information, Member Contract Records, Work Report Records, and/or Work Report Adjustment Records into one file.

- Specific file extensions must be used when creating the file. The two types are .txt and V3D. No other file extension types will be accepted.
- When saving the file do not use colons or special characters in the file name.
- The first line in the file is a header row.
- Each individual record must appear on its own record row.
- All record rows must be in the *fixed-record* (fixed width) format.
- Report the fields in each record row in the order identified below.
- All numeric (non-decimal) fields must be right justified, zero-padded left. If the field is optional and will not be populated with data, zero-fill it; do not leave it blank. Blank fields will corrupt the data fields that follow, and an error will occur in the file upload.
- Date fields are considered numeric. If a date field is optional and will not be populated with data, zero-fill it; don't leave it blank. Blank fields will corrupt the data fields that follow and cause an error in file upload.
- All alpha or alphanumeric fields must be left justified, space-filled to the right. If the field is optional and will not be populated with data, space-fill it; don't leave it blank. Blank fields will corrupt the data fields that follow and cause an error in file upload.
- Implied decimals cannot be used, but when an example shows a numeric value with a decimal point, zero-value fields must include this decimal point in that place. Refer to the specific specification below for the field format.
- For fields that are numeric signed, the minus sign must appear as the leftmost position in the field if the value is less than zero; otherwise, the leftmost position would have a zero in it.
- All header and record lines must be Carriage Return, Line Feed (CRLF Hexadecimal 0D25) delimited.
- All fields in the file are character-based and fixed-length. Some fields require a particular character, such as a decimal point, in a specific place. The sample data shown for each field indicates the layout of that field. All records must use this layout for both real data and "empty" or "zero value" data.

Member Demographic Records Specification--Format for Member Demographic Information Files

The Member Demographic Import is a process that allows employers to send a Member Demographic File to PSERS with detailed member indicative information so that the System can be updated with the most current address and census information for each member. The Member Demographic Import needs to be run separately from the Work Report Process and/or Contract Record Process. The address information received via the Member Demographic Import will always update the member's Residence Address.

Employers must now submit member demographic and contract record files as soon as they are able after hiring a new employee as that creates the participant record with Voya which is needed to upload the work report to Voya on the staff's first pay date.

NOTE: The email address field is required for all demographic entries and changes.

A Member Demographic Confirmation Letter is generated and sent to the member when an initial demographic record is approved and for every change to the demographic record. However, it is not generated if an employer uploads and approves a demographic file for a member who already has a record in the V3 Member module, even if the record in that file updates the information in V3 for this member. This letter may be sent electronically into the Members MSS account or through the mail.

Member Demographic Record File Header Record

Key for R/O/C column:

- R = Required field
- O= Optional
- C= Conditional

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Header Record Type	R	1	1	D=Demographic	D	Describes the incoming file type; Member census and residential address information.
Employer Code	R	6	2	Numeric	002345	Unique Employer ID; right- justified; zero-padded left
Detail Record Count	R	6	8	Numeric 000000	002680	Total number of detail records for this header record; Right-justified; Zero-padded left
File Creation Date and Time	R	12	14	Date MMDDYYYYHHMM	102520031400	File creation date and time; Member Demographic Record File created on October 25, 2003 at 2 pm.

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Filler	R	338	26	NULL		Filler. Space filled to match fixed length of detail record.

All fields are required. "Start" indicates what column that field begins in on the header line. "Bytes" indicates how many bytes (characters) are in the field. All fields are a fixed length.

EXAMPLE: The following sample header uses the information as shown in the above table:

D002345002680102520211400

In this example, a Member Demographic Information File from Employer 002345 is being submitted with 2,680 records in it. The file was created on October 25, 2021 at 14:00 (2:00 p.m.).

Each Member Demographic Information Record must consist of a single row of information, in the following format:

Member Demographic Record

Field	R/O	Byte s	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
SSN	R	9	1	Numeric	149250245	Member's SSN. Right justified; zero-padded left
Last Name	R	33	10	Alpha	AARON	Member's Last Name. Left Justified, Space Filled
First Name	R	35	43	Alpha	SMITH	Member's First Name. Left Justified, Space Filled
Middle Name	0	35	78	Alpha	JOHN	Member's Middle Name. Left Justified, Space Filled
Suffix	0	3	113	JR, SR, I, II, III, IV, V	JR	Member's Suffix. Left Justified, Space Filled

Field	R/O	Byte s	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Gender	R	1	116	"M" or "F"	F	Member's Gender information; "M" = Male, "F" = Female
Birth Date	R	8	117	Date MMDDYYYY	07231958	Member's date of birth Used as database key to prevent accidental update of the wrong member.
Address1	0	35	125	Alphanumeric	Care Of	First Line of Member's Residence Address Compliant with Postal Regulations. Left Justified, Space Filled
Address2	0	35	160	Alphanumeric	Apt/Suite/ Floor	Second Line of Member's Residence Address Compliant with Postal Regulations. Left Justified, Space Filled
Address3	R	35	195	Alphanumeric	Street Address	Third Line of Member's Residence Address Compliant with Postal Regulations. Left Justified, Space Filled
City	R	21	230	Alphanumeric	HARRISBURG	Member's City of Residence Compliant with Postal Regulations. Member's city of residence. Left Justified, Space Filled
State	R	2	251	Alphanumeric	PA	Member's state of residence.
Zip	R	9	253	Alphanumeric	171080125	Member's residence zip code (including plus 4). Zero-padded right
Country	0	2	262	Alpha	US	Member's country of residence. Default to US

Field	R/O	Byte s	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Day Phone	0	10	264	Numeric	7177878540	Member's Day phone (Area Code & Telephone Number) Addresses. Phone 1
Day Phone Ext	0	5	274	Numeric	0245	Member's Day Phone Extension Right-justified; Zero-padded left Addresses.Ext_1
Evening Phone	0	10	279	Numeric	7177878540	Member's Evening phone (Area Code & Telephone Number) Address Phone 2
Evening Ext	0	5	289	Numeric	00032	Member's Evening Phone Extension Right-justified; Zero-padded left Addresses.Ext_2
Other Number	0	10	294	Numeric	7177878540	Member's Other phone (Area Code & Telephone Number) Right-justified; Zero-padded left Address Phone 3
Fax	0	10	304	Numeric	7177878540	Member's Fax (Area Code Telephone Number). Right-justified; Zero-padded left Address Phone 4
Email	0	50	314	Alphanumeric	<u>A@US.COM</u>	Member's Email address. Left Justified, Space Filled

File Validations

Error = Entire record rejected. No V3 update will take place until the employer corrects the rejected record.

Warning/Exception = Record accepted. V3 is updated based on record details but with warning message(s) provided back to the employer.

On the Import Detail Window in V3 or the Web Import GUI, the following error messages will appear. If multiple errors exist for any given record, the System will identify each error and list them.

NOTE: The only address information V3 will audit is Address Line 1, Address Line 2, Address Line 3, City, State, Zip, and Country.

NOTE: The Address History Audit feature will also track the Source of change (e.g., username, system, employer code and user login id), Insert Date, Inserted By (e.g., username, system, employer code and user login id), Updated By (e.g., username, system, employer code and user login id) and Update Date.

Prior to committing the demographic information to the database, the address information will be cleansed by the "Postal Software."

Member Demographic Detail Record – File Validations (NOTE: Conditions highlighted in gray assume that the incoming SSN and DOB match the current record on file. Field #1 represents data on system. Field #2 represents incoming field on demographic file.

Field	Condition(s)	Error	Message
Header Record	If the Header Record length is incorrect	Not Processed	Not Processed because header record does not match expected length.
Header Record Type	If the Header Record Type <> D	Not Processed	Not Processed because record type is not valid
Detail Record Count	If the header record Detail Record Count doesn't match the V3 record count of the Demographic Detail Records	Not Processed	Not Processed because Detail Record Count does not match the number of Demographic Detail records.
Employer Code	If the employer code is not found in the system	Not Processed	Not Processed because employer code does not match record on file.
Detail Record	If the Detail Record length is incorrect	Not Processed	Not Processed because detail record does not match expected length.
File Creation Date and Time	File with identical file creation date and time stamp is attempted to be processed twice	Not Processed	Not Processed because identical file already processed

Header Record Validations

Field	Condition(s)	Error	Message	
	If NULL or all zeros	Error	SSN must be 9 digits.	
SSN	If less than 9 digits	Error	SSN must be 9 digits.	
	If the SSN is invalid based on the following rules for the area number (first three digits), the group number (fourth and fifth digits), and the serial number (the last four digits).			
	 The area number cannot be 000 The area number cannot be 666 The area number cannot fall in the 900 series (i.e., area cannot start with 9). The group number cannot be all zeros (i.e., 00). The serial number cannot be all zeros (i.e., 0000). 	Error	SSN [Member SSN] not in specified range	
	If SSN is for a member whose status = Retired	Error	Retired member. Please contact your ESC Regional Representative for instructions.	
	If NULL or all zeros	Error	Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.	
	If less than 8 digits	Error	Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.	
	If invalid date format	Error	Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.	
Date of Birth	If Age is not greater than 10	Error	Invalid birth date. Age must be greater than 10.	
	If Age is greater than or equal to 111	Error	Invalid birth date. Age must be less than 111	
	If Age is greater than 69, but less than or equal to 111	Warning	Age calculated is greater than 69. Confirm Date of Birth	
	If existing SSN = incoming SSN but DOB 1 <> DOB2	Error	Date of Birth does not match existing record.	
Gender	If NULL	Error	Gender must be M or F	
	If <> M or F	Error	Gender must be M or F	

Detail Record Validations

Field	Condition(s)	Error	Message
	If NULL	Error	First name cannot be blank
First Name	If First Name1 <> First Name 2 then Replace First Name 1 with First Name 2	Warning	First Name does not match existing record.
Middle Name	If Middle Name 1 <> Middle Name 2 then Replace Middle Name 1 with Middle Name 2	Warning	Middle name does not match existing record
	If NULL	Error	Last name cannot be blank
Last Name	If Last Name1 <> Last Name 2 and Gender 2 = "F" then Replace Last Name 1 with Last Name 2	Warning	Last name does not match existing file
	If Last Name1 <> Last Name 2 and Gender 2= "M" then Replace Last Name 1 with Last Name 2	Warning	Last name does not match existing file
Suffix	If <> to standard V3 list (see record layout above) then Do not update record	Warning	Invalid Suffix
	If Suffix 1 <> Suffix 2 Replace Suffix 1 with Suffix 2	Warning	Suffix does not match existing record
Street	If NULL	Error	Street Address cannot be blank
	If NULL	Error	City cannot be blank
City	If City, State and Zip do not match based on postal code regulation NOTE : This validation only occurs when the Zip code is in 5-digit format. The system will skip this validation if the zip code is in ZIP+ 4 format.	Error	Invalid City, State, Zip Code Combination
	If NULL	Error	State cannot be blank
State	If City, State and Zip do not match based on postal code regulation NOTE : This validation only occurs when the Zip code is in 5-digit format. The system will skip this validation if the zip code is in ZIP+ 4 format.	Error	Invalid City, State, Zip Code Combination
Zip	If NULL	Error	Zip cannot be blank

Field	Condition(s)	Error	Message
	If City, State and Zip do not match based on postal code regulation. NOTE : This validation only occurs when the Zip code is in 5-digit format. The system will skip this validation if the zip code is in ZIP+ 4 format.	Error	Invalid City, State, Zip Code Combination
Address 1, Address 2, Address 3	If word "AND" is in Care Of, Apartment or Street Address	Error	Invalid Address NOTE : The user will use ampersand sign "&" instead of word "AND" since the system doesn't recognize "AND" as valid record in Address 1, Address 2 and/ or Address 3.
Address	If Address 1 = Address 2 and Invalid Address Indicator is on	Error	The member's address matches an undeliverable address already on file.
"Address" = Line 1, Line 2, Line 3, City, State, Zip	If Address 1 <> Address 2 then Update "Address" and Use Employer as Source	N/A	N/A NOTE: Residence Address information updated in V3 and new audit record created.
Day Phone	If less than 10 digits	Warning Field NOT updated	Day Phone must be 10 digits
Day Phone Ext	If less than 5 digits	Warning Field NOT updated	Day Phone Extension must be numeric
Evening Phone	If less than 10 digits	Warning Field NOT updated	Evening Phone must be 10 digits
Evening Phone Ext	If less than 5 digits	Warning Field NOT updated	Evening Phone Extension must be numeric

Field	Condition(s)	Error	Message
Other Number	If less than 10 digits	Warning Field NOT updated	Other # must be 10 digits
Fax	If less than 10 digits	Warning Field NOT updated	Fax must be 10 digits
E-mail	If missing '@' sign	Warning Field NOT updated	Invalid E-mail. Email Address must contain @ symbol
Email	If missing	Error	An email address must be provided for all new members as part of the Demographic information.

V3 Error Processing - Error/Warning/Successful Processing Logic

The system will continue processing the record even when an error is encountered so that all the errors can be reported back to the employer collectively and the employer will only need to fix all the records once. The ESS system will identify the errors. Employers must use the filter options to determine which errors/warnings are present and correct them before processing the file.

If the required field validation rules are satisfied, the System will update the member's census information and/or residence address and create a new audit record where appropriate (as defined above). The Member History Audit feature will also track Source of change (e.g., username, system, employer code and user login id), Inserted Date, Inserted By (e.g., username, system, employer code and user login id), Updated By (e.g., username, system, employer code and user login id), Dated

The demographic record will create a new member in V3 updating the Person, Member and Address table.

Format for Contract Record Files – Specification

Prior to submitting a monthly Work Report, employers are required to submit a Contract Record for each job title the member holds. The Contract Record will be submitted electronically via the ESS system. The Contract Record contains work related information to determine PSERS eligibility, final average salary (FAS) calculations, purchase of service (POS) functions, waiver requests, and voting status rights.

The Contract Record will help provide the FAS framework for determining the member's percent of contract worked and feed into the salary annualization calculation. Also, with the addition of the DC component the contract records will be pulled at a much higher frequency and reported to PSERS. The monthly Work Report will be used to apply actual months and units worked against the expected FAS information. The Contract Record also allows for PSERS to compensate for the fact that employers cannot provide daily work history information. The Contract Record provides the flexibility for employers to report Work Status and/or Personnel Codes to the specific day.

Following are the nine main fields on a Contract Record:

- a. Job Title
- b. Employment Type
- c. Wage Type
- d. Work Status
- e. Work Status Start Date
- f. Work Status End Date
- g. Expected Months
- h. Expected Units
- i. Voting Status

If any of the data in the "main" fields on the Contract Record change (except for Voting Status), the employer will be required to submit a new Contract Record to PSERS.

The Work Status field will be used to indicate the employee's current job status, whether the member is contributing or not, job termination, and whether the member is requesting to waive PSERS membership.

Employers must submit their Contract Record Files as soon as they have a start date for their New Hire. This is because the information is needed for Voya to create a participant account and for qualification purposes if they are Full-Time or Salaried.

The Roster Page may be accessed at any time. Because timeliness is important when reporting the death of an active member, PSERS requires the death notification of active members via manual Contact Record entry unless the Contract Record File is to be submitted the same day. Employers can view the status of their Contract Record File and/or submit a "new" Contract Record.

The Contract Record File will first be processed for field level (e.g., SSN cannot be blank, etc.) and then business rule validations. ESS will check to see if the member has waived PSERS membership.

NOTE: Corrections to an erroneous Contract Record must be corrected via the Roster Page inside ESS. If a Work Report was already submitted for the erroneous Contract Record a workflow will be triggered for PSERS staff to determine next steps. This should be a "rare" occurrence.

EXAMPLES:

A) Field Level Validations – Record Layout

The file will be reviewed for readability (i.e. syntax and file generation) and compliancy with required field rules. The record will be rejected, if a required field is blank or not in the appropriate format.

Contract Record File Header Record

Key for R/O/C column:

R = Required field O= Optional C= Conditional

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Header Record Type	R	1	1	C=Contract	С	Describes the incoming file type
Employer Code	R	6	2	Numeric	002345	Unique employer ID. Right- justified; zero-padded left. NOTE : Some Employer ID's coming from the Legacy System (conversion) will have alpha characters; however, future Employer ID's will all be Numeric.
Detail Record Count	R	6	8	Numeric 000000	002680	Total number of detail records for this header record type. Right-justified; Zero-padded left.
File Creation Date and Time	R	12	14	Date MMDDYYYYHHM M	1025200314 00	File creation date and time; Contract Record File created on October 25, 2003 at 2 pm.
Filler	R	115	26	Spaces		Filler. Space filled to match length of detail record.

All fields are required. "**Start**" indicates what column that field begins in on the header line. "**Bytes**" indicates how many bytes (characters) are in the field. All fields are a fixed length.

EXAMPLE: The following sample header uses the information as shown in the above table:

C002345002680102520211400

In this example, a Member Contract Information File from Employer 002345 is being submitted with 2,680 records in it. The file was created on October 25, 2021, at 14:00 (2:00 p.m.).

Record Rows in the Member Contract Information File

Each Member Contract Record must consist of a single row of information, in the following format:

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Value s	Sample	Comments
SSN	R	9	1	Numeric	149250245	Right justified; zero-padded left.
Last Name	R	33	10	Alpha	AARON	Left Justified, Space Filled
First Name	R	35	43	Alpha	SMITH	Left Justified, Space Filled
Date of Birth	R	8	78	Date MMDDYYYY	07231958	Member's date of birth Used as database key to prevent accidental update of the wrong member.
Job Title	с	50	86	Alphanumeric No predefined values	Teacher	Required when Work Status = ACTIVE or ACTIVW, else Blank Free form. Job title is reviewed for PSERS membership eligibility.
Employment Type	с	2	136	PT= Part-time FT= Full-time	PT	Required when Work Status = ACTIVE or ACTIVW, else Blank Used to determine waiver eligibility, Work Status, contributing status, and additional validation rules on Work Reports.

Contract Record File Detail

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Value s	Sample	Comments
				SA = Salary		Required when Work Status = ACTIVE or ACTIVW, else Blank
Wage Type	С	2	138	HR = Hourly	SA	Used to determine "qualifying
				PD = Per Diem		additional validation rules on Work Reports.
						ACTIVE = Actively working (contributing or non- contributing)
				ACTIVE		ACTIVW = Waiver Request
				ACTIVW		SABTLC = Sabbatical
		6		SABTLC		ACTMLC = Paid Activated
				ACTMLC		Military
				SSLWCC		SSLWCC = Paid Special Sick Leave Worker's Comp:
				SSLSSC		SSLSSC = Paid Special Sick
				STUDYC	ACTIVE	Leave School Sponsored
			140			STUDYC = Paid Professional Study
Work Status	R			ACTMLN		EXCHGC = Paid Exchange Teacher
				SSLWCN		UNIONC = Paid Collective Barg
				SSLSSN		Unit
				STUDYN		ACTMLN = Unpaid Activated
				EXCHNGN		SSI WCN = Unpaid Special Sick
				WKCMPN		Leave Worker's Comp:
				LEAVEN		SSLSSN = Unpaid Special Sick
				TRMNTN		Leave School Sponsored
				DECESD		STUDYN = Unpaid Professional Study
						EXCHGN = Unpaid Exchange Teacher

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Value s	Sample	Comments
						WKCMPN = Worker's Comp Leave
						LEAVEN =Any Other Leave not listed
						TRMNTN = Termination
						DECESD = Deceased
						Start Date of the given Work Status
Work Status Start Date	R	8	146	Date MMDDYYYY	10252003	NOTE: The Employer cannot create a Contract Record with a Work Status start date prior to July 1, 2004. However, PSERS staff will be able to add these records in the GUI and will be able to correct records which already have this condition. When an employee is ending all Job Titles with an employer, a Contract Record with a Work Status = TRMNTN should be sent. If a member dies "in service", a Contract Record with a Work
						Status = DECESD should be sent. End Date of the given Work
Work Status End Date	С	8	154	Date MMDDYYYY	10252003	Status NOTE : The Employer cannot enter an End Date that is earlier than the Start Date. However, PSERS staff will be able to correct records on the GUI which already have this condition. When an employee is ending a specific Job Title, the original Contract Record for that specific Job Title should be sent with a Work Status End Date

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Value s	Sample	Comments
						. [NOTE: The termination date and date of death get populated in the start date field
Expected Months	С	2	162	Numeric ##	10	Required when Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased. Information used for FAS. See Validation Section for conditional logic.
Expected Units	С	4	164	Numeric ####	180	Required when Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased Information used for FAS. See Validation Section for conditional logic.
Voting Status	С	1	168	NULL Y = Certified N = Non- certified	Y	Determines Board Election Voting Rights; Required when Work Status = ACTIVE, else Blank.
BOC Flag	С	1	169	NULL Y= Balance N= No-balance		Balance of Contract Flag Required when Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD, else Blank Member may terminate but still have money due. Allows PSERS to know whether final versus initial benefit calculation can be performed.
Outstanding Service Credit Flag	С	1	170	NULL Y= Yes N= No		If the member still has service to be reported set to "Y". Required when Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD, else Blank Based on how certain employers report service, the service information may not be fully reported until several reporting periods after the

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Value s	Sample	Comments
						terminated Contract Record is received.
BOC/Svc End Date	С	6	171	Date MMYYYY	102003	The last Work Report in which the Balance of Contract or Final Service will be reported. Required when Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD, else Blank. Required when the BOC Flag is set to "Y" or the Outstanding Service Credit Flag is set to "Y" The month and year that the final Work Report for salary and/or service is to be reported. Allows PSERS to determine initial versus finalized benefit. NOTE : Employers need to provide the report date and not pay date.

File Validations

After field level validations, the Contract Record File will be reviewed for compliancy with business rules (e.g. record cannot contain a full-time per diem position, etc.).

Validations

Error = Entire record rejected. No V3 update will take place until the employer corrects the rejected record.

Warning/Exception = Record accepted. V3 is updated based on record details but with warning message(s) provided back to the employer.

On the Import Detail Window in V3 or the Web Import GUI, the following error messages will appear. If multiple errors exist for any given record, the System will identify each error and list them together on the screen (separated by a comma).

Contract Record File Validation Rules

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Message/Event
N/A	Initial Contract Record is received but there is no demographic information on file, or the Invalid Address Indicator is set to "yes".	Error	Member Demographic Record must be sent and processed prior to receiving and processing the Contract Record
Header Record	If the Header Record length is incorrect	Not Processed	Invalid because header record does not match expected length.
Header Record Type	If the Header Record Type <> C	Not processed	Invalid because record type is not valid
Detail Record Count	If the header record Detail Record Count doesn't match the V3 record count of the Health Care Detail Records	Not processed	Invalid because Detail Record Count does not match the number of Health Care Detail records.
Employer Code	If the employer code is not found in the system	Not processed	Invalid because employer code does not match record on file.
Detail Record	If the Detail Record length is incorrect	Not Processed	Invalid because detail record does not match expected length.
	If NULL or all zeros	Error	SSN must be 9 digits.
	If less than 9 digits	Error	SSN must be 9 digits.
SSN	If alpha character	Error	SSN must be 9 digits.
	If no match found	Error	Demographic information has not been submitted for this member.
	If NULL	Error	Last name cannot be blank
Last Name	If Last Name1 <> Last Name 2	Error	Last name does not match existing file
	If NULL	Error	First name cannot be blank
First Name	If First Name1 <> First Name 2	Error	First Name does not match existing record.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Message/Event
	If NULL	Error	Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.
	If less than 8 digits	Error	Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.
Date of Birth	If invalid date format	Error	Invalid birth date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.
	If existing SSN = incoming SSN but	Error	Date of Birth does not match existing record.
	DOB 1 <> DOB2		
Job Title	If Work Status = ACTIVE, or ACTIVW and Job Title = NULL	Error	Job Title cannot be blank
Employment Type	If Work Status = ACTIVE, or ACTIVW and Employment Type = NULL	Error	Invalid Employment Type. Must equal "PT" or "FT"
	If Work Status = ACTIVE or ACTIVW and Employment Type <> PT or FT	Error	Invalid Employment Type. Must equal "PT" or "FT"
Wage Type	If Work Status = ACTIVW and Wage Type = NULL	Error	Invalid Wage Type. Must equal "SA", "HR", or "PD"
	If Work Status = ACTIVE or ACTIVW and Wage Type <> SA, HR, or PD	Error	Invalid Wage Type. Must equal "SA", "HR", or "PD"
	If NULL	Error	Invalid Work Status.
	If Work Status <> ACTIVE, ACTIVW, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN, or DECESD	Error	Invalid Work Status
Work Status	If Work Status = ACTMLC and Work Status Start Date is greater than 6/30/2013	Error	ACTMLC Contract Start Date cannot be after 6/30/2013
	If Work Status = ACTIVE, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, EXCHGN, WKCMPN, LEAVEN, TRMNTN and V3 Member Status = Retired	Error	Retired member. Please contact your ESC Regional Representative for instructions.
Work Status Start Date	If NULL or all zeroes	Error	Invalid Work Status Start Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Message/Event
	If less than 8 digits	Error	Invalid Work Status Start Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.
	If invalid date format	Error	Invalid Work Status Start Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.
	For all Work Statuses. if Work Status Start Date is < 7/1/2004	Error	 If the contract record has been uploaded display error message: Start Date cannot be earlier than 07/01/2004. Please contact your ESC Regional Representative for instructions if you need to enroll a member with a Start Date prior to 07/01/2004. If the contract record has been entered manually display error message: Work Status Start Date should not be earlier than July, 2004
	If Work Status Start Date is < Date of Birth plus 11 years. (Member must be 11 or older.)	Error	Invalid Work Status Start Date. Member must be greater than 10 years of age.
	If contract record Start Date is greater than current month plus 6 months	Error	Start Date cannot be more than 6 months in the future.
Work Status End Date	If less than 8 digits	Error	Invalid Work Status End Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.
	If invalid date format	Error	Invalid Work Status End Date. Must be in MMDDYYYY format.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Message/Event
	If Work Status End Date is < Work Status Start Date	Error	The Work Status End Date must be greater than or equal to the Work Status Start Date.
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased, then Expected Months cannot be >12	Error	Expected Months must be "9 - 12".
Expected Months	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased, then Expected Months cannot be NULL or zero	Error	Expected Months must be "9 - 12".
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Expected Months is not NULL and not zero and Expected Months is <= 12 then Expected Months should be 9, 10, 11, or 12	Warning	Expected Months should be "9 - 12".
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type is SA or PD and Expected Units is > 365	Error	Expected Units must be "180-275".
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = HR then Expected Units cannot be NULL or zero.	Error	Expected Units must be "900" or greater.
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = SA or PD then Expected Units cannot be NULL or zero.	Error	Expected Units must be "180" or greater.
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = HR then Expected Units must be >= 900 and <= 2,600	Warning	Expected Units should be"900-2,600".
Expected Units	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = SA or PD and Expected Months => "9" then Expected Units must be => 180	Error	Expected Units must be "180" or greater.
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = SA or PD and Expected Months = "10" then Expected Units should be between 180 and 217	Warning	Expected Units should be "180-217".
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = SA or PD and Expected Months = "11" then Expected Units should be between 200 and 230	Warning	Expected Units should be "200-230".
Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Message/Event
---------------	---	------------	--
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = SA or PD and Expected Months = "12" then Expected Units should be between 231 and 275	Warning	Expected Units should be "231-275".
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = HR and Expected Months = 9 and Expected Units is >= 900 and <= 2600, then Expected Units should be between 900 and 1440	Warning	Expected Units should be "900 – 1440"
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = HR and Expected Months = 10 and Expected Units is >= 900 and <= 2600, then Expected Units should be between 1000 and 1600	Warning	Expected Units should be "1000 – 1600"
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = HR and Expected Months = 11 and Expected Units is >= 900 and <= 2600, then Expected Units should be between 1100 and 1760	Warning	Expected Units should be "1100 – 1760"
	If Work Status not = Terminated and not = Deceased and Wage Type = HR and Expected Months = 12 and Expected Units is >= 900 and <= 2600, then Expected Units should be between 1200 and 2100	Warning	Expected Units should be "1200 – 2100"
Voting Status	If Work Status = ACTIVE and Voting Status = NULL	Error	Invalid Voting Status. Must be "Y" (Certified) or "N" (Non-Certified).
Voting Status	If Work Status = ACTIVE and Voting Status <> "Y" or "N"	Error	Invalid Voting Status. Must be "Y" (Certified) or "N" (Non-Certified).

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Message/Event
	If Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD and BOC Flag is NULL	Error	Invalid BOC Flag. BOC Flag must equal "Y" or "N"
BOC Flag	If Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD and BOC Flag <> Y or N	Error	Invalid BOC Flag. BOC Flag must equal "Y" or "N"
	If BOC Flag or Outstanding Service Flag = Y and BOC/Svc End Date = NULL	Error	Invalid BOC Flag. BOC Flag and Outstanding Service Flag mismatch.
	If BOC Flag or Outstanding Service Flag = Y and BOC/Svc End Date < 6 digits	Error	Invalid BOC/Svc End Date. Must be in MMYYYY format.
BOC/Svc End	If invalid date format	Error	Invalid BOC/Svc End Date. Must be in MMYYYY format.
Date	If Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD and BOC/Svc End Date > the month of TRMNTN/ DECESD Contract Record Start Date plus 3 months.	Error	BOC End Date cannot be more than 3 months in the future.
Outstanding Service Flag	If Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD and Outstanding Service Flag = NULL	Error	Invalid Outstanding Service Flag. Must equal "Y" or "N"
	If Work Status = TRMNTN or DECESD) and Outstanding Service Flag <> Y or N	Error	Invalid Outstanding Service Flag. Must equal "Y" or "N"

V3 Error Processing - Error/Warning/Successful Processing Logic

The System will continue processing the record even when a fatal error is encountered so that all the errors can be reported back to the employer enabling corrections. The V3 Import Module and ESS GUI will comma delimit the errors. Employers can view the Error Processing Status (i.e., Error, Warning, successful) for each record via the filter button in the details box of the file on the Imports Page.

Successful Processing

If the required field validation rules are satisfied, the System will update the member's Contract History and/or create a new Contract Record where appropriate. Contract Record Audit History record(s) will be written to track the following information: Source of the change (e.g., username, system, or employer code and employer admin login), Inserted Date, Inserted By (e.g., username, system, or employer code and employer admin login), Updated By (e.g., username, system, or employer code and employer admin login), and Updated Date.

Contract Record Corrections

The employer can only enter Work Status End Date for Contract Records previously submitted by them. The Work Status End Date cannot be earlier than the Work Status Start Date. PSERS staff will be able to edit all fields on the Contract Record GUI including the records built as part of the 2004 Conversion.

An historical trail of the "fixed" Contract Records will not be stored in the System.

EXAMPLE: if a Contract Record File had a total of 10 records with 3 rejected and the employer then corrected the 3 records in error, there will be no "audit trail" of the error(s) that were associated to the Contract Record File.

V3 will maintain one overall Eligible Job Title Factor Table. For non-charter schools, the Job Title must be found under the "All Non-Charter" Employer Code or the employer's specific Employer Code (e.g., 7190, etc.).

If the School Type is "Charter", the Job Title must be found only under the specific Employer Code and not the Employer Code of "All Non-Charter."

Work Report Format

Employers must remit the Contributions and POS Installments that they withheld from their employees' paychecks by the 10th of the month after they were withheld; this essentially means that payment for each Work Report is due by the 10th of the month following the month to which the Work report applies. PSERS strongly encourages employers to submit their Work Reports by this same due date, but there is no legislative mandate to require this.

EXAMPLE: July's payment is due to PSERS by August 10th. PSERS requests that employers also submit the July Work Report by August 10th. Employers are given until the 20th of the month to correct their mistakes on the Work Report, with the intent of approving the Work Report by the 20th of the month. As Work Reports are approved by employers, PSERS releases them to Member Accounts and Employer Accounts via the Release Reports Batch.

Employers will electronically submit work reports (salary, contributions, and service) monthly to PSERS (AKA DB Work Reports.) Where there is a DC component, reporting is based on the employer's pay dates, generally biweekly. For more information about DC Reporting, see the Voya Data Gateway manual on the PSERS Public website under Employers: DC Plan Resources/Voya. In most cases, the work history information for employees is extracted from the payroll software and/or human resource systems. Within the monthly work report, a member record should exist for each Wage Type (Salaried, Per Diem, Hourly) and each fiscal year. *NOTE*: if a member has multiple contract records for the same wage type for one employer, then the employer for this member should report only one work report detail record per wage type. Information received on the work report supports:

- 1) Details for salary and service for FAS calculation.
- 2) Member deductions for POS installments.
- 3) Employers reporting of unpaid wages and contributions for POS calculations.

Member contribution rates are determined by a member's qualification date which is based on the contract date. i.e., when did this member join PSERS – as well as if there was any Breaks in Service for this member. The framework of the work report is to provide salary/wage and service information. Full Time members not on a leave should have salary/wage information provided on each work report. The corresponding service information (hours and days) should accompany the salary/wage information in most cases except for during the summer months. Service is always reported with wages when wage type is per diem or hourly. Full Time salaried employee service information may be provided on the June work report which is fiscal year-end.

PSERS pension calculations use the information assigned to a given fiscal year, which runs from July1 to June 30. Consequently, the period start and stop dates in V3's work history tab may only represent paid dates but will always be associated to the correct fiscal year earned. **Wages must be reported based on when they were earned, not when paid.**

Employer Work Report Header Record

Key For R/O/C Column:

R = Required O= Optional C = Conditional

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Header Record Type	R	1	1	R=Work Report	R	Identifies file type
Employer Code	R	6	2	Numeric	003456	Unique Employer ID Right-justified; zero- padded left.

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Reporting Period Date	R	6	8	Date MMYYYY	052022	Employer reporting period used to track work report and payment due date. Used as the work report trans-identifier. For example WH Report 05- 2022
Detailed Record Count	R	6	14	Numeric 000000	002680	Total number of detail records for this header record type. Right-justified; zero- padded left.
Base Total	R	12	20	Numeric #############	666777888.99	Total Base of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied.
						Right justified; zero- padded left.
Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation Total	R	12	32	Numeric ############	666777888.99	Total Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-
Overtime Total	R	12	44	Numeric	666777888 99	padded left.
	K	12		#######################################		records for this header record type.
						Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero- padded left.
Supplemental Total	R	12	56	Numeric #############	666777888.99	Total Supplemental of detail records for this header record type.
						Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero- padded left.

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Wages No Contribution Total	R	12	68	Numeric #############	666777888.99	Total Wages No Contribution of detail records for this header record type.
						Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero- padded left.
Member POS Installment Total	R	12	80	Numeric #############	666777888.99	Total Member POS Installment of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero- padded left.
Excess Salary Total	R	12	92	Numeric #############	666777888.99	Total Member Excess Salary of detail records for this header record type.
						Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero- padded left.
Non- Retirement Covered Comp Total	R	12	104	Numeric ##############	666777888.99	Total Member Non- Retirement Covered Compensation of detail records for this header record type.
						Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero- padded left.
Create Date and Time	R	12	116	Date MMDDYYYYHHMM	102520221300	File creation date and time.
						Sample was created on October 25, 2022 at 1 pm

All fields are required. "**Start**" indicates the column that field begins on the header line. "**Bytes**" indicates how many bytes (characters) are in the field. All fields are a fixed length. **EXAMPLE:** The following sample Work Report header uses the information as shown in the above table:

R002345002680102520211400

In this example, a Work Report File from Employer 002345 is being submitted with 2,680 records in it. The file was created on October 25, 2021, at 14:00 (2:00 p.m.).

Record Rows in the Work Report File

Each Work Report row must consist of a single line of information, in the following format:

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Member SSN	R	9	1	Numeric	123456789	Right-justified; zero-padded left.
Member DOB	R	8	10	Date MMDDYYYY	04121980	Member's Date of Birth
Fiscal Year Ending	R	4	18	Date YYYY	2021	The fiscal year in which the salary and service were earned.
						Used to assign salary and service to the appropriate year for FAS purposes. Addresses balance of contract issue.
Wage Type	R	2	22	Alpha SA = Salary PD = Per Diem HR = Hourly	SA	Member's Wage Type. Used to validate additional values on the work report. Used to support FAS calculation.
Work Status	R	6	24	ACTIVE ACTIVW SABTLC ACTMLC SSLWCC SSLSSC STUDYC EXCHGC UNIONC ACTMLN SSLWCN SSLSSN STUDYN EXCHNGN	ACTIVE	 Employers should use the code that is effect at the end of the month and matches the contract record. Actively working (contributing or non-contributing)- ACTIVE Waiver Request - ACTIVW Sabbatical - SABTLC Paid Activated Military - ACTMLC Paid Special Sick Leave:

Work Report Detail Record

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values WKCMPN LEAVEN TRMNTN DECESD	Sample	Comments Worker's Comp - SSLWCC School Sponsored - SSLSSC Paid Professional Study - STUDYC Paid Exchange Teacher - EXCHGC Paid Collective Bargaining Unit - UNIONC Unpaid Activated Military - ACTMLN Unpaid Special Sick Legve:
						Leave: • Worker's Comp- SSLWCN • School Sponsored- SSLSSN • Unpaid Professional Study - STUDYN • Unpaid Exchange Teacher - EXCHGN • Worker's Comp Leave - WKCMPN • Any Other Leave Not Listed - LEAVEN • Termination – TRMNTN • Deceased - DECESD
Base	С	9	30	Numeric ######.##	005000.00	Money earned during standard work hours for job title from the corresponding contract record. (i.e. Teacher's Mon-Fri work). If Work Status = ACTIVE and Supplemental AND Wages No Contribution are zero, then Base must be > 0. If Work Status = ACTMLC, STUDYC, EXCHGC AND Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation is zero, then Base must be > 0 If work status field is SABTLC, then base cannot be zero.

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
						Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left.
Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation	С	9	39	Numeric ######.##	005000.00	Wages not paid to the member, but member makes contributions on the amount in that column.
						If work status = SABTLC, then Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation cannot be zero.
						If work status in (ACTMLC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, SSLWCC, UNIONC, SSLSSC) and Base is zero then Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation field cannot be zero.
						Decimal not implied. Right- justified; zero-padded left.
Over Time	0	9	48	Numeric ######.##	000100.00	Money earned during non- standard work hours for job title from the corresponding contract record. (e.g., Teacher lecturing on a Sat).
						justified; zero-padded left.
Supplemental	0	9	57	Numeric ######.##	000100.00	Money earned for responsibilities outside of contract job title (e.g. teacher collecting tickets at a football game). Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left
Contributions	С	9	66	Numeric ######.##	000350.00	Member's retirement contributions based upon the employer's payroll information.
						If Base, Supplemental, Overtime, or Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation are not zero, then contributions field cannot be zero.
						Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left.
Hours	С	4	75	Numeric ####	0160	Hours worked associated to salary/wage for the pay period. Required for Hourly Wage Type.

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
						If Wage Type = HR AND (Contributions > 0 or Wages No Contribution > 0) then Hours must be > 0, else optional.
Days	С	6	79	Numeric ###.00	020.00	The days worked associated to the pay period.
						If Wage Type = PD AND (Contributions > 0 or Wages No Contribution > 0) then Hours must be > 0, else optional.
						Optional monthly reporting for Salaried Wage Type.
						Required annually if not reported monthly for Salaried Wage Type because some employers can only report a total amount at year-end or termination.
						Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left.
Wages No Contribution	С	9	85	Numeric ######.##	000100.00	For non-contributing employees on unpaid leave, this field represents salary/wages that would have been paid had the employee not been on unpaid leave.
						For an hourly or per diem wage type employee who is not contributing until and unless they meet the minimum service qualifications, this field should represent the salary/wages that the hourly or per diem employee is paid.
						NOTE: FT and SA positions are qualified from Day 1
						If work status in (ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN) field must be > 0
						If work status = ACTIVE and Wage Type = HR or PD and Base = Zero field must be > 0

Field	R/O/C	Bytes	Start	Format/Values	Sample	Comments
						[NOTE: THE EMPLOYER DOC HAS THIS VALIDATION USING WAGE TYPE = SA]
						justified; zero-padded left.
Member POS Installment	0	9	94	Numeric ######.##	000100.00	Member's monthly POS installment used to reduce receivable in Participant Account module.
						Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left.
Excess Salary	С	9	103	Numeric ########	000100.00	If Work Status = ACTIVE and Base exceeds the 401(a)(17) limitation, then Base must not be greater the 401(a)(17) limitation and Excess Salary must <u>> 0</u>
						Salary in excess of contributions base
						NOTE: If Work Status = ACTIVE and there is any positive amount entered on Excess Salary field, the system will accept it as a valid record, and post the value to Work History. This value will not be considered when calculating Member Savings Due Amounts, Employer Share, or Employer Premium Assistance.
						justified; zero-padded left.
Non-Retirement Covered Comp	0	9	112	Numeric ########	000100.00	Optional reporting bucket for non-retirement covered comp (i.e., payment of unused sick time, bonus pay, etc.). Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left.
Filler	R	7	121	Spaces		Filler. Space filled to match header record length.

V3 Contribution Processing Logic

Only one V3 Agreement exists for PSERS because each employer remits work reports monthly. The wage type on the work report maps to the V3 job category. For each member on the report, V3 determines the member's contribution rate based on contract records.

The Employer Transactions module has 4 receivable funds that feed into the 3 PSERS' General Ledger (G/L) funds:

- 1. Member Savings Contributions
- 2. Member POS Installments
- 3. Employer Share (part of Employer Contribution Group Fund)
- 4. Employer Premium Assistance (part of Employer Contribution Group Fund)

The Member Saving Contribution Due Amount will be calculated by the system. If the employer incorrectly reports the member's contributions an Error message will be passed back to the employer for correction. If correction does not occur information will not be passed to PSERS.

The Member POS Installment information will be passed directly to the Member Account and credit the member's POS due amount. If the POS Installment is included in a Work Report, the installment is treated as if it was received on the date the employer's money is due to PSERS (the 10th of the month following the month of the Work Report.

EXAMPLE: The installment is reported in the November Work Report, the payment date is treated as December 10th, regardless of when the Work Report is actually received. If the POS Installment is included in a Work History Adjustment, the installment is treated as if it was received on the date the Adjustment shows Released. Because the employer collected the money, the receivable is created in the Employer Transaction module.

Similarly, the Employer's Contribution Amount, which consists of both the Employer Share and Premium Assistance, will be determined using the same V3 agreement. The Employer will be billed for the total due amount (Employer Share including Employer Premium Assistance) but the system will track the receivables separately. When the employer money comes in, the system will split it accordingly into the Employer Contribution and the Employer Premium Assistance Receivable Funds. The rate formula will also determine if the entity is non-school in order to split the due amount according to the Commonwealth subsidy percentage that is in effect. Certain types of POS triggered in the Member Account module will create a receivable in the Employer Share and possibly Employer Premium Assistance depending on the type and date of purchase. Lastly, the Employer Share and Premium Assistance funds will be combined into the Employer Contribution Group Fund – this visually allows the user to see the combined balance of the two funds or each fund at a detail level.

The Commonwealth Share and Premium Assistance receivables will be created when the entity is non-school in a similar fashion as the corresponding Employer components.

NOTE: V3 will NOT generate an Invoice (Employer Statement of Account) for the Commonwealth of PA but will send transactions to the G/L system.

Work History Adjustments

The Work History Adjustment file format is to be used when a correction needs to be applied to a released Work Report. The following types of errors require a retroactive lump sum adjustment: errors that cannot be corrected by employer payroll or the member's information across a fiscal year needs to be adjusted. In many cases, employers will not need to send Adjustments because the information will be corrected the next month on their payroll systems; consequently, the corrections will be made in the member's next paycheck and on the next Work Report.

The following section contains the record layout for both the Work Report and Work History Adjustment files. **NOTE**: that this spec describes the layout that employers use when submitting Work Reports / Adjustments.

Employer Work History Adjustment Header Record

Key For R/O/C Column:

- R = Required
- O= Optional
- C = Conditional

Field	R/O	Bytes	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Header Record	R	1	1	A=	А	Identifies file type
Туре				Adjustment		
Employer Code	R	6	2	Numeric	003456	Unique Employer ID
						Right-justified; zero-padded left.
Record Count	R	6	8	Numeric	002680	Total number of detail records for
				00000		this header record type.
						Right-justified zero-padded left.

Field	R/O	Bytes	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Base Total	R	12	14	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Base of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation Total	R	12	26	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Overtime Total	R	12	38	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Overtime of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Supplemental Total	R	12	50	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Supplemental of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Wages No Contribution Total	R	12	62	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Wages No Contribution of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.

Field	R/O	Bytes	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Member POS Installment Total	R	12	74	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Member POS Installment of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Excess Salary Total	R	12	86	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Member Excess Salary of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Non-Retirement Covered Comp Total	R	12	98	Numeric ######## #.##	666777888. 99	Total Member Non-Retirement Covered Compensation of detail records for this header record type. Decimal is NOT implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If negative, sign must appear in first character.
Create Date and Time	R	12	110	Date MMDDYYYY HHMM	102520211 300	File creation date and time. Sample was created on October 25, 2021 at 1 pm NOTE: Used for the Trans Identifier. Format is WH Adj YYYY-MM.
Filler	R	18	122	Spaces		Space filled to match detail record length.

All fields are required. "**Start**" indicates the column that field begins on the header line. "**Bytes**" indicates how many bytes (characters) are in the field. All fields are a fixed length.

EXAMPLE: The following sample Work History Adjustment header uses the information as shown in the above table:

A002345000008102520211400

In this example, a Work Report File from Employer 002345 is being submitted with 8 records in it. The file was created on October 25, 2021, at 14:00 (2:00 p.m.).

Record Rows in the Work History Adjustment File

Each Work History Adjustment must consist of a single line of information, in the following format:

Field	R/O/ C	Byt es	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Member SSN	R	9	1	Numeric	000123456	Right-justified; zero-padded left.
Member DOB	R	8	10	Date MMDDYY YY	04121980	Member's Date of Birth
Reason Code	R	6	18	CNTRCT LMPSUM SVCADJ LATRPT SALARY MEMPOS UNCRDT CAWARD	CNTRCT	Individual's adjustment reason code. Reason codes will also be used to determine the appropriate member and/or employer correspondences. Descriptions of adjustment codes are detailed in Work History Adjustment Sections.
Wage Indicator	С	1	24	"Y", "N", or NULL	Υ	Y = Salary paid to the member during the Adjustment Period N= Salary paid to the member this fiscal year The Wage Indicator indicates when the member actually received the money. If Reason Code in (CONTRCT, LMPSUM, LATRPT, SALARY or UNCRDT) then must be Y or N.

Work Report Adjustment Detail Record

Field	R/O/ C	Byt es	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Contributions Withheld Flag	С	1	25	"Y" or "N", or NULL	N	 If reason code = (UNCRDT) then must be N. Otherwise not required
Payroll Corrected In	С	8	26	Date MMDDYY YY	10252021	Used to track which pay period an adjustment affects for reconciliation purposes against what was reported to the TPA.
						NOTE : Compensation totals reported to Voya and PSERS must be the same for the same pay period.
						This field is required if Membership Class = TG, TH or DC
						 If Membership Class = TG, TH or DC, the date cannot be earlier than 7/1/2019 and cannot be greater than 30 days into the future.
Fiscal Year Ending	R	4	26	Date YYYY	2022	Used to assign salary/wage and service to the appropriate year for adjustment and FAS purposes.
						NOTE : The Fiscal Year must be greater than 1919 and less than or equal to the current Fiscal Year.
Wage Type	R	2	30	SA = Salary	SA	Used to validate additional values on the work report.
				PD = Per Diem		
				HR = Hourly		
Work Status	R	6	32	ACTIVW	ACTIVE	Employers should use the contract work status that is in effect at the end of the month of reporting
				SABTLC		Actively working (contributing or non-
				ACTMLC		
				SSLWCC		Waiver Request - ACTIVW
				SSLSSC		Sabbatical - SABTLC

Field	R/O/	Byt	Start	Format/	Sample	Comments
	С	es		Values		
				STUDYC		Paid Activated Military - ACTMLC
				EXCHGC		Paid Special Sick Leave:
				UNIONC		Worker's Comp - SSLWCC
				ACTMLN		School Sponsored - SSLSSC
				SSLWCN		Paid Professional Study - STUDYC
				SSLSSN		Paid Exchange Teacher - EXCHGC
				STUDYN		Paid Collective Barg Unit -UNIONC
				FXCHNG		Unpaid Activated Military - ACTMLN
				N		Unpaid Special Sick Leave:
				WKCMPN		Worker's Comp- SSLWCN
				LEAVEN		School Sponsored- SSLSSN
				TRMNTN		Unpaid Professional Study - STUDYN
						Unpaid Exchange Teacher -EXCHGN
				DECLUD		Worker's Comp Leave - WKCMPN
						Any Other Leave Not Listed - LEAVEN
						Termination – TRMNTN
						Deceased- DECESD
Base	0	10	38	Numeric Signed	0005000.00	Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left.
				-		If the employer is reporting a negative
				######.		amount the "-" should precede the
				##		money amount.
						Difference amount.
Unpaid Retirement	0	10	48	Numeric Sianed	0005000.00	Wages not paid to the member, but the member makes contributions.
Covered				-		Decimal not implied Right justified
Compensation				######.		zero-padded left.
				##		If the employer is reporting a negative
						amount the "-" should precede the
						Difference amount.

Field	R/O/ C	Byt es	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Over Time	0	10	58	Numeric Signed - ######. ##	-000100.00	Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount.
Supplemental	0	10	68	Numeric Signed - ######. ##	0000100.00	Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount.
Contributions	С	10	78	Numeric Signed - ######. ##	0000350.00	Member's retirement contributions based upon the employer's payroll information. If the Base, Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation, Overtime, or Supplemental fields are not zero, then contributions cannot be zero. Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount.
Hours	0	5	88	Numeric Signed -####	00160	Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should proceed the hours being reported. Difference amount.

Field	R/O/ C	Byt es	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Days	0	7	93	Numeric Signed -###.00	0020.00	If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should proceed the days being reported. Difference amount.
Wages No Contribution	0	10	100	Numeric Signed - ######. ##	0000100.00	Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount.
Member POS Installment	0	10	110	Numeric Signed - ######. ##	0000100.00	Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount.
Excess Salary	С	10	120	Numeric - ######. ##	000100.00	If Work Status = ACTIVE and Base exceeds the 401 (a) (17) limitation, then Base must not be greater the 401 (a) (17) limitation and Excess Salary must <u>> 0</u> Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount.

Field	R/O/ C	Byt es	Start	Format/ Values	Sample	Comments
Non- Retirement Covered Comp	0	10	130	Numeric - ######. ##	000100.00	Optional reporting bucket for non- retirement covered comp, i.e., payment of unused sick time, bonus pay, etc. Decimal not implied. Right justified; zero-padded left. If the employer is reporting a negative amount the "-" should precede the money amount. Difference amount

Error/Warning/Successful Processing Logic

System will continue processing records even when a fatal error is encountered in the detail records so that all errors can be reported back to the employer in entirety and the employer can fix all the records just once. The V3 import module and ESS GUI will identify these errors. If a record contains both fatal errors and Warnings, it will only appear once under the fatal error category in the import module. Employers can view the status (Error, Warning, successful) of each record on the web.

Field Level Validations:

Error = Entire Record Reject and no database insert

Warning/Exception = Record created in database but with warning notice

The validations listed in this table support both Work Reports (Record Type R) and Work History Adjustments (Record Type A). If there is a difference in the validation for the supporting record types, the Record Type will be identified. Also, if the validation applies to imported or manually entered records only, that information will be indicated under the Condition(s) column.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
Header Record	If the Header Record length is incorrect (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed. Header record has an invalid number of characters.
Header Record Type	If the Header Record Type is not = R) (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed. File type must be "Work Report"
Detail Record Count	If the header record Detail Record Count doesn't match the V3 record count of the Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because Detail Record Count does not match the number of Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail records.
	NULL	Not Processed	Not Processed. Header record has invalid Employer Code.
Employer Code	No match	Not Processed	Not Processed. Header record has invalid Employer Code.
	If the employer code is not found in the system (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because employer code does not match record on file.
Fiscal Year Ending	 Record Type= R o If the month and year in the Header Record is July, August, or September, then the Fiscal Year can only be current or the prior Fiscal Year. EXAMPLE: If the Header Record is July 2005, then the Fiscal Year Detail Record can only be 2005 or 2006. o If the month and year in the Header Record is October through June, then the Fiscal Year can only be the current Fiscal Year. EXAMPLE: If the Header Record is November 2005, then the Fiscal Year Detail Record can only be 2006. 	Record Reject/Error	Error - Invalid fiscal year. Must be in current fiscal year
Reporting Period Date	Record Type = R If Null (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed Report month and year must be specified. Date format must be MMYYYY.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	If Invalid Date Format (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed Report month and year must be specified. Date format must be MMYYYY.
	Record Type = R If date was previously reported	Not Processed	Not Processed A work report for this period has already been uploaded.
	Record Type= R (Manually created work report) If a work report for the same month and year has already been created.	Not Processed	Display error message: A work report for this period has already been created.
	Record Type = R If date is in the future (Imported files only)	Not Processed	File Rejected Work Reports in the future cannot be created. Code logic – if work report date is in the future,then stop the import process If gd_period_start_date>SYSDATE THEN ROLLBACK TO pre-detail. P_update_status ('PE', an_import_header_id, 1, 'Y'). P_err_msg: ='work reports in the future cannot be created'. RAISE e_stop_processing: End If: Working EXAMPLE: If the current month is December 2021, and a future date of January 2022 is submitted, the system will reject all work reports that are submitted with a date later than December 2021.
	Record Type = R If date is in the future (Manually created work report)	Not Processed	Display error message window: "Work Reports in the future cannot be created."

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
Base Total	If the header record Total Base doesn't match the V3 sum of all Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records' Base (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because the BASE total in the header record does not equal the sum of the detail records
Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation Total	If the header record Total Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation doesn't match the V3 sum of all Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records' Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because the URCC total in the header record does not equal the sum of the detail records
Overtime Total	If the header record Total Overtime doesn't match the V3 sum of all Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records' Overtime (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because the OT total in the header record does not equal the sum of the detail records
Supplemental Total	If the header record Total Supplemental doesn't match the V3 sum of all Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records' Supplemental (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because the SUP total in the header record does not equal the sum of the detail records
Wages No Contribution Total	If the header record Total Wages No Contribution doesn't match the V3 sum of all Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records' Wages No Contribution (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because the WNC total in the header record does not equal the sum of the detail records
Member POS Installment Total	If the header record Total Member POS Installment doesn't match the V3 sum of all Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records' Member POS Installment (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed because the POS total in the header record does not equal the sum of the detail records

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
Employer Code	NULL (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed Employer Code is not Blank
	No match (Imported files only)	Not Processed	Not Processed Invalid Employer Code
Detail Record	If the header record Detail Record Count doesn't match the V3 record count of the Work Report or Work Adjustment Detail Records	Record Reject/Error	File Rejected. Record count in header does not match the number of records in the report.
	If Null	Error	SSN cannot be blank.
	If No open contract record with matching Wage Type from this employer	Error	No contract record on file for this member.
Member SSN	If Duplicate SSN and Wage Type and Fiscal Year	Error	Duplicate records submitted for SSN, Wage type, and Fiscal Year combination. Combination must be unique or combined into one record.
Member DOB	If existing SSN = incoming SSN but DOB 1 <> DOB2	Error	Invalid Birth Date. must be in MMDDYYYY format
	If NULL	Error	Birth Date does not match the date on file for this member.
	If Invalid date	Error	Fiscal Year cannot be Blank
Fiscal Year	If before 2004, then workflow	Error	Invalid Fiscal Year. Must be in YYYY format
Enaing	If NULL	Error	Error - Invalid fiscal year. Fiscal year must be between 1919 and current fiscal year
	If Not in (SA, PD, HR)	Error	Wage Type cannot be blank
Wage Type	If Wage Type does not match existing Contract Record	Error	Wage Type must be SA, PD, or HR
	If NULL	Error	Wage Type does not match Contract Record
Work Status	For File Type= R or A, If Work Status= NOWORK	Error	Work Status cannot be blank

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	Does not match existing Eligible, Pending Eligible, Pending Waiver work status on the contract record for the employer. Otherwise, all Work Status Codes on the report must be within the Contract Record Start and End Date. **	Error	NOWORK is not a valid work status
	**Exception: TRMNTN or DECESD, contract records do not have an end date because the date of death/Termination date is populated in the work status start date field. However, Adjustment with a work status of TRMNTN or DECESD, cannot be reported after the BOC/Svc End Date on the Contract Record.	Error	If File Type = R Work Status does not match Contract Record If File Type = A Work Status does not match the Contract Record in effect for the adjustment period.
	If a Work Report is reported after the BOC/Svc End Date on the Contract Record.	Warning	Report period is after BOC Service End date.
	File Type= R and Work Status= 'ACTIVW' If (Base > 0 or URCC >0 or OT >0 or SUP >0 or CONTRIB>0 or WNC >0 or POS >0 or EXSAL or NRCC or Days >0 or Hours >0)	Error	Contact ESC when reporting after the BOC End date. NOTE : The system will not trigger any workflows.
	File Type= R If (Work Status = "ACTMLN") and (the month and year value from the Start Date of the ACTMLN Contract Record with this employer doesn't equal the month and year value of the Reporting period of the Work Report) and (any of the following values are not equal to zero: Base, URCC, OT, SUP, CONTRIB, POS, EXSAL or NRCC)	Error	Wages cannot be reported if Work Status is Waived.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	File Type= A If (Work Status = "ACTMLN") and (any of the following values are not equal to zero: Base, URCC, OT, SUP, CONTRIB, POS, EXSAL or NRCC)	Error	Base, URCC, OT, SUP, CONTRIB, POS, EXSAL and NRCC must be zero if Work Status is ACTMLN
	File Type = R If Work Status = ACTIVE and Supplemental AND Wages No Contribution are zero, then Base must be > 0.	Warning	Base, URCC, OT, SUP, CONTRIB, POS, EXSAL and NRCC should be zero if Work Status is ACTMLN
Base	File Type = R If work status = SABTLC and Base is NULL	Error	Base, SUP, and WNC amounts cannot all equal zero if status is ACTIVE
	File Type = R If work status in (ACTMLC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC) and Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation field is NULL then Base can NOT be NULL	Error	Base cannot be zero is status is SABTLC
	For File Type "R": If Base > 50,000	Error	Base and URCC cannot both be zero is status is < <code>></code>
	File Type = R If work status = SABTLC and Unpaid Retirement covered compensation is NULL	Error	Base cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month.
Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation	For File Type "R": If URCC > 50,000	Error	URCC cannot be zero if status is SABTLC
	File Type = R If work status in (ACTMLC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC) and Base is NULL then Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation field can NOT be NULL	Error	URCC cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	if Base is NULL, then Overtime cannot be > 0. (this condition only applies to Work Reports)	Error	BASE and URCC cannot both be zero if status is < <code>></code>
Over Time	For File Type "R": If Over Time > 50,000	Error	OT amount cannot be greater than zero if BASE is zero
	For File Type "R": If Supplemental > 50,000	Error	OT amount cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month.
	If Base, Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation, Overtime or Supplemental is not zero, then contributions cannot be zero	Error	SUP amount cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month.

	For File type "R"		
Contributions	 When Reported Amount does not equal V3 Calculated Due Amount (see additional logic processing section to determine Contribution Rate) and the member's Effective Class is TH: If ALL of the following conditions are met, display Warning message "Member Elected Class T-H, Update Rate" a. Member's Effective Class = TH, AND b. Contributions reported are more than current TH Contribution Rate when applied to Base, Unpaid Retirement covered Compensation, Over Time, and Supplemental (all 4 added together) plus 0.05, AND c. Contributions reported are less than or equal to current TG Contribution Rate when applied to Base, Unpaid Retirement Covered Compensation, Over Time, and Supplemental (all 4 added together) plus 0.05, AND d. This employer has not yet approved the monthly WR for the month following the month of TH Election (i.e., month of the insertion date of the TH row in the Membership Class table plus 1), and the Work Report month is still within the grace period defined above. 	Error	Contributions cannot be zero when an amount has been specified for BASE, URCC, OT, or SUP

member's Work History and	
the employer's WR using the	
amount reported by the	
employer. This is because the	
member will be refunded for	
the difference between the	
TH rate and the amount	
reported	
Teponea.	
• Otherwise, if the member's	
Effective Class = 'TH' and the	
member Contributions	
reported are greater than the	
(V3 Mem Savings calculation	
plus 0.05), display a <u>fatal</u> error	
message "Contributions Rate	
Must be <<%>>"	
 Otherwise, if the member's 	
Effective Class = 'TH' and the	
member Contributions	
reported are less than the (V3	
Mem Savings calculation	
minus 0.05), display a <u>fatal</u>	
error message "Contribution	
Rate Must Be <<%>>"	
For File type "R"	
When Reported Amount does not	
equal V3 Calculated Due Amount	
(see dudinon dribgic processing	
Class id DC	
Class la DC.	
 If ALL of the following 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display Warning message "Member 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported are greater than zero, 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported are greater than zero, AND 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported are greater than zero, AND c. Contributions reported 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported are greater than zero, AND c. Contributions reported are less than or equal to 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported are greater than zero, AND c. Contributions reported are less than or equal to current TG Contribution 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" a. Member's Effective Class = DC, AND b. Contributions reported are greater than zero, AND c. Contributions reported are less than or equal to current TG Contribution Rate when applied to 	
 If ALL of the following conditions are met, display <u>Warning</u> message "Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%" Member's Effective Class = DC, AND Contributions reported are greater than zero, AND Contributions reported are less than or equal to current TG Contribution Rate when applied to Base, Unpaid Retirement 	

Overt Time and	
Supplemental (all 4	
added together) plus	
0.05, AND	
d. This employer has not yet	
approved the monthly	
WR for the month	
following the month of	
DC Election (i.e. month	
of the insertion date of	
the DC row in the	
Membership Class table	
pius I).	
NOTE: In this scenario only,	
the system needs to post the	
member Contributions in the	
member's Work History and	
the employer's WR using the	
amount reported by the	
employer. This is because the	
member will be refunded the	
member will be reforded me	
amount reportea.	
 Otherwise, if the member's 	
Effective Class = DC and the	
member Contributions	
reported are greater than	
zero, display a fatal error	
message "Contributions	
Should be 0.00 for DC	
Members"	
For File type "R"	
When Reported Amount does not	
equal V3 Calculated Due Amount	
and the member's Effective Class is	
TC, TD, TE, or TG.	
• If the member Contributions	
reported are less than the (V3	
Mem Savings calculation	
minus 0.05), display a <u>fatal</u>	
error message "Contribution	
Kate Must Be <<%>>.	
Contributions reported are	
areater than the IV3 Mem	
Savings calculation plus 0.05).	
display a <u>fatal</u> error message	

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	 "Contribution Rate Must Be <<%>>". <u>Otherwise</u>, if the difference between the calculated Member Savings and the Contributions being reported by the employer is smaller than \$0.06 (may be positive or negative), the system will "recognize" it as a valid record and will not display any messages. 		
	For File type "A"		
	When Reported Amount does not equal V3 Calculated Due Amount:		
	 If the difference between the calculated Member_Savings and the Contributions being reported by the employer is greater than \$0.05 (may be positive or negative), display <u>Warning</u> message "Contribution rate should be << % >>" <u>Otherwise</u>, if the difference between the calculated Member Savings and the Contributions being reported by the employer is smaller than \$0.06 (may be positive or negative), the system will "recognize" it as a valid record and will not display any messages. 		
	File Type = A and Reason Code is not on the list	Warning / Error	Depending on which condition a record satisfies, message could be either: Contribution rate should be << % >> Or Member Elected Class T-F, Update Rate Or

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
			Member Elected Class T-H, Update Rate
			Or
			Member Elected Class DC, Update PSERS Rate to 0.00%
			Or
			Contributions Should be 0.00 for DC Members
			Or
			Grace Period Expired, Contribution Rate Must Be <<%>>
	File Type = A and Reason code = 'UNCRDT' and		
	(Base <> 0 or URCC <>0 or OT< >0 or SUP< >0 or CONTRIB< >0 or POS< >0 or EXSAL <>0 or NRCC <>0)	Error	Invalid Reason Code
Reason Code	NOTE : Only service (Days/ months) and WNC should be allowed for UNCRDT for all wage types.		
	File Type = A and reason code is CNTRCT, LMPSUM, LATRPT, SALARY, or UNCRDT and wage indicator is NULL.	Error	Base, URCC, OT, SUP, CONTRIB, POS, EXSAL and NRCC must be zero if Reason code is UNCRDT.
Wage Indicator		Error	Wage Indicator and Contrib Withheld Flags both must be specified for Reason Code < <reason code="">>.</reason>
Contributions Withheld Flag	File Type = A and reason code is UNCRDT and the Contributions Withheld Flag is equal to 'Y'	Error	Contributions Withheld Flag must be N for this Reason Code
	File Type = R	_	Hours cannot be zero if Wage Type
	If wage type = Hourly then hours field cannot be NULL or zero	Error	is Hourly.
Hours	For File Type "R": If Hours > 300	Error	Hours should not exceed 300 in any month.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	File Type = R If work status in (ACTIVE, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC) and If wage type = Per Diem then hours field cannot be NULL or zero	Warning	Days cannot be zero if Wage Type is Per Diem
	File Type = R If work status in (ACTIVE, SABTLC, ACTMLC, SSLWCC, SSLSSC, STUDYC, EXCHGC, UNIONC) and If wage type = Salaried and Days is NULL in May report then Days in June report must be > 0	Error	Annual service must be reported in June.
Days	If days is more than 365, then Error	Error	Days cannot exceed 365
	For File Type "R": If Work Report is for any month between Jul- Dec and Days > 130	Error	Verify Days: Should not report more than 130 days on July-December work reports.
	For File Type "R": If Work Report is for any month between Jan- Jun and Days > 280	Warning	Verify Days: Should not report more than 280 days on January-June work reports.
Wages No Contribution	For File Type = R: If Work Status is (ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, or EXCHGN) AND WNC = 0		WNC amount cannot be zero if work status is < <work status="">></work>
	For File Type = A: • If Work Status is (ACTMLN, SSLWCN, SSLSSN, STUDYN, or EXCHGN) AND WNC = 0 AND Reason Code = 'UNCRDT'	Error	WNC amount cannot be zero if work status is < <work status="">></work>
	 For File Type = R or A: If Work Status = (LEAVEN or WKCMPN) AND WNC ≠ 0 	Error	WNC amount cannot be zero if work status is < <work status="">></work>
	 For File Type= R: If <u>ALL</u> of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (any status ending in 	Error	WNC must equal zero for this leave status

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	"C") or Termination or Deceased; AND • Employment Type = Full Time; AND WNC ≠ 0		
	 For File Type= R: If <u>ALL</u> of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (any status ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type = Part Time; AND Wage Type = SA; AND WNC ≠ 0 	Error	WNC amount must be zero for Full- time members
	 If <u>ALL</u> of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (any status ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type = Part Time; AND Wage Type = SA; AND Reason Code ≠ 'UNCRDT'; AND WNC ≠ 0; AND (WNC > 0.01 or WNC < -0.01); AND WNC does NOT at least partly off-set the values already reported by the employer, calculated as follows: Retrieve the sum of the WNC amount(s) from the member's Work History where the record is in a Released status AND the employer code in Work History matches the code of the employer submitting the Work History Adjustment AND the Fiscal Year on the Work History 	Error	WNC amount must be zero for Salaried members

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	Adjustment AND the Wage Type in the member's Work History equals Salaried, AND 2. multiply the value from (1) by -1 (negative one). 3. If the value from #2 is a positive number, the new WNC being reported must be between 0.02 and the value from #2, inclusive (\$0.01 is allowed, too, but it doesn't fall into this validation). If it is outside this range, display the Fatal error. 4. If the value from #2 is a negative number, the new WNC being reported must be between the value from #2 and -0.02, inclusive (-\$0.01 is allowed, too, but it doesn't fall into this validation). If it is outside this range, display the Fatal error. EXAMPLE: An employer previously reported \$100 in WNC for FY 2009. The employer should be allowed to submit off- setting WNC in the range of -\$100 through -\$0.02, inclusive (-\$0.01 is allowed, too, but it doesn't fall into this validation). If the employer instead tries to submit any additional positive WNC or tries to submit negative WNC that is < -\$100, this should be rejected.		
Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
-------	---	------------	---
	 For File Type= A: If <u>ALL</u> of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (any status ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type = Full Time regardless of Wage Type; AND Reason Code ≠ 'UNCRDT'; AND WNC ≠ 0; AND WNC ≠ 0; AND WNC does NOT at least partly off-set the values already reported by the employer, calculated as follows: Retrieve the sum of the WNC amount(s) from the member's Work History where the record is in a Released status AND the employer submitting the Work History matches the code of the employer submitting the Work History Adjustment AND multiply the value from (1) by -1 (negative one). If the value from #2 is a positive number, the new WNC being reported must be between 0.02 and the value from #2, inclusive (\$0.01 is allowed, too, but it doesn't fall into this validation). If it is outside this range, display the Fatal error. 	Error	WNC amount must be zero for Salaried members

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	reported must be between the value from #2 and -0.02, inclusive (-\$0.01 is allowed, too, but it doesn't fall into this validation). If it is outside this range, display the Fatal error. EXAMPLE: An employer previously reported \$100 in WNC for FY 2009. The employer should be allowed to submit off- setting WNC in the range of -\$100 through -\$0.02, inclusive (-\$0.01 is allowed, too, but it doesn't fall into this validation). If the employer instead tries to submit any additional positive WNC or tries to submit negative WNC that is < -\$100, this should be rejected.		
	 For File Type = A: If ALL of the following criteria are met: WNC ≠ 0, AND Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type is equal to Part- time; AND Wage Type is equal to Hourly or Per Diem; AND Qualification Status is equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported 		Member is Qualified in FY being adjusted; WNC should not be reported
	Validation WNC1 For File Type = R: If ALL of the following criteria are met: • WNC ≠ 0, AND	Warning	Member is Qualified in FY being adjusted; WNC should not be reported

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	 Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND 		
	Employment Type is equal to Part- time; AND		
	 Wage Type is equal to Hourly or Per Diem; AND 		
	 Qualification Status is equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported; AND 		
	 the month of the WR is equal to the month of the Start Date of the Contract Record, or equal to the month after the Start Date of the Contract Record. NOTE: For the Contract Record Start Date month and Contract Record Start Date plus 1-month comparison, the system needs to look for Contract Records with the employer for which the WR is being validated. EXAMPLE: If Contract Record with employer A starts in January, employer A would receive Warning message for WRs submitted for January and February. 		
	Validation WNC2		
	If the above <u>Validation WNC1</u> Warning condition is not met, continue with the following validation. For File Type = R: If ALL of the following criteria are met:		
	 WNC ≠ 0, AND Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND 	Warning	Member is Qualified, WNC Should Not Be Reported
	Employment Type is equal to Part- time; AND		
	Wage Type is equal to Hourly or Per Diem; AND		
	 Qualification Status is equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported; AND 		

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	 this employer has approved the monthly WR for the month following the 'Qual Month' (i.e.: Qual Month + 2). To determine this, use the values in the Member Qualification table for the FY being reported, as follows: 		
	 If 'Qual Month' is July through December, use the year from 'Fiscal Start' 		
	 If 'Qual Month' is January through June, use the year from 'Fiscal End' 		
	• EXAMPLE: if a member has a Qualification Status of "Qualified" for period 7/1/2010-6/30/2011 and 'Qual Month' is December, the employer would receive an Warning message if they attempt to report WNC for their Jan or Feb 2011 WR, but would receive a fatal error if they attempt to submit WNC for the Mar 2011 WR.		
	Validation WNC3		
	 If the above <u>Validation WNC2</u> Error condition is not met, continue with the following validation. For File Type = R: If ALL of the following criteria are met: WNC ≠ 0, AND Work status is equal to Active or any contributing leave status (ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type is equal to Parttime; AND Wage Type is equal to Hourly or Per Diem; AND Qualification Status is equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported. 	Error	Member is Qualified; WNC cannot be reported
	For File Type = R Only:	Warning	Member is Qualified; begin withholding
	If ALL of the following criteria are met:		withinoiding

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	 Work status is equal to Active; AND Employment Type = Part time; AND Wage Type = HR or PD; AND Base = 0; AND Supplemental = 0; AND Member's Qualification Status is NOT equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported; AND WNC = 0 		
	 For File Type = R Only: If ALL of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to any contributing leave status (any status ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type = Part time; AND Wage Type = HR or PD; AND Base =0; AND Supplemental = 0; AND Member's Qualification Status is NOT equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported; AND WNC = 0; AND URCC = 0 	Error	Base, Supplemental, and WNC amounts cannot all be zero if status is ACTIVE and wage type is either Hourly or Per Diem
	 If ALL of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to Active; AND Employment Type = Part time; AND Wage Type = HR or PD; AND Base = 0; AND Supplemental = 0; AND Member's Qualification Status is NOT equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported; AND WNC = 0 AND Adjustment Type does NOT equal Service Adjustment or Member POS 	Error	Base, Supplemental, URCC and WNC amounts cannot all be zero if status is < <work status="">> and wage type is either Hourly or Per Diem</work>
	For File Type = An Only:	Error	Base, Supplemental, and WNC amounts cannot all be zero if status

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	If ALL of the following criteria are met: Work status is equal to any contributing leave status (any status ending in "C") or Termination or Deceased; AND Employment Type = Part time; AND Wage Type = HR or PD; AND Base =0; AND Supplemental = 0; AND Member's Qualification Status is NOT equal to Qualified for the fiscal year that is being reported; AND WNC = 0 AND Adjustment Type does NOT equal Service Adjustment or Member POS AND URCC = 0 		is ACTIVE and wage type is either Hourly or Per Diem
	 For File Type "R": If WNC > 50,000 	Error	Base, Supplemental, URCC and WNC amounts cannot all be zero if status is < <work status="">> and wage type is either Hourly or Per Diem</work>
	File Type = A If WHA is submitted for FY 2007 or later and contains MemPOS money (either +/-), then a POS receivable must exist as of the end of the FY for which the WHA was applied. Otherwise, display the fatal error shown on this row and do not continue to the other Member POS Installment error conditions below.	Error	WNC cannot exceed \$50,000.00 in any month.
Member POS Installment	File Type = A If WHA is submitted for FY 2006 or earlier and contains MemPOS money (either +/-), then a POS receivable must have been posted on or before 6/30/2006. Otherwise, display the fatal error shown on this row and do not continue to the other Member POS Installment error conditions below.	Error	No Receivable exists for this period.

Field	Condition(s)	Error Type	Error Message
	For File Type = R If MemPOS amount < 0	Error	No Receivable exists for this period.
	For File Type = A If Reason Code = MemPOS, then cannot be NULL	Error	Negative member POS [-NNN] amount. Here NNN is the amount displayed in the POS field.
	For File Type = R If ALL of the following criteria are met: POS amount is not null, AND ALL of the member's Category = School, Category = Non-School, and Category = Frozen receivable(s) in the Member Accounts module have a balance of <= 0	Error	The POS field cannot be blank if Reason Code is POS Correction.
	 For File Type = A If ALL of the following criteria are met: POS amount > 0, AND ALL of the member's Category = School, Category = Non-School, and Category = Frozen receivable(s) in the Member Accounts module have a balance of <= 0 	Error	Member has no POS balance due; POS field must be zero.
	 File Type = A If ALL of the following criteria are met: POS amount is < 0, AND ALL of the member's Category = School, Category = Non-School, and Category Frozen receivable(s) in the Member Accounts module have a balance = 0, AND There are no open payments associated with any of those receivable(s) 	Error	Member has no POS balance due. POS field must be less than zero.
	File Type = R or A If work status is LEAVEN or WKCMPN, then NRCC may be equal to or greater than zero. 	Error	Member has no POS balance due. POS field must be zero.

Revised 07/29/2023